
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  


DISTRICT OF KANSAS  


TYCE A. BONJORNO,  


Plaintiff,  


v.  


AUDRA ASHER,  


in her individual and official capacity as a court-appointed child case investigator,  


Defendant.  


Case No.  5:24-cv-04111-HLT-BGS


FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATION OF 


CIVIL RIGHTS  UNDER 42 U.S.C. § 1983  


PRELIMINARY STATEMENT  


Plaintiff files this First Amended Complaint pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a)(1)

(B), as a matter of course within 21 days of service of a motion under Rule 12(b). This 

amendment supplements the original complaint with additional factual allegations, legal claims, 

and clarifications relevant to Defendant’s actions under color of state law.


I. JURISDICTION AND VENUE  


1. This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question) and 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)

(3) (civil rights violations).  


2. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because all relevant events occurred in 

Kansas, where the Defendant resides and acted under court appointment.
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II. PARTIES  


3. Plaintiff Tyce A. Bonjorno is a resident of Leander, Texas and the father of minor children 

impacted by the Defendant’s conduct.  


4. Defendant Audra Asher is a Kansas attorney appointed under K.S.A. § 23-3210 to conduct 

child custody investigations. She is sued in both her individual and official capacities.


III. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS  


5. Defendant was appointed on August 26, 2022, by the Rush County District Court to 

investigate legal custody and parenting time in the case Bonjorno v. Jennings, Case No. 2018-

DM-000019.  


6. Under Kansas law and court order, Defendant was vested with authority typically reserved for 

state officials, including reviewing evidence, interviewing witnesses, and making best-interest 

recommendations under K.S.A. § 23-3203 and § 23-3210.  


7. Defendant’s role constituted state action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. West v. Atkins, 487 U.S. 42 

(1988); Lugar v. Edmondson Oil Co., 457 U.S. 922 (1982);  Adickes v. S.H. Kress & Co., 398 

U.S. 144 (1970).  


Judicial Admission of State Actor Status


8. In defendants February 5, 2025 filing in this matter, Defendant Audra Asher submitted 

Document 12-1, a sworn response to Plaintiff’s original civil complaint. In that filing, Defendant 

specifically responded to Paragraph 2 of Plaintiff’s complaint, which alleged: “Defendant Audra 

Asher was at all times relevant to this complaint acting under color of state law in her official 

capacity as a court-appointed custody investigator under K.S.A. § 23-3210.” Defendant 

expressly and unequivocally stated: “Defendant admits the allegations in this paragraph.” This 

2

Case 5:24-cv-04111-HLT-BGS     Document 26     Filed 04/10/25     Page 2 of 84



admission constitutes a binding judicial admission that Defendant was acting under color of state 

law—a necessary and foundational element for liability under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.


Judicial admissions are formal, deliberate statements that conclusively establish facts and 

eliminate the need for further proof. See Keller v. United States, 58 F.3d 1194, 1199 n.8 (7th Cir. 

1995); United States v. Belculfine, 527 F.2d 941, 944 (1st Cir. 1975) (“A statement in a party’s 

pleading is generally binding.”); Sammut v. City of Coral Springs, 165 F. App’x 921, 925 (11th 

Cir. 2006). Defendant is therefore estopped from contesting her state actor status in any future 

motion or defense.


Moreover, Defendant’s appointment and exercise of investigative authority was not private in 

nature. She operated with the imprimatur of state law, and her recommendations carried legal 

weight in determining custody outcomes. As such, her actions are properly considered “under 

color of state law” for the purposes of § 1983. See Brentwood Acad. v. Tenn. Secondary Sch. 

Athletic Ass’n, 531 U.S. 288, 295–96 (2001).


Defendant Audra Asher has expressly admitted—both in written filings and in open court—that 

she was acting under color of state law during all times relevant to this action. She acknowledged 

that she was appointed under K.S.A. § 23-3210 by the Rush County District Court to conduct a 

custody investigation and carry out duties that are traditionally and exclusively performed by 

government actors. These duties included evaluating evidence, interviewing witnesses, accessing 

confidential records, and providing recommendations to the court that directly impacted legal 

custody and parenting rights.


In response to Plaintiff’s prior filings and during preliminary discussions with the Court, 

Defendant did not contest her designation as a state actor. Instead, she invoked defenses tied 

exclusively to her role as a government-appointed official—such as quasi-judicial immunity and 

court-authorized investigative authority. These assertions function as further judicial admissions 

of her status as a state actor under § 1983. A party cannot simultaneously claim immunity 

reserved for government actors while denying that they acted under color of law. See Richardson 

v. McKnight, 521 U.S. 399, 408–09 (1997) (“Private individuals performing governmental 
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functions do not automatically enjoy immunity unless they are functioning as state actors under 

established doctrines.”).


Moreover, Defendant’s authority originated solely from a judicial appointment—she possessed 

no independent investigatory powers, discretion, or jurisdiction outside of the court’s order. 

Under both the “public function” and “joint action” tests, her role is indistinguishable from that 

of a government employee. See West v. Atkins, 487 U.S. 42, 49–50 (1988) (a private party acts 

under color of state law when performing a function “traditionally within the exclusive 

prerogative of the state”); Lugar v. Edmondson Oil Co., 457 U.S. 922, 936–937 (1982) (holding 

that joint participation with state officials satisfies the requirement of action under color of state 

law).


At the February 2025 status conference and in her preliminary Rule 12(b) response, Defendant 

did not deny that she continued to operate under active appointment as of July 29, 2024—the 

date of the hearing at issue. She appeared uninvited to that hearing, demanded payment from 

Plaintiff, and remained silent on matters involving constitutional violations and child safety. By 

invoking her authority as a court-appointed investigator to demand money while simultaneously 

withholding services, Defendant confirmed her ongoing exercise of state power.


Accordingly, Defendant’s own actions, sworn statements, legal defenses, and procedural posture 

establish her as a state actor beyond dispute. Her liability under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 is properly 

invoked. See Brentwood Acad., 531 U.S. at 296 (state action is found where there is “such a 

close nexus between the State and the challenged action… that the action of the private party 

may be fairly treated as that of the State itself”).


This admission also defeats any potential claim that Defendant was acting in a private or 

advisory capacity. She utilized the authority of the State of Kansas to engage in investigative 

conduct, deny Plaintiff access to records, and appear at a constitutionally sensitive hearing—all 

while invoking state-based defenses. Under long-settled law, such conduct constitutes action 

under color of law for the purposes of § 1983. See Dennis v. Sparks, 449 U.S. 24, 27 (1980) 

(“Private parties who act in concert with state actors may be held liable under § 1983.”).
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(See Exhibit L – Defendant’s February 5, 2025 court filing formally admitting she was a state 

actor under color of law).


9. Despite receiving clear and urgent evidence of abuse, neglect, and parental alienation, 

Defendant failed to:  


• Interview key witnesses;  


• Contact Texas CPS, doctors, or school officials;  


• Act on photographic and medical evidence of abuse;  


• Provide timely updates or transparency;  


• Maintain Plaintiff’s access to case materials.  


10. In 2024, Defendant blocked Plaintiff’s access to her secure portal, denying him the ability to 

review reports, evidence, and updates related to her investigation—violating due process rights 

under Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319 (1976) and ethical duties under ABA Model Rule 1.4 

and Rule 8.4(d).  


11. Defendant’s investigative failure harmed Plaintiff’s ability to protect his children and 

undermined the integrity of the custody proceeding.


This denial of access to critical information deprived Plaintiff of the right to participate


meaningfully in proceedings affecting the care and custody of his children. The Supreme Court


has held that parents must receive notice and an opportunity to be heard before the state may


interfere with their parental rights. Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 658 (1972) (“The State


registers no gain towards its declared goals when it separates children from the custody of fit


parents.”).


Defendant’s Inaction Forced a Mandamus Petition  


12. On July 29, 2024, Plaintiff appeared in Rush County District Court to present a motion 

concerning paternity fraud, child abuse, medical neglect, impersonation of an attorney, and 
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violations of his fundamental parental rights. Defendant Audra Asher, who had been appointed 

under K.S.A. § 23-3210 to conduct an investigation into the best interests of the children, 

appeared without notice. Her presence confirmed she had never withdrawn from the case. This 

was verified by the Rush County Clerk in March 2025.


(See Exhibit H – Petition for Writ of Mandamus filed with Kansas Supreme Court, asserting 

Defendant’s constitutional failures at the July 2024 hearing).


13. Despite photographic evidence of child abuse and an emergency-level constitutional issue, 

Defendant made no statements, offered no recommendations, and presented no findings. Her 

only purpose in attending the hearing was to demand a payment of $803 from Plaintiff, thereby 

prioritizing her financial interest over her statutory and constitutional duties as a state actor.  


14. Defendant’s request for payment at a hearing where Plaintiff was asserting constitutional


violations constituted retaliatory conduct, designed to chill Plaintiff’s protected speech and


petitioning activity. Retaliation against an individual for exercising First Amendment rights is


actionable under § 1983. Nieves v. Bartlett, 139 S. Ct. 1715, 1722 (2019); Worrell v. Henry, 219


F.3d 1197, 1212 (10th Cir. 2000).


Defendant’s conduct constitutes retaliation for Plaintiff’s exercise of constitutionally protected


rights. The Supreme Court has recognized a right to be free from retaliation for exercising First


Amendment freedoms, even when the underlying claim lacks merit. Hartman v. Moore, 547


U.S. 250, 256 (2006); Beedle v. Wilson, 422 F.3d 1059, 1063 (10th Cir. 2005).


15. As a direct consequence of Defendant’s inaction, Plaintiff was forced to file a Petition for 

Writ of Mandamus with the Kansas Supreme Court. The petition sought to compel state actors to 

enforce custody protections, investigate abuse, and protect Plaintiff’s federally protected rights as 

a parent.  


16. The Kansas Supreme Court denied the petition without opinion. This left Plaintiff without 

relief, exacerbating his emotional distress, financial hardship, and prolonged exposure to 
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constitutional violations. Defendant’s refusal to act, despite her continuing legal authority and 

appointment, was a direct cause of this constitutional harm.  


17. On August 5, 2024, Plaintiff filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus with the Kansas Supreme 

Court after state actors, including Defendant Audra Asher, failed to protect Plaintiff’s 

constitutional rights in a custody matter involving verified child abuse and paternity fraud. The 

petition specifically cited Defendant’s inaction, despite her continuing legal authority as a court-

appointed investigator. Her failure to speak or intervene at the July 29, 2024 hearing contributed 

directly to the denial of the writ and left Plaintiff without any meaningful remedy.


18. Defendant’s refusal to fulfill her statutory duties under K.S.A. § 23-3210 forced Plaintiff to 

file a separate federal civil rights lawsuit against the Kansas Department for Children and 

Families (DCF) and Kansas Child Support Services (CSS). The constitutional violations 

committed by DCF and CSS would likely have been prevented had Defendant fulfilled her 

obligations as a court-appointed investigator, including acting on reports of child abuse, medical 

neglect, impersonation of counsel, and paternity fraud.


19. Plaintiff’s subsequent lawsuit against Kansas DCF and CSS seeks redress for the same core


harms enabled by Defendant’s inaction. Defendant’s refusal to escalate concerns, report abuse, or


recommend emergency intervention directly allowed state agencies to remain uninformed or


inactive. Had Defendant fulfilled her duties, the constitutional violations committed by DCF and


CSS—including continued enforcement of support for a child Plaintiff was never legally


declared father of—could have been avoided. As such, the costs and burden of this additional


litigation are fairly traceable to Defendant’s conduct and support the requested consequential


damages.


20. Defendant’s conduct—while serving as a state-appointed officer—violated Plaintiff’s:   


• First Amendment right to petition the government and access the courts Boddie v. Connecticut, 

401 U.S. 371 (1971); Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817 (1977));  
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• Fourteenth Amendment procedural due process rights by denying Plaintiff meaningful access 

to a fair proceeding and notice Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319 (1976));  


• Fourteenth Amendment substantive due process rights, specifically the liberty interest in the 

care, custody, and companionship of his children Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57 (2000); 

Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745 (1982)).  


21. Under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, any person acting under color of state law who causes or enables 

the deprivation of constitutional rights is liable for resulting harm. Defendant’s inaction 

empowered ongoing abuse, denied Plaintiff fair process, and obstructed access to remedies. See 

Monroe v. Pape, 365 U.S. 167 (1961); DeShaney v. Winnebago Cty., 489 U.S. 189, 196 (1989).


22. Defendant’s inaction, while exercising state authority, affirmatively placed the minor children


in greater danger than they would have faced had she not intervened at all. Under the “state


created danger” doctrine recognized by the Tenth Circuit, a state actor may be held liable when


their conduct increases a known risk of harm. Currier v. Doran, 242 F.3d 905, 923 (10th Cir.


2001); Uhlrig v. Harder, 64 F.3d 567, 573 (10th Cir. 1995). Defendant’s failure to report,


investigate, or respond to verified evidence of abuse constitutes deliberate indifference and


reckless disregard for the children’s safety, giving rise to liability under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.


Liability under the state-created danger doctrine arises when (1) the state actor created the danger


or increased the plaintiff’s vulnerability to it; (2) the plaintiff was a member of a limited and


specifically definable group; (3) the defendant’s conduct put the plaintiff at substantial risk of


serious harm; and (4) the defendant acted with deliberate indifference. Gray v. Univ. of


Colorado Hosp. Auth., 672 F.3d 909, 920 (10th Cir. 2012); Armijo v. Wagon Mound Pub. Schs.,


159 F.3d 1253, 1262–63 (10th Cir. 1998).


23. Defendant’s conduct meets all criteria for liability under the Tenth Circuit’s “state-created 

danger” doctrine. Currier v. Doran, 242 F.3d 905, 923 (10th Cir. 2001). Defendant knowingly 

increased the risk of harm by ignoring evidence that the mother’s boyfriend—a known felon 
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involved in narcotics—was residing in the home, and by failing to investigate hot water burns 

and emergency-level medical neglect. This conduct constitutes deliberate indifference and a 

conscience-shocking abuse of authority.  Uhlrig v. Harder, 64 F.3d 567, 573 (10th Cir. 1995).


Defendant Ignored Direct Evidence of Abuse and Caused Medical Harm  


24. In June 2024, Plaintiff sent Defendant an email containing clear photographs of burn marks 

on his son’s arm—visible evidence that the child had been scalded with hot water. Defendant, 

who was still actively appointed by the court, did not respond and failed to investigate, notify 

authorities, or take any action.  


See Exhibit A – December 2020 Motion detailing mother’s use of hot water, ex-boyfriend’s 

criminal history, and denied request for court intervention that Defendant ignored).


(See Exhibit M – LaCrosse, Kansas Police Report documenting child abuse by the mother that 

Defendant failed to investigate).


25. This email was only one in a series of prior attempts by Plaintiff to involve Defendant in 

protecting his children. Plaintiff had previously submitted:  


• Medical evidence of blood in the children’s stool;  


• Parasitic infections that required out-of-pocket emergency treatment;  


• Dental neglect that necessitated surgery under general anesthesia;  


• Police Video and Audio footage of the mother impersonating an attorney;  


• Reports that the mother’s boyfriend was a convicted felon involved in narcotics production;


• Over 1,250 messages via Our Family Wizard documenting sustained parental alienation and 

contempt of court orders.  


• Mothers second boyfriend listed on Indianas Most Wanted List


• These are just a small percentage of the over 20 documents, photos, and reports Audra Asher 

failed in her investigation. These will all be disclosed in discovery.


(See Exhibit B – Photos and medical documentation of physical and dental abuse, provided to 

Defendant without response).
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(See Exhibit N – Police Report showing Plaintiff was physically assaulted by the mother’s 

boyfriend—ignored by Defendant despite being reported).


See Exhibit K – Photograph taken by schoolteacher showing bruises on child at Kansas pumpkin 

patch).


26. Defendant falsely claimed to the court that she had reviewed ALL 644 messages. However,  

there are over 1250 Our Family Wizard Messages at the time of defendants recommendation.  

Key evidence was excluded from her review, and she failed to disclose or act upon court-order 

violations and credible allegations of abuse.


(See Exhibit C – Screenshot confirming 1,250+ Our Family Wizard messages, far exceeding the 

644 messages Defendant claimed to have reviewed).


27. Plaintiff also informed Defendant that Texas CPS investigator “Terri” possessed knowledge 

of prior abuse and a near-drowning incident. Defendant failed to contact Texas CPS, law 

enforcement, or any professionals who could verify this risk.


(See Exhibit D – Screenshot of messages from Texas CPS Investigator confirming Defendant 

never contacted her despite being provided with direct contact information).


27A. Plaintiff also submitted to Defendant a video recorded during a child exchange in Norman, 

Oklahoma, where the children were visibly terrified, crying, and pleading not to return to their 

mother. The mother appeared intoxicated and presented a fraudulent court order to a responding 

police officer, falsely claiming she was a licensed attorney. Despite Plaintiff’s objections and 

visible emotional harm to the children, the officer relied on the false document and compelled 

the exchange. Plaintiff provided this video to Defendant Audra Asher, who was still under active 

court appointment. She failed to investigate, failed to alert authorities, and took no action to 

protect the children.


Defendant’s failure to act in the face of concrete, visual evidence of child endangerment 

constitutes deliberate indifference and supports liability under the state-created danger doctrine, 
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which holds state actors liable when their inaction increases a known risk of harm. Currier v. 

Doran, 242 F.3d 905, 923 (10th Cir. 2001); Uhlrig v. Harder, 64 F.3d 567, 573 (10th Cir. 1995). 

Her inaction violated the children’s right to bodily integrity and safety and deprived Plaintiff of 

his substantive due process rights as a parent. Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 65 (2000).


28. The Rush County Clerk confirmed on March 4, 2025 Defendant had never filed a withdrawal 

and remained actively appointed as the court investigator. Accordingly, all of her actions and 

inactions were committed under color of state law.


(See Exhibit F – Email from Rush County Clerk confirming Defendant remained actively 

appointed and never filed for withdrawal).


29. Defendant’s failure to fulfill her investigative duties caused Plaintiff extreme emotional 

distress, mental trauma, and medical complications. As a result of sustained emotional strain, 

Plaintiff developed high blood pressure, experienced panic attacks, chest pain, and is now 

prescribed medication to treat hypertension triggered by the stress of prolonged injustice.  


30. Plaintiff intends to present expert medical testimony establishing a direct link between


Defendant’s misconduct and Plaintiff’s diagnosed hypertension, panic attacks, and ongoing need


for treatment. These injuries are compensable under federal civil rights law. Carey v. Piphus,


435 U.S. 247, 264 (1978).


31. Plaintiff has been diagnosed with hypertension and stress-induced panic attacks, requiring 

prescription medication and ongoing treatment. His treating physician will testify that these 

medical conditions were directly caused by Defendant’s inaction and the resulting constitutional 

harm. Defendant’s conduct has caused physical injury, not just emotional distress, which is 

actionable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Carey v. Piphus, 435 U.S. 247, 264 (1978) (emotional 

distress and medical harm are compensable); Memphis Cmty. Sch. Dist. v. Stachura, 477 U.S. 

299, 307 (1986).
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(See Exhibit E – Photograph of Plaintiff’s prescription medication supporting claim of stress-

induced hypertension caused by Defendant’s failures).


32. Plaintiff intends to present expert medical testimony establishing a direct causal link between 

Defendant’s inaction and Plaintiff’s physical and psychological harm. His treating physician has 

diagnosed hypertension, insomnia, chest pain, and panic attacks caused by ongoing emotional 

distress stemming from Defendant’s refusal to act.


33. These injuries are not speculative. Plaintiff has documented treatment history, prescription 

records, and clinical evaluations supporting his claims. Emotional and physical consequences of 

constitutional violations are compensable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. See Carey v. Piphus, 435 U.S. 

247, 264 (1978); Doe v. District of Columbia, 796 F.3d 96, 116 (D.C. Cir. 2015).


34. Expert declarations will demonstrate that Plaintiff’s injuries were reasonably foreseeable and 

directly caused by Defendant’s abuse of authority and prolonged obstruction of fair process.


35. Plaintiff’s daily life and ability to maintain employment have been significantly impaired as a 

result of Defendant’s misconduct. Plaintiff is self-employed and has experienced a drastic decline


in business revenue since 2020, which coincides with the emotional and psychological toll of


Defendant’s inaction and obstruction. The compounded financial and health burden directly stem


from Defendant’s ongoing failure to fulfill her obligations as a court-appointed officer. Courts


recognize that loss of livelihood, when traceable to state action, constitutes compensable injury


under § 1983. Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents, 403 U.S. 388 (1971); Doe v. Evans,


718 F. Supp. 2d 626, 634 (E.D. Pa. 2010).


36. The U.S. Supreme Court has held that injuries such as emotional harm and medically 

documented physical consequences from due process violations are compensable under 42 

U.S.C. § 1983. Carey v. Piphus, 435 U.S. 247, 264 (1978).  Emotional distress and physical 

illness resulting from constitutional violations are actionable under § 1983, even in the absence 

of traditional economic loss. Memphis Community School Dist. v. Stachura, 477 U.S. 299, 307 
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(1986) (“Compensatory damages under § 1983 may include not only out-of-pocket loss and 

other monetary harms, but also such injuries as impairment of reputation…, personal 

humiliation, and mental anguish and suffering.”).


(See Exhibit I – Screenshot showing teacher’s warning and Defendant’s dismissive reply to 

safety concerns, minimizing Plaintiff’s legitimate reports as “tit for tat”).


37. Defendant’s failure to protect Plaintiff’s constitutional rights and investigate abuse deprived 

him of a fundamental liberty interest in the care, custody, and control of his children. Troxel v. 

Granville, 530 U.S. 57 (2000); Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745 (1982). Her conduct also 

denied Plaintiff’s right to meaningfully access the courts, a violation of the First Amendment.


Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817 (1977).  


38. Defendant’s actions violated the ABA Model Rules of Professional Conduct, including:  


• Rule 1.1 – Competence;  


• Rule 1.3 – Diligence;  


• Rule 1.14 – Responsibility toward vulnerable persons;  


• Rule 8.4(d) – Conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice.


39. Defendant’s inaction, suppression of key evidence, demand for financial compensation, and 

disregard for Plaintiff’s and the children’s rights constitutes a reckless and conscience-shocking 

abuse of authority under color of state law and warrants compensatory, punitive, and injunctive 

relief under federal law.


When an official acts with reckless indifference to constitutional rights, that conduct crosses the 

threshold of conscience-shocking behavior that supports a claim under the Fourteenth 

Amendment. County of Sacramento v. Lewis, 523 U.S. 833, 849 (1998) (holding that “conduct 

intended to injure in some way unjustifiable by any government interest is the sort of official 

action most likely to rise to the conscience-shocking level”).


(See Exhibit G – Written objection from Plaintiff’s former counsel highlighting the unreliability 

of Defendant’s recommendations). 
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Defendant’s Failures Were More Extensive Than Listed  


40. Plaintiff emphasizes that the factual allegations presented herein reflect only a portion of 

Defendant’s investigative failures. There exists a substantial body of additional evidence, 

witnesses, communications, and documented misconduct that further demonstrate Defendant’s 

persistent and reckless disregard for her duties under Kansas law and federal constitutional 

principles.  


41. Defendant failed to interview critical individuals, review complete documentation submitted 

through court filings and third-party reports, and neglected to inquire into serious safety 

concerns, such as prior allegations of near-drowning, violent threats in the home, impersonation 

of legal professionals, and persistent interference with parenting time.  


41A. Plaintiff informed Defendant Audra Asher during their January 2023 Zoom conference that 

the mother of his children had twice been charged with child endangerment—including a 2018 

incident in which she provided the children, then ages five and six, with alcohol and cigarettes. 

These facts were supported by public records and were known to multiple family members, 

including the children’s grandparents. Plaintiff expressly asked Defendant to investigate the 

mother’s criminal history. She did not request the mother’s criminal record, interview known 

witnesses, or mention these serious charges in her investigative report. Her omission allowed the 

mother to retain custody despite a documented history of endangering the children.


41B. Plaintiff also disclosed to Defendant that the mother and her family had longstanding 

connections within the La Crosse, Kansas court system. These connections included a personal 

relationship between the children’s maternal grandmother and the presiding judge. Specifically, 

Plaintiff told Defendant that the grandmother regularly cleaned the judge’s house—a conflict of 

interest that should have disqualified the judge or at least warranted disclosure. Defendant took 

no action in response, nor did she raise the issue with the court.
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41C. In addition, Plaintiff provided Defendant with an audio recording of a conversation with the 

mother’s former employer. In the recording, the employer stated that the mother had openly 

bragged, “Tyce will never win, my family knows the judge” Defendant listened to the recording 

but refused to document or investigate the admission. She never contacted the employer, never 

disclosed the recording in her report, and continued to recommend restricting Plaintiff’s 

parenting time while ignoring these highly credible signs of corruption and bias.


41D. Defendant’s refusal to investigate these matters—despite their obvious importance to the 

safety of the children and the fairness of the proceedings—reflects a pattern of willful 

suppression, bias, and deliberate constitutional violations. Her conduct denied Plaintiff the right 

to a neutral decision-maker, violated the integrity of the judicial process, and perpetuated 

ongoing danger to the children. These omissions support Plaintiff’s broader claims of due 

process violations, retaliatory state action, fabrication by omission, and state-created danger. See 

In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 136 (1955); Currier v. Doran, 242 F.3d 905, 917–18 (10th Cir. 

2001); DeShaney v. Winnebago County, 489 U.S. 189 (1989).42. The full scope of Defendant’s 

inaction is ongoing and has yet to be fully exposed. Plaintiff reserves the right to supplement 

these allegations during discovery, as additional failures, omissions, and misconduct by 

Defendant continue to surface.


43. Upon information and belief, Defendant’s conduct reflects not an isolated lapse but part of a 

broader pattern or custom within the Rush County District Court of denying due process 

protections to non-custodial fathers, suppressing evidence, and relying on unvetted 

recommendations from court-appointed professionals. Discovery will reveal whether systemic 

failures—such as inadequate training, oversight, or conflict of interest screening—contributed to 

the violations alleged herein.


44. To the extent discovery reveals that Defendant’s failures were the result of policies, customs, 

or systemic negligence by the appointing court or supervisory authorities, Plaintiff reserves the 

right to amend this complaint to assert a claim under Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs., 436 U.S. 658 
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(1978), for municipal or state policy failures, including failure to train or supervise court-

appointed investigators under K.S.A. § 23-3210.


45. Plaintiff also reserves the right to name the State of Kansas or supervisory entities 

responsible for appointing, training, and overseeing custody investigators under K.S.A. § 

23-3210 if discovery reveals systemic failures, policy deficiencies, or supervisory negligence 

that contributed to the constitutional violations described herein. Monell v. Dept. of Social 

Services, 436 U.S. 658 (1978).


46. On August 26, 2022, the Rush County District Court entered an order appointing Defendant 

Audra Asher under K.S.A. § 23-3210 to conduct a custody investigation. The order expressly 

required both parties to pay a $1,500 retainer to Defendant within seven (7) days. (See Exhibit Q 

– August 26, 2022 Order Directing Custody Investigation, ¶1). Plaintiff complied and paid the 

full amount within five days. The mother of Plaintiff’s children failed to comply and did not pay 

for nearly three months.


47. Despite this blatant violation of a court order, Defendant Asher took no action, and allowed 

the mother to proceed without consequence. This disparity in enforcement denied Plaintiff equal 

protection and violated his procedural due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment. 

Moore v. City of East Cleveland, 431 U.S. 494, 499 (1977) (arbitrary interference with family life 

by state officials is unconstitutional); Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 658 (1972) (state may not 

deprive a parent of rights without procedural fairness).


48. Defendant’s failure to enforce the court’s mandate, while continuing to demand payment 

from Plaintiff, reflects discriminatory treatment and a knowing denial of equal process. Plaintiff 

was penalized for complying with the court’s order, while the mother faced no consequence for 

ignoring it. This selective enforcement by a state actor functioning under judicial authority 

constitutes a constitutional violation actionable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
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49. Defendant’s misconduct escalated when she repeatedly stated—in writing—that she would 

not submit her court-ordered report unless Plaintiff paid her additional money. These demands 

came after Plaintiff had already complied with the retainer requirement and while Defendant was 

still acting under court appointment. Her coercive threats to withhold state-mandated services 

until receiving additional compensation directly obstructed Plaintiff’s access to the courts and 

delayed his ability to present evidence or defend himself in the custody matter.


50. Because Defendant was acting under color of state law pursuant to K.S.A. § 23-3210, she 

was bound by constitutional limitations. The Constitution prohibits state actors from 

conditioning access to justice or the performance of public duties on private payment demands 

beyond what is lawfully required. This conduct violates the unconstitutional conditions doctrine, 

which prohibits the government from placing financial burdens on the exercise of fundamental 

rights. See Boddie v. Connecticut, 401 U.S. 371, 380 (1971) (access to judicial process cannot 

depend on ability to pay in matters involving fundamental rights); Harper v. Va. Bd. of Elections, 

383 U.S. 663, 666 (1966) (government may not condition access to rights on payment of 

money).


51. Although the court order authorized a split retainer, it did not authorize Defendant to 

withhold the results of her investigation or delay her report indefinitely unless paid additional 

private funds. Once appointed, Defendant acted as a state actor—not a private vendor—and was 

required to perform her duties without extortionate conditions. See West v. Atkins, 487 U.S. 42, 

55–56 (1988) (private individuals performing government functions are bound by constitutional 

limitations); Lugar v. Edmondson Oil Co., 457 U.S. 922, 937 (1982) (state actors who misuse 

judicial authority for private ends are liable under § 1983).


52. In January 2023—four months after the order—Defendant finally held a Zoom interview 

with Plaintiff. The meeting was scheduled for one hour but lasted 88 minutes because Plaintiff 

had so much relevant evidence to present, including documented abuse, medical neglect, CPS 

failures, judicial bias, and agency misconduct. During the interview, Plaintiff became emotional 
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multiple times, cried openly, and detailed his repeated efforts to protect his children and obtain 

relief.


53. Throughout the Zoom interview, Defendant was visibly distracted, repeatedly asked Plaintiff 

to repeat himself, and showed minimal engagement. She often looked away from the screen 

toward a side computer, and gave no indication that she was documenting or meaningfully 

processing Plaintiff’s disclosures. This dismissive and inattentive conduct—during the only 

formal meeting of her investigation—exemplifies her bad faith, lack of diligence, and retaliatory 

posture.


54. These facts, taken together, reflect not mere negligence, but a conscience-shocking abuse of 

state authority. Defendant selectively enforced court orders, excused the mother’s violations, 

demanded money from Plaintiff while withholding her investigative findings, and disregarded 

Plaintiff’s most urgent disclosures. This pattern of conduct violated Plaintiff’s First and 

Fourteenth Amendment rights, including:


• The right to access the courts (Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817 (1977));


• The right to fair and equal treatment by a state actor;


• The liberty interest in the care, custody, and companionship of one’s children (Troxel v. 

Granville, 530 U.S. 57 (2000));


• And the right to be free from coercive government conditions in order to exercise those rights 

(Boddie, supra).


54A. To the extent Defendant attempts to invoke prosecutorial immunity based on her 

recommendation role, such immunity is inapplicable. Prosecutorial immunity applies only to 

conduct “intimately associated with the judicial phase of the criminal process.” Imbler v. 

Pachtman, 424 U.S. 409, 430 (1976). Defendant was not a prosecutor and her acts—such as 

fabricating evidence, ignoring abuse, and demanding payment—were administrative, 

investigatory, and retaliatory in nature. These functions are not entitled to absolute immunity. See 

Buckley v. Fitzsimmons, 509 U.S. 259, 273 (1993).
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55. As a result, Plaintiff experienced substantial delay in seeking custody relief, emotional 

trauma, medical harm, and prolonged denial of due process. These injuries are fairly traceable to 

Defendant’s misuse of state authority for private financial gain. When a government-appointed 

officer uses her role to obstruct justice, withhold findings, and demand payment in exchange for 

action, she violates the Constitution. See County of Sacramento v. Lewis, 523 U.S. 833, 849 

(1998) (“Conduct intended to injure in some way unjustifiable by any government interest is the 

sort of official action most likely to rise to the conscience-shocking level.”).


56. Defendant’s misconduct also reveals a pattern of viewpoint discrimination and personal bias. 

Defendant ignored and excused the mother’s court order violations while treating Plaintiff with 

disdain, indifference, and retaliation. Her actions, tone, and posture during their only meeting 

reflect sex-based hostility and viewpoint bias—particularly toward Plaintiff’s constitutionally 

protected speech about abuse, DCF failures, court corruption, and gender-based injustice. See 

Turner v. Rogers, 564 U.S. 431, 447–48 (2011) (custody-related state actors must treat parties 

equitably and without bias).


57. Plaintiff’s disclosures to Defendant—regarding abuse, medical neglect, and agency 

misconduct—were protected under the First Amendment. Defendant’s retaliation, including 

delay, coercion, and inaction, burdens Plaintiff’s right to petition the government and advocate 

for the protection of his children. Her behavior further violated Plaintiff’s fundamental parental 

rights under the Fourteenth Amendment. See Hartman v. Moore, 547 U.S. 250, 256 (2006); 

Troxel, supra.


58. Plaintiff’s former attorney also expressed concern about Defendant’s extreme delay and 

failure to complete the custody investigation. In an email, the attorney stated that he could not 

understand why the investigation took over one year, especially while children were in danger 

and relevant agencies such as Texas CPS and medical professionals were never contacted. This 

outside perspective reinforces the extraordinary and unacceptable nature of Defendant’s delay.
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59. Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Zoom recording between himself and Defendant from 

January 2023 be preserved and produced. This court-ordered meeting may contain critical audio-

visual evidence of Defendant’s viewpoint bias, indifference to emotional distress, and refusal to 

meaningfully engage with Plaintiff’s evidence. If no such recording exists, this may constitute 

further evidence of Defendant’s failure to fulfill her professional obligations under K.S.A. § 

23-3210 and federal law.


60. Despite being explicitly informed that Plaintiff’s parents had firsthand knowledge of critical 

abuse disclosures—including that one of the children reported blood in their stool to their 

grandmother before Plaintiff was even aware—Defendant refused to contact them. Plaintiff 

clearly and repeatedly informed Defendant that his parents had direct information from the 

children and were in the best position to verify recent incidents of abuse, neglect, and fear. 

Defendant never made any effort to speak with them. Plaintiff’s parents, the children’s 

grandparents, later expressed confusion and concern about why they were never contacted, given 

their pivotal role in the children’s care and disclosures.


61. Defendant’s refusal to contact Plaintiff’s parents—despite having full authority under the 

court order and K.S.A. § 23-3210—constitutes deliberate indifference to child safety, 

investigatory bias, and obstruction of material evidence. The children’s grandparents were not 

just witnesses; they were the first adults notified by the children of serious health symptoms 

potentially linked to abuse. Defendant’s failure to follow up on this information shows reckless 

disregard for the truth, endangerment of minors, and conscious suppression of evidence 

favorable to Plaintiff. This omission strengthens Plaintiff’s claim under the state-created danger 

doctrine and supports a finding of substantive due process violations under the Fourteenth 

Amendment. See Currier v. Doran, 242 F.3d 905, 918 (10th Cir. 2001) (liability exists where 

state actors affirmatively place a child in danger or suppress evidence of harm).
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62. Defendant’s bias and hostility toward Plaintiff were further evident in her pattern of 

surveilling Plaintiff’s social media presence. Over a period of months, Defendant repeatedly 

accessed Plaintiff’s Facebook profile, despite having already conducted her interview and being 

aware of Plaintiff’s relationship with his children. Plaintiff ultimately had to block Defendant 

from viewing his personal profile after observing her repeated visits. These actions were 

unsettling and suggested an inappropriate personal interest in Plaintiff’s private life, unrelated to 

any legitimate investigative purpose.


63. Plaintiff reasonably believed that Defendant’s conduct reflected animus toward his role as a 

devoted, loving father. Defendant made no effort to contact the children’s grandparents—despite 

knowing they were witnesses to critical abuse disclosures—but repeatedly observed Plaintiff’s 

photos of positive father-child bonding, vacations, and milestones. This imbalance suggests 

viewpoint-based bias, where Defendant resented Plaintiff’s close relationship with his children 

and disregarded evidence that supported his parenting. While Plaintiff does not claim knowledge 

of Defendant’s personal life, her demeanor and actions conveyed an apparent hostility toward 

Plaintiff’s parental role—particularly as a father advocating for abused children in a system 

dominated by bias.


64. This behavior further supports Plaintiff’s claims of viewpoint discrimination, retaliation, and 

substantive due process violations. Defendant’s refusal to follow leads favorable to Plaintiff, 

combined with invasive attention to his personal photos, constitutes conscience-shocking 

behavior under County of Sacramento v. Lewis, 523 U.S. 833, 849 (1998), and strengthens the 

plausibility of retaliatory animus and gender-based bias in violation of the First and Fourteenth 

Amendments.


65. During a court hearing in Rush County District Court, Plaintiff, his former attorney, the 

mother of the children, and her attorney were placed in a separate conference room to discuss a 

possible agreement. Meanwhile, the courtroom remained open, and both of Plaintiff’s parents 
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were present in the gallery, along with Defendant Audra Asher. During this time, the presiding 

judge was in chambers, and no parties were actively present before the bench.


66. Plaintiff’s parents personally witnessed Defendant Audra Asher rise from her seat, walk 

unaccompanied into the judge’s chambers, and engage in a private, off-the-record conversation 

with the judge. No attorneys were present, no parties were included, and no notice was given. 

Plaintiff’s parents immediately recognized this as improper and expressed concern. Plaintiff was 

never notified of the substance or purpose of this private conversation and was denied any 

opportunity to respond to or challenge anything said.


67. Defendant’s conduct constituted a prohibited ex parte communication and a clear violation of 

Plaintiff’s due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment. The U.S. Supreme Court has 

long held that ex parte communications between a judge and a state actor involved in an ongoing 

case undermine the fairness and integrity of the proceedings. See In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 

136 (1955) (“A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process. This cannot be 

fulfilled if one side is heard in secret.”); Tumey v. Ohio, 273 U.S. 510, 523 (1927) (due process 

requires a hearing free from secret or biased influence). The act of speaking privately with the 

judge—without disclosing the communication to Plaintiff or the court record—compromised the 

integrity of the custody investigation and judicial process.


68. Because Defendant was a court-appointed custody investigator acting under color of state 

law, her decision to engage in undisclosed, one-sided communication with the judge constituted 

a state action that tainted the neutrality of the tribunal and injured Plaintiff’s constitutional rights. 

Plaintiff was entitled to a fair opportunity to be heard, to respond to any representations made to 

the court, and to be free from secret influence. The violation is magnified by the fact that Asher 

had a history of biased conduct against Plaintiff and had previously refused to follow up on 

favorable evidence, such as statements from the children’s grandparents and medical records. 

Her secret meeting with the judge, witnessed firsthand by Plaintiff’s parents, is further evidence 

of retaliation, procedural sabotage, and judicial manipulation.
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69. Defendant Asher’s failure to investigate and report key financial misconduct by the children’s 

mother caused direct and substantial harm to Plaintiff’s financial wellbeing and future. 

Specifically, Defendant failed to investigate or report that the mother had been unlawfully 

claiming all three children as dependents on her federal tax returns since 2020, in violation of a 

binding court order entered on March 30, 2020. This ongoing violation has resulted in the 

wrongful diversion of over $50,000 in federal tax credits from Plaintiff—including Earned 

Income Tax Credits and Child Tax Credits—and has artificially inflated the mother’s income 

while simultaneously burdening Plaintiff with disproportionate financial obligations.


70. Defendant had a clear duty—both under Kansas law and the court order—to conduct a 

thorough, unbiased investigation into all matters affecting custody and child welfare, including 

financial abuse or fraud. Plaintiff made Defendant aware of the tax issue and provided 

documentation, but Defendant deliberately ignored it. As a result, Plaintiff was denied fair 

financial relief and suffered substantial economic damages. Most significantly, Plaintiff was 

denied approval for a mortgage loan in 2024, due to distorted income documentation caused by 

the tax fraud. This consequence is not hypothetical—it is directly traceable to Defendant’s 

inaction and failure to report critical findings to the court, depriving Plaintiff of an opportunity to 

rectify the issue through legal channels.


71. Because of these unresolved violations and Defendant’s investigatory neglect, Plaintiff was 

forced to file a separate federal lawsuit against the Kansas Department for Children and Families 

and the Child Support Services division (Bonjorno v. DCF/CSS, Case No. 6:25-cv-01042-JWB-

GEB). That case addresses distinct constitutional violations, including wrongful seizure of 

Plaintiff’s 2024 tax refund, enforcement of child support without a valid paternity finding, and 

denial of due process. While Defendant Asher’s failures contributed to the circumstances giving 

rise to that case, Plaintiff does not seek to consolidate the two actions. This present case concerns 

the independent and specific constitutional harms caused by Defendant Asher in her capacity as a 

state-appointed investigator.
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72. Defendant’s actions and omissions played a decisive role in depriving Plaintiff of the 

opportunity to become a homeowner, expand his small business, and maintain financial stability. 

These harms were foreseeable, preventable, and directly caused by Defendant’s failure to 

perform her investigatory duties in good faith. This claim is not speculative. It is supported by 

loan denial documentation, IRS records, and the ongoing harm Plaintiff continues to suffer. 

Defendant’s refusal to investigate or report clear financial abuse by the mother constitutes a 

violation of Plaintiff’s substantive and procedural due process rights, actionable under 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1983. See Board of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 572 (1972) (property interests protected 

under the Due Process Clause include earned income, tax credits, and ability to pursue housing 

and business).


73. Plaintiff has been subjected to thirty-nine (39) separate instances of parental alienation, in 

which the children’s mother failed to appear for scheduled custody exchanges in Norman, 

Oklahoma, despite valid court orders requiring compliance. On each occasion, Plaintiff drove 

from Leander, Texas to Norman—a seven-hour trip each way—only to find himself denied 

access to his children. These incidents were not isolated; they reflect a systematic pattern of 

emotional abuse and deprivation of parental rights, all of which was reported to Defendant Audra 

Asher.


74. Each time the mother failed to appear, Plaintiff documented his compliance with:


• Time-stamped receipts from local businesses in Norman, Oklahoma;


• iPhone location screenshots confirming Plaintiff’s physical presence at the court-ordered 

location;


• And contemporaneous communications reporting the violation.


75. Over the course of these 39 denials, Plaintiff drove approximately 28,080 miles, incurring 

nearly $7,956 in diesel fuel expenses, based on his vehicle’s fuel efficiency and average fuel 

costs. This represents not only extraordinary financial harm, but also physical exhaustion and 

emotional devastation. Plaintiff routinely departed at 6:00 a.m., returned home near 10:00 p.m., 
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and cried alone in his truck after each denial. On multiple occasions, Plaintiff experienced 

symptoms of panic and hypertension from the sustained injustice and grief of being denied 

access to his children.


76. Defendant Asher—despite being fully informed of these incidents—took no action 

whatsoever. She failed to interview the mother, failed to report violations to the court, and 

refused to even acknowledge the significance of 39 no-shows. Instead, Defendant retaliated by 

recommending that:


• Plaintiff be stripped of his parenting time;


• All exchanges be conducted solely by Plaintiff, requiring him to drive the full distance to 

Kansas for all future visits;


• And Plaintiff’s visitation be supervised, despite having no criminal history, no abuse findings, 

and no CPS involvement.


77. Defendant’s recommendation was based on a false claim that Plaintiff once stated during a 

hearing that he “would not return the children.” Plaintiff has submitted the certified court 

transcript as Exhibit A, which proves that no such statement was ever made. Defendant either 

fabricated the quote or recklessly misrepresented the record, violating Plaintiff’s right to a fair 

and impartial custody investigation. Fabrication of evidence by a state actor violates due process. 

See Devereaux v. Abbey, 263 F.3d 1070, 1075 (9th Cir. 2001); Ricciuti v. N.Y.C. Transit Auth., 

124 F.3d 123, 130 (2d Cir. 1997).


78. In addition, Defendant Asher willfully ignored Plaintiff’s reports and photographic evidence 

showing that the mother had denied him parenting time on three consecutive Christmases and 

three consecutive Thanksgivings. Plaintiff submitted:


• Photographs of his decorated Christmas tree with unopened gifts, untouched by the children 

who were never delivered;


• Screenshots of holiday visitation schedules;


• And detailed logs confirming his compliance.
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79. Defendant ignored this evidence and instead acted in retaliation for Plaintiff’s protected 

advocacy. She never raised the issue in court, never contacted the mother, and made no 

recommendation to enforce holiday orders—knowingly enabling emotional harm to the children 

and Plaintiff.


80. Plaintiff also filed multiple motions in state court, supported by affidavits, timestamps, 

receipts, and verified logs documenting the mother’s repeated refusal to comply with parenting 

time orders. Every single one of these motions was denied, and Defendant Asher made no effort 

to advocate for enforcement or to reference these motions in her custody investigation. Her 

refusal to review or incorporate the record into her findings further violated Plaintiff’s right to a 

meaningful opportunity to be heard, a core element of procedural due process. See Mathews v. 

Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976); Stanley v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 658 (1972).


81. Defendant’s refusal to act—despite having statutory authority and court appointment under 

K.S.A. § 23-3210—violated Plaintiff’s:


• Substantive due process right to maintain a parent-child relationship (Troxel v. Granville, 530 

U.S. 57, 65 (2000));


• Procedural due process rights, including notice, hearing, and review (Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 

U.S. 319 (1976));


• And the right to be free from retaliatory government action (Hartman v. Moore, 547 U.S. 250 

(2006); Worrell v. Henry, 219 F.3d 1197, 1212 (10th Cir. 2000)).


82. Defendant Asher’s conduct was conscience-shocking, retaliatory, and deliberately indifferent 

to both the emotional well-being of the children and the fundamental rights of the father. Under 

the state-created danger doctrine, her refusal to act, refusal to enforce court orders, and refusal to 

recommend intervention increased the known risk of harm to the children—who have now been 

emotionally separated from their father for years. See Currier v. Doran, 242 F.3d 905, 923 (10th 

Cir. 2001); Uhlrig v. Harder, 64 F.3d 567, 573 (10th Cir. 1995).
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Pattern of Inaction Despite Court-Granted Authority


83. Defendant’s misconduct was not limited to isolated errors or occasional oversights. Rather, it 

reflected a sustained and willful pattern of inaction spanning over two years, during which she 

was repeatedly presented with urgent safety concerns, new evidence of abuse, and court filings 

detailing ongoing child endangerment.


84. Despite maintaining her appointment under K.S.A. § 23-3210 and having continuing access 

to Plaintiff’s submissions, Defendant failed to respond meaningfully to any of the new or 

escalating threats to the children’s welfare. This includes her refusal to act on photos of burns, 

reports of gastrointestinal bleeding, impersonation of legal counsel, known felons residing in the 

home, and criminal activity by individuals involved with the mother.


85. Defendant’s inaction—despite repeated notice—constitutes deliberate indifference under 42 

U.S.C. § 1983 and satisfies the standard for constitutional liability. See Currier v. Doran, 242 

F.3d 905, 917 (10th Cir. 2001). Repeated failure to investigate credible evidence of harm to a 

defined group of vulnerable children demonstrates a conscience-shocking disregard for 

constitutional and statutory duties.


Fabrication, Retaliatory Recommendation, and Ex Parte Judicial Influence


86. On August 1, 2023, Defendant Audra Asher submitted a formal written custody 

recommendation to the Rush County District Court. In that report, she falsely claimed that 

Plaintiff refused to return the children to their mother during a December 3, 2020 emergency 

hearing. She further asserted that Plaintiff had established a pattern of such behavior. Defendant 

explicitly stated that she had reviewed the transcript of the hearing in support of this claim and 

used this assertion as grounds to recommend that Plaintiff’s parenting time be suspended.
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87. Defendant’s representation is unequivocally false. Plaintiff has reviewed the certified 

transcript of the December 3, 2020 hearing in full. Nowhere in that transcript does Plaintiff—or 

his attorney—state that he would refuse or had refused to return the children. There is no finding 

or suggestion by the court that Plaintiff engaged in such behavior. Defendant’s claim is a 

fabrication of material fact submitted to the court while acting under color of state law.


88. Defendant either deliberately misrepresented the contents of the hearing transcript or never 

reviewed it at all—despite claiming that she did. This conduct constitutes a fabrication of judicial 

evidence, a violation of Plaintiff’s right to fair process, and a retaliatory abuse of authority. A 

state official who falsifies or invents evidence in a proceeding that impacts fundamental rights 

commits a standalone constitutional violation under the Fourteenth Amendment. See Devereaux 

v. Abbey, 263 F.3d 1070, 1075 (9th Cir. 2001); Ricciuti v. N.Y.C. Transit Auth., 124 F.3d 123, 130 

(2d Cir. 1997).


89. Based on this fabricated narrative, Defendant maliciously recommended that Plaintiff’s 

parenting time be suspended. This recommendation was submitted despite the absence of 

interviews, investigation, CPS contact, medical verification, or acknowledgment of evidence 

submitted by Plaintiff. Defendant’s recommendation contained no forensic reports, no review of 

police footage, no mention of text message confessions, and no reference to over 1,200 messages 

evidencing contempt and parental alienation. Her entire recommendation was false, retaliatory, 

and constructed to inflict legal harm.


90. Defendant made this retaliatory and false recommendation despite knowing that Plaintiff has 

no criminal record, no history of abuse or neglect, and no substantiated findings from any child 

protection agency. Plaintiff has never been arrested, charged, or convicted of any crime. The 

recommendation that Plaintiff’s parental rights be suspended and that visitation be supervised—

absent any factual basis—violated Plaintiff’s substantive due process rights under the Fourteenth 

Amendment to be free from arbitrary and conscience-shocking government interference in the 
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parent-child relationship. See Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 65 (2000); County of Sacramento 

v. Lewis, 523 U.S. 833, 849 (1998).


91. By contrast, the mother of the children has a criminal record that includes two child 

endangerment charges, one of which involved providing alcohol and cigarettes to the children 

when they were five and six years old. Defendant was fully aware of this information through 

court records and direct communication from Plaintiff. Nevertheless, she omitted or minimized 

these facts in her investigation and report, and instead targeted Plaintiff with false allegations. 

This selective enforcement and suppression of adverse facts about the mother constitute 

viewpoint discrimination and denial of equal protection under the law. See Patterson v. McLean 

Credit Union, 491 U.S. 164, 186 (1989); Yick Wo v. Hopkins, 118 U.S. 356, 374 (1886) (equal 

protection violated where law is applied in discriminatory fashion).


92. Defendant’s recommendation to restrict Plaintiff’s rights, based on a fabricated statement she 

falsely attributed to Plaintiff at the December 3, 2020 hearing, further constitutes a deliberate 

fabrication of evidence in violation of procedural due process. The Tenth Circuit has held that 

fabricating evidence which leads to the deprivation of a protected liberty interest violates the Due 

Process Clause. See Pierce v. Gilchrist, 359 F.3d 1279, 1299–1300 (10th Cir. 2004) (“Deliberate 

or knowing falsification of evidence…violates clearly established constitutional rights under § 

1983.”); Devereaux v. Abbey, 263 F.3d 1070, 1074–75 (9th Cir. 2001) (en banc) (due process 

violated when state official deliberately fabricates evidence against a party).


93. Defendant’s actions were taken in retaliation for Plaintiff’s persistent advocacy, protected 

speech, and exercise of his parental rights. The First Amendment prohibits retaliation by state 

actors against individuals who speak on matters of public concern or challenge governmental 

misconduct. Defendant’s fabrications and selective targeting of Plaintiff—while ignoring more 

serious criminal conduct by the mother—amount to unconstitutional retaliation under the First 

and Fourteenth Amendments. See Hartman v. Moore, 547 U.S. 250, 256 (2006); Worrell v. 

Henry, 219 F.3d 1197, 1212 (10th Cir. 2000).
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94. Plaintiff’s former attorney filed a written objection to Defendant’s recommendation, 

identifying the factual inaccuracies, bias, and one-sided nature of the report. These objections 

were ignored by the court. As a direct result of Defendant’s misconduct, Plaintiff’s motions were 

denied, and he lost vital parenting time despite having committed no acts justifying such an 

outcome.


95. In addition to falsifying material facts and recommending suspension of Plaintiff’s rights 

without cause, Defendant engaged in improper ex parte communication with the presiding judge. 

During an active hearing in which Plaintiff was located in a separate room with his attorney, the 

children’s mother, and her attorney, Defendant was observed by two witnesses—Plaintiff’s 

parents—entering the judge’s chambers and engaging in a private conversation behind closed 

doors.


96. Neither Plaintiff’s attorney nor the mother’s attorney were present during this meeting. No 

court reporter was present, and no record of the communication was made. Plaintiff’s parents, 

who were seated inside the courtroom, witnessed Defendant go behind the bench and speak to 

the judge privately. They reported this behavior immediately and were deeply disturbed by the 

unethical nature of what they saw.


97. This ex parte communication was a violation of court ethics and constitutional due process. A 

court-appointed investigator may not privately influence a judicial officer in a pending 

proceeding. This conduct deprived Plaintiff of a fair and neutral forum and contributed to 

adverse decisions made without full and accurate information. See In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 

133, 136 (1955) (“A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process.”).


This ex parte engagement—outside the presence of Plaintiff, his counsel, or a court reporter—

constitutes a textbook violation of due process. Courts have repeatedly found that private 

communications between a judicial officer and a biased party undermine the integrity of judicial 

proceedings and deny litigants the fundamental right to a fair forum. See Caperton v. A.T. 

Massey Coal Co., 556 U.S. 868, 883 (2009); In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 136 (1955). Such 
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private, off-the-record communications are inherently suspect and require heightened scrutiny 

under federal civil rights law.


98. Defendant’s actions—falsely claiming Plaintiff refused to return the children, submitting 

fabricated evidence, privately influencing the judge, and recommending suspension of parental 

rights without justification—constitute a coordinated, malicious abuse of her state-appointed 

authority. These acts were not mere negligence or investigatory error. They were deliberate, 

retaliatory, and designed to punish Plaintiff for asserting his constitutional rights. Defendant’s 

conduct under color of law violated Plaintiff’s rights under the First and Fourteenth Amendments 

and is actionable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.


99. Defendant’s claim that Plaintiff refused to return the children was not only false but was also 

presented under the guise of having reviewed a certified court transcript. In her August 1, 2023 

recommendation, Defendant explicitly stated that she had reviewed the transcript of the 

December 3, 2020 hearing and cited it as proof of Plaintiff’s alleged misconduct. However, the 

actual transcript—now attached as Exhibit A—contains no such statement, threat, or finding by 

the court. Plaintiff never stated that he would refuse to return the children, nor did the court 

accuse or admonish him for doing so. Defendant either deliberately fabricated the content of the 

transcript or made the claim with reckless disregard for the truth, constituting a knowing 

violation of Plaintiff’s due process rights.


100. The seriousness of this fabrication is further evidenced by the formal written objection filed 

by Plaintiff’s former attorney on September 5, 2023. That objection—attached as Exhibit B—not 

only challenges Defendant’s false statements but also outlines her complete failure to follow 

basic investigatory procedures. The objection documents Defendant’s refusal to communicate 

with Plaintiff, failure to review medical and photographic evidence, omission of verified reports 

of abuse, and submission of a recommendation unsupported by interviews, agency records, or 

expert findings. The objection described Defendant’s conduct as biased, one-sided, and harmful 

to Plaintiff’s legal rights.
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101. These filings—the fabricated transcript claim and the formal legal objection—form a 

pattern of intentional misconduct by a state actor acting under color of law. Defendant knowingly 

submitted false information into a judicial proceeding and sought to influence custody outcomes 

based on fabricated and incomplete evidence. The legal significance of this is profound: it 

transforms Defendant’s conduct from negligence into a constitutional violation, triggering 

liability under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for fabrication of evidence and denial of fair process.


102. The harm suffered by Plaintiff as a result of this fabrication was both legal and personal. He 

was treated as an unfit parent based on false claims, subjected to unjustified restrictions on his 

parenting time, and deprived of the opportunity to defend himself against an invented accusation. 

Defendant’s actions—compounded by her refusal to acknowledge opposing evidence and her 

improper communication with the court—justify enhanced damages, injunctive relief, and 

accountability under federal civil rights law.


Statement Regarding Accountability and Administrative Complaints


Plaintiff has taken steps and intends to file formal complaints with the Kansas Behavioral 

Sciences Regulatory Board, the Kansas Attorney General’s Office, and the U.S. Department of 

Justice, Civil Rights Division, in connection with Defendant Asher’s conduct described herein. 

These complaints are based on evidence of constitutional violations, professional misconduct, 

and abuse of authority under color of state law. Plaintiff submits this information not for 

purposes of harassment or retaliation, but as a lawful effort to ensure accountability, prevent 

future harm, and protect the constitutional rights of others.


Statement on Judicial Bias and Necessity of Federal Relief


Plaintiff submits this section with respect for the constitutional principles underlying the 

American judicial system. However, after more than five years of litigating custody and safety 

issues in the Rush County District Court of Kansas, Plaintiff has encountered a system so 
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fundamentally compromised by bias, personal relationships, procedural suppression, and state 

inaction that it has functionally denied him access to justice.


Systemic Denial of Due Process and Suppression of Evidence


Since the initiation of Case No. 2018-DM-000019, Plaintiff has filed a series of motions in good 

faith, each accompanied by clear, credible, and verified evidence documenting abuse, neglect, 

fraud, and violations of court orders. These motions presented:


• Photographic evidence of physical injuries to his children, including visible burns;


• Medical records confirming blood in stool, untreated infections, and severe dental decay;


• Video footage of the children’s mother impersonating a licensed attorney during a police 

investigation.


• Evidence that a convicted felon involved in narcotics resided in the children’s home;


• A second boyfriend was on Indiana’s most wanted list as a wanted criminal. 


• Plaintiff had told defendant of the criminal boyfriends in an email, and defendant responded to 

plaintiff  “stop playing tit for tat.”


• Defendant stated that reasons for plaintiff’s parental alienation “by mother” was for plaintiffs 

nonpayment of child support contributed. Further review of all child support payments, 

plaintiff was never behind on child support during the parental alienation. Defendant statement 

was untrue and was out to punish plaintiff.


• Over 1,250 messages documenting willful parental alienation, noncompliance with orders, and 

coercive conduct targeting Plaintiff and his relationship with his children.


• Bruises on plaintiffs middle daughter that was discovered by a photograph taken from the 

lacrosse Kansas school teacher.
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• These are just some of defendants failures, as plaintiff will be submitting all failures in 

discovery of the failed investigation by defendant.


Despite this overwhelming documentation, not one motion was granted. In fact, the court refused 

to hold evidentiary hearings, failed to issue factual findings, and offered no justification for its 

denials—thereby depriving Plaintiff of procedural due process guaranteed by the Fourteenth 

Amendment. The repeated refusal to acknowledge or investigate clear threats to child safety, 

coupled with the systematic exclusion of Plaintiff’s voice, reflects a structural failure of judicial 

neutrality.


Due process, as defined by the U.S. Supreme Court, requires notice and a meaningful 

opportunity to be heard before a person’s rights may be denied. Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 

319, 333 (1976). This right is especially strong in cases involving the parent-child relationship, 

which the Court has repeatedly recognized as a fundamental liberty interest protected by the 

Constitution. Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 65 (2000); Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 753 

(1982).


Credible Appearance of Judicial Bias and Conflict of Interest


Plaintiff has firsthand knowledge and documented evidence that raises grave concerns about 

impartiality in the Rush County court system. Specifically:


• The children’s maternal grandmother maintains a close personal relationship with the Rush 

County Court Clerk, a fact well known in the local community;


• Both the grandmother and the presiding judge operate cattle and livestock businesses;


• Public records reflect online business interactions, overlapping industry activities, and 

potential financial connections between the judge and the grandmother.


Although Plaintiff does not allege provable corruption at this time, the combination of personal 

ties, business interests, and absolute denial of relief over five years creates a compelling 
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appearance of judicial bias. That appearance alone is enough to raise serious constitutional 

concerns.


Under Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal Co., 556 U.S. 868, 883 (2009), due process is violated 

where the circumstances create “a serious risk of actual bias—based on objective and reasonable 

perceptions.” The U.S. Supreme Court has long held that courts must not only be fair but must 

also appear to be fair to a reasonable observer.  Tumey v. Ohio, 273 U.S. 510, 523 (1927).


In a small rural jurisdiction, where personal and business ties are easily intertwined, unchecked 

relationships between parties and court personnel cast a shadow over judicial integrity—and 

justify federal intervention.


Plaintiff submitted to Defendant an audio recording of a phone call with the children’s mother’s 

former employer, in which the employer stated that the mother had said: “Tyce will never win in 

court because my family knows the judge and knows the courts.” This recording constitutes 

direct evidence of judicial bias and improper influence, implicating both procedural and 

substantive due process under the Fourteenth Amendment. In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 136 

(1955) (“A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process.”); Caperton v. A.T. 

Massey Coal Co., 556 U.S. 868, 883 (2009) (due process is violated where there is a serious risk 

of actual bias).


Despite the gravity of the statement, Defendant—who was actively appointed under K.S.A. § 

23-3210—took no action, failed to interview the employer, and refused to disclose the recording 

to the court. This failure to investigate clear evidence of potential corruption further undermines 

Plaintiff’s access to a fair tribunal and constitutes a conscience-shocking abuse of state authority. 

County of Sacramento v. Lewis, 523 U.S. 833, 849 (1998).


Defendant Audra Asher’s Duty to Investigate Institutional Failures


In light of these ongoing and unexplained denials, Plaintiff’s former attorney retained Defendant 

Audra Asher, a court-appointed child custody investigator pursuant to K.S.A. § 23-3210, to serve 
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as a neutral third party charged with assessing the children’s safety and investigating why 

Plaintiff’s motions were being denied despite overwhelming evidence.


As a state-appointed actor functioning under color of state law, Defendant Asher had a legal and 

constitutional duty to:


• Investigate all credible evidence of abuse and neglect;


• Evaluate whether the court’s refusal to act violated the best interests of the children;


• Interview relevant parties, including medical providers, CPS, and law enforcement;


• Identify possible systemic bias or judicial failure in accordance with her duty to promote 

transparency and safety;


• Report her findings and concerns to the Court, not remain silent.


Instead, Defendant willfully failed to act. She:


• Ignored evidence already submitted to the court;


• Conducted no meaningful investigation;


• Blocked Plaintiff’s access to her online portal;


• Refused to alert the court about ongoing abuse or suppression;


• Appeared uninvited and without notice at the July 29, 2024 hearing—a hearing for which the 

Clerk’s notice identified only Plaintiff, the mother, and the judge as participants;


• Said nothing during the hearing about abuse, fraud, or procedural concerns, and instead 

demanded a personal payment of $803.


This conduct was not simply negligent—it was retaliatory, unethical, and conscience-shocking. 

When a state actor intentionally enables harm, ignores constitutional violations, and retaliates
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against a party for seeking redress, liability under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 applies. Currier v. Doran, 

242 F.3d 905, 923 (10th Cir. 2001); Taylor v. Riojas, 141 S. Ct. 52, 54 (2020).


Moreover, Defendant’s presence at a closed hearing where she was not noticed raises the 

likelihood of ex-parte communication or coordination—particularly given the personal 

relationships within the court. Plaintiff respectfully requests discovery into:


• How Defendant became aware of the July 29, 2024 hearing;


• Who invited or authorized her presence;


• Whether her attendance was coordinated with any court staff or party in violation of notice 

rules or ethical duties.


On July 29, 2024, Plaintiff appeared at a Zoom hearing in which he presented multiple motions 

concerning abuse, parental alienation, impersonation of legal authority, and financial fraud. 

Despite the constitutional gravity of the issues raised, the court denied Plaintiff’s entire motion 

with prejudice, without holding an evidentiary hearing or making findings of fact. Defendant 

Audra Asher, present in her official capacity as a court-appointed investigator, remained silent 

throughout. Her sole contribution was to demand $803 from Plaintiff. Following the hearing—

during Plaintiff’s summer parenting time—he experienced a severe panic attack, began 

hyperventilating, and collapsed in front of his children, who began crying and expressed fear for 

his safety. This incident triggered ongoing medical treatment and emotional trauma.


The U.S. Supreme Court has long recognized that procedural due process under the Fourteenth 

Amendment requires notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard, particularly when 

fundamental parental rights are at stake. Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976); Stanley 

v. Illinois, 405 U.S. 645, 658 (1972). The denial of Plaintiff’s motions without a hearing or 

factual findings violated his right to fair process. Emotional distress and medically documented 

physical symptoms, including panic attacks and hypertension, are compensable under § 1983. 

Carey v. Piphus, 435 U.S. 247, 264 (1978); Memphis Cmty. Sch. Dist. v. Stachura, 477 U.S. 299, 
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307 (1986). Defendant’s silence and failure to intervene—despite her duty as a state actor—was 

a proximate cause of this constitutional and medical harm.


Federal Jurisdiction and the Limits of Abstention


Plaintiff is not seeking to relitigate custody or reverse a state court judgment. Rather, Plaintiff 

seeks federal remedies for completed constitutional violations committed by a state-appointed 

actor whose misconduct falls outside the scope of any judicial order.


Under long-standing precedent, federal courts are required to hear § 1983 claims involving 

constitutional rights, especially when state remedies are unavailable or structurally compromised. 

See:


• Patsy v. Board of Regents, 457 U.S. 496, 501 (1982) – exhaustion of state remedies is not 

required under § 1983;


• Mitchum v. Foster, 407 U.S. 225, 242 (1972) – § 1983 is an express exception to federal 

abstention;


• Skinner v. Switzer, 562 U.S. 521, 532 (2011) – a plaintiff may assert federal civil rights claims 

independent of state proceedings;


• Ex parte Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908) – federal courts may enjoin and hold accountable state 

officials who violate federal rights.


These claims are also not barred by the Rooker-Feldman doctrine, which only applies when a 

federal plaintiff seeks to overturn a final state court judgment. Here, Plaintiff does not challenge 

any judgment, but rather seeks redress for independent violations committed by a state actor who 

enabled abuse and procedural injustice. Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Saudi Basic Indus. Corp., 544 U.S. 

280, 284 (2005).
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Irreparable Judicial Prejudice Caused by Defendant’s False Recommendation


1. Plaintiff respectfully submits that the judicial prejudice he faces in Rush County, Kansas is 

not theoretical—it has become structural, systemic, and irreversible due to Defendant Audra 

Asher’s false, defamatory, and retaliatory conduct.


2. Defendant resides in the same small community as the Rush County District Court, the 

Court Clerk, and the presiding judge. As a local attorney appointed under K.S.A. § 23-3210, 

she was uniquely positioned to influence judicial perception. Her recommendation was not 

neutral, fact-based, or ethical—it was a deliberately constructed narrative designed to 

discredit Plaintiff, a non-resident father from Texas.


3. Defendant falsely recommended that Plaintiff’s parental rights be suspended, despite no 

lawful basis, no factual support, and no investigation of verified abuse against the children. 

That recommendation was accepted without scrutiny by a court familiar with Defendant but 

unfamiliar with Plaintiff, creating an entrenched, one-sided judicial bias.


4. Since the issuance of that recommendation, every motion filed by Plaintiff concerning child 

safety, abuse, or due process has been denied without hearing or explanation. This unbroken 

pattern strongly suggests that Defendant’s misconduct has contaminated the fact-finding 

process and caused the court to view Plaintiff as inherently untrustworthy—despite clear and 

repeated documentation of harm to the children.


5. This is not merely a question of losing motions—it is a question of losing access to a fair 

forum. Defendant weaponized her proximity to the court and her status as a trusted local 

actor to instill falsehoods and discredit Plaintiff in the eyes of the judiciary. As a result, 

Plaintiff now faces a hostile legal environment in which his out-of-state status, his protected 

speech, and his repeated efforts to safeguard his children are perceived as burdens rather 

than rights.


6. The integrity of the judicial process in Rush County has been compromised by Defendant’s 

actions. Her false recommendation, ex parte communication with the judge, refusal to 

investigate evidence, and retaliatory appearance at the July 29, 2024 hearing have combined 
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to create an atmosphere where Plaintiff can no longer obtain a neutral or meaningful review 

of his claims.


7. As such, federal court intervention is not merely appropriate—it is necessary. A litigant has a 

constitutional right to a fair trial in a fair tribunal. See In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 136 

(1955) (“A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process.”). That right has 

been systematically denied to Plaintiff by Defendant’s knowing and reckless misconduct.


• Plaintiff asserts, with deep conviction and factual support, that Defendant Audra Asher has 

irreversibly poisoned the judicial system of Rush County. Plaintiff did nothing to warrant such 

malicious treatment. He submitted evidence, followed court orders, paid support, and 

advocated only for the safety of his children. Yet through deliberate fabrication, private 

influence, and the trust she holds in the local legal community, Defendant manipulated the 

perception of Plaintiff in a way that has tainted every motion, every hearing, and every judicial 

interaction since. The children continue to suffer, and Plaintiff continues to be denied a neutral 

forum. This is not just professional misconduct—it is a structural and constitutional failure. 

Federal intervention is not only warranted, it is essential to preserve the rights of Plaintiff and 

protect his children from further harm.


IV.  CONCLUSION


Plaintiff has exhausted every good-faith effort to obtain protection and due process in state court. 

The pattern of blanket denials, known relationships between the grandmother and court 

personnel, Defendant Asher’s failure to act, and her unexplained appearance at a private hearing 

for the sole purpose of demanding payment, together establish that Plaintiff has been denied 

access to a fair forum.
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Defendant’s conduct—and the institutional environment that enabled it—demands redress. 

Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court consider this evidence of structural bias, procedural 

abuse, and constitutional injury in full when determining the appropriate relief, including:


• Compensatory damages for emotional, physical, and financial harm;


• Punitive damages to deter future violations by state-appointed actors;


• Declaratory relief recognizing that constitutional violations occurred under color of state law;


• Injunctive relief preventing future misconduct by custody investigators;


• Discovery into improper communications and the July 29, 2024 hearing.


Defendant’s Ethical Violations and Intent to File Bar Complaint


Plaintiff respectfully informs the Court that he intends to file a formal complaint with the Kansas 

Office of Disciplinary Administrator concerning Defendant Audra Asher’s conduct in this matter. 

As a licensed attorney appointed by the court, Defendant was bound by the Kansas Rules of 

Professional Conduct and the ethical standards governing all officers of the court.


Specifically, Defendant’s conduct violated:


• Rule 1.1 – Competence: She failed to conduct a complete investigation or respond to urgent 

safety concerns;


• Rule 1.3 – Diligence: She delayed action, suppressed evidence, and failed to update the court;


• Rule 1.4 – Communication: She revoked Plaintiff’s access to case materials and failed to notify 

him of findings;


• Rule 8.4(d) – Conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice: Her appearance at a closed 

hearing to demand payment while remaining silent about constitutional violations reflects 

prejudicial conduct.
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Plaintiff believes these violations warrant professional discipline and reserves the right to 

supplement this lawsuit with supporting evidence from any future bar investigation. Defendant’s 

misconduct was not simply negligent—it was unethical, retaliatory, and outside the scope of 

legal propriety.


V.  STATEMENT ON JURISDICTION AND ABSTENTION DOCTRINES


103. This action arises under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and seeks redress for continuing violations of 

Plaintiff’s constitutional rights by Defendant Audra Asher, who acted and continues to act under 

color of state law. Defendant’s conduct — including refusal to investigate abuse, suppression of 

evidence, obstruction of access to court proceedings, and retaliatory actions — caused significant 

and ongoing harm. This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question), § 

1343(a)(3) (civil rights enforcement), and venue is proper under § 1391(b), as the events 

occurred in Kansas and involve a state-appointed agent.


104. Plaintiff’s claims involve fundamental constitutional protections — specifically, the liberty 

interest in the care and custody of one’s children and the right to fair process when the state 

intervenes. See Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 65 (2000) (“The interest of parents in the care, 

custody, and control of their children is perhaps the oldest of the fundamental liberty interests 

recognized by this Court.”). When that interest is harmed by a state actor acting outside of lawful 

bounds, federal jurisdiction is not only appropriate — it is imperative.


Rooker-Feldman Does Not Apply


105. The Rooker-Feldman doctrine is inapplicable. Plaintiff is not requesting the Court to review, 

reverse, or modify any state court decision. Rather, he brings an independent federal claim 

against a state actor for constitutional misconduct that occurred outside of any judicial ruling. 

See Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Saudi Basic Industries Corp., 544 U.S. 280, 284 (2005) (Rooker-

Feldman applies only when a federal plaintiff complains of injury caused by a state court 
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judgment and seeks federal court review of that judgment). See also Skinner v. Switzer, 562 U.S. 

521, 532 (2011).


106. Plaintiff’s injuries were caused by Defendant Asher’s acts and omissions — not by the 

judgment of any state court. She ignored child abuse, refused to investigate credible safety 

threats, and deliberately obstructed Plaintiff’s access to her findings. These are federal due 

process violations that exist regardless of any support or custody orders, and are therefore not 

barred by Rooker-Feldman. See Todd v. Weltman, Weinberg & Reis Co., L.P.A., 434 F.3d 432, 

437 (6th Cir. 2006) (Rooker-Feldman does not apply when plaintiff alleges unconstitutional 

enforcement methods rather than challenging the judgment itself).


107. Plaintiff has standing to pursue this case because the injuries caused by Defendant are 

ongoing, concrete, and redressable. Defendant’s fabricated custody recommendation remains part 

of the court’s file and continues to influence judicial outcomes. Plaintiff also continues to suffer 

reputational harm, medical complications, and financial consequences resulting from 

Defendant’s misconduct. These injuries are not speculative and satisfy the Article III 

requirements for standing. See Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560–61 (1992).


Younger Abstention Does Not Apply


108. Defendant may attempt to invoke the Younger abstention doctrine; however, that doctrine 

does not apply here. While Plaintiff’s underlying state custody case technically remains open, it 

has been dormant for over a year with no active hearings, no pending motions, and no 

substantive participation by any party. There is no active adjudication or judicial oversight 

occurring. As such, there is no “ongoing state proceeding” sufficient to trigger Younger 

abstention. See Ankenbrandt v. Richards, 504 U.S. 689, 705 (1992) (“The mere potential for state 

court involvement does not constitute an ongoing proceeding.”); ReadyLink Healthcare, Inc. v. 

State Comp. Ins. Fund, 754 F.3d 754, 759 (9th Cir. 2014) (“Younger requires more than a 

pending case—it requires active litigation.”).
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109. The U.S. Supreme Court has clearly held that Younger abstention only applies when three 

elements are met: (1) there is an ongoing state judicial proceeding; (2) the proceeding implicates 

important state interests; and (3) the state forum provides an adequate opportunity to raise 

constitutional claims. See Middlesex Cty. Ethics Comm. v. Garden State Bar Ass’n, 457 U.S. 423, 

432 (1982); Sprint Commc’ns, Inc. v. Jacobs, 571 U.S. 69, 78 (2013). None of these elements are 

satisfied here. The proceeding is not active, Plaintiff has repeatedly been denied meaningful 

access to the court, and all constitutional claims presented to the state court have either been 

ignored or summarily denied without hearing or explanation.


110. Even if Younger abstention were theoretically considered, three well-established exceptions 

apply that compel federal jurisdiction:


1. Ongoing and irreparable constitutional harm, as Defendant continues to suppress abuse 

evidence and refuse to act on new threats to child safety;


2. Bad faith, reflected by Defendant’s retaliatory demand for money during a hearing where she 

had no notice or lawful purpose, while ignoring evidence of constitutional violations;


3. Flagrant and systemic constitutional violations, including denial of fair process, suppression 

of exculpatory evidence, denial of access to court records, and fabrication of judicial 

evidence.


These exceptions have been recognized by the Supreme Court in Trainor v. Hernandez, 431 U.S. 

434, 447 (1977), and Kugler v. Helfant, 421 U.S. 117, 124 (1975).


111. Allowing abstention here would irreparably harm Plaintiff by insulating Defendant’s 

unconstitutional conduct from review and prolonging the denial of basic rights. Federal courts 

have both the authority and the obligation to intervene when state remedies are structurally 

compromised or fundamentally inadequate to protect federal rights. See Gerstein v. Pugh, 420 

U.S. 103, 108 n.9 (1975); Steffel v. Thompson, 415 U.S. 452, 462 (1974). This case involves 

completed and ongoing violations of Plaintiff’s First and Fourteenth Amendment rights by a 
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state-appointed official acting under color of law. Federal jurisdiction is proper and abstention is 

not warranted.


112. Moreover, even if Younger could be considered, three key exceptions apply:


1. Ongoing irreparable harm stemming from Defendant’s refusal to investigate new abuse 

allegations and ongoing suppression of key evidence;


2. Bad faith and retaliation, as Defendant knowingly disregarded the safety of Plaintiff’s 

children and actively obstructed access to court records;


3. Flagrant constitutional violations, including denial of due process and access to the courts. 

See Trainor v. Hernandez, 431 U.S. 434, 447 (1977); Kugler v. Helfant, 421 U.S. 117, 124 

(1975).


113. Abstention would also irreparably harm Plaintiff by allowing the continued suppression of 

abuse evidence and denial of fair process without judicial review. Federal courts are permitted—

and required—to intervene when state procedures are inadequate to protect constitutional rights. 

See Gerstein v. Pugh, 420 U.S. 103, 108 n.9 (1975) (abstention inappropriate where procedural 

protections are lacking or constitutional injuries are ongoing).


Defendant’s Appointment, Authority, and Ongoing Status


114. Defendant Asher was appointed under K.S.A. § 23-3210 to perform functions traditionally 

reserved to the state: investigating allegations of abuse, accessing confidential records, and 

advising the court on parental fitness. She never was never formally discharged, and continues to 

hold state-granted powers. Her ongoing refusal to investigate new abuse evidence while holding 

judicially authorized investigative powers constitutes a continuing violation of Plaintiff’s 

constitutional rights.


115. These facts fall squarely under the public function test for identifying state action. See 

Jackson v. Metropolitan Edison Co., 419 U.S. 345 (1974). Defendant’s powers are not available 
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to private individuals; they are delegated state functions subject to federal constitutional 

constraints.


State Actor Analysis


116. Defendant’s actions meet multiple tests for state actor liability under § 1983:


• Under the public function doctrine, she executed state-assigned tasks involving family integrity 

and child welfare.


• Under the joint action/nexus test, she operated at the direction of, and in coordination with, the 

court system. See Brentwood Acad. v. Tenn. Secondary Sch. Athletic Ass’n, 531 U.S. 288 

(2001).


• Under West v. Atkins, 487 U.S. 42 (1988), individuals who perform duties traditionally carried 

out by the state, even if not formally employed by the state, are deemed state actors when their 

conduct affects constitutional rights.


117. Her own court filings confirmed that she acted as a state actor during the relevant times. 

Additionally, she invoked her appointment powers in court and continued to operate under that 

role beyond 2023, while refusing to act on new, urgent evidence of child abuse. Her failure to 

act, combined with her authority and appointment status, firmly establish her as a state actor.


Constitutional and Equitable Necessity for Federal Jurisdiction


118. Defendant’s actions blocked Plaintiff’s access to the courts, a violation of the First and 

Fourteenth Amendments. Plaintiff was denied investigative materials, refused updates, and left 

without the evidence needed to protect his children or challenge Asher’s findings. See 

Christopher v. Harbury, 536 U.S. 403, 415 (2002) (right of access to the courts is violated when 

official conduct frustrates the plaintiff’s ability to meaningfully participate in legal proceedings).
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119. Plaintiff made every effort to seek redress through state mechanisms. He filed motions, 

contacted DCF, and submitted a Petition for Writ of Mandamus to the Kansas Supreme Court. 

Each attempt was denied or ignored. State remedies were therefore either unavailable or 

inadequate, and exhaustion is not required under § 1983, particularly where the alleged 

violations are ongoing and involve matters of fundamental rights and child safety. See Patsy v. 

Board of Regents, 457 U.S. 496, 500 (1982); Steffel v. Thompson, 415 U.S. 452, 472–73 (1974).


120. While the facts arise in a family law setting, this is not a domestic relations dispute. This is 

a civil rights case grounded in well-established federal law. See Mabe v. San Bernardino Cty., 

237 F.3d 1101, 1107 (9th Cir. 2001); Brull v. Kansas Social Rehabilitation Services, No. 

04-4057-RDR, 2005 WL 768173, at 5 (D. Kan. Mar. 31, 2005) (recognizing § 1983 claims based 

on constitutional violations by Kansas child welfare officials).


121. The federal judiciary has a “virtually unflagging obligation” to exercise jurisdiction where 

federal rights are at stake. See Colorado River Water Conservation Dist. v. United States, 424 

U.S. 800, 817 (1976); Zwickler v. Koota, 389 U.S. 241, 248 (1967). This Court must not allow 

Defendant’s abuse of state authority to escape accountability behind doctrines never intended to 

shield ongoing constitutional misconduct.


Final Statement on Equity and Relief


122. This is not about second-guessing state judges. It is about holding a state-appointed official 

accountable for conduct that violated clearly established constitutional rights, caused severe and 

lasting harm, and continues to deny Plaintiff a fair process. The Court should not abstain from 

protecting those rights. Neither Rooker-Feldman nor Younger prevents this action, and no 

immunity doctrine bars it. Jurisdiction is proper, the claims are actionable, and Plaintiff 

respectfully requests this Court to exercise its authority and allow the case to proceed to full 

review. The Constitution guarantees access to justice where rights have been violated by agents 

of the State — and this case presents such a moment.
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Plaintiff reserves the right to introduce additional exhibits during discovery, including 

photographs, video, school records, medical documentation, police audio/video, and text 

communications that were ignored or suppressed by Defendant Audra Asher. The attached 

exhibits are a small sample of over 20 critical documents proving Defendant’s gross misconduct 

and failure to act under color of law.


123. Since Defendant Asher issued her court-appointed recommendation in 2023, Plaintiff has 

continued to bear the burden of her investigatory failures. Despite providing evidence of ongoing 

abuse, Plaintiff was forced to file additional motions—including a 2024 motion to address newly 

discovered abuse of his children. At the hearing for that motion, Defendant appeared not to 

respond to the allegations of child abuse, but instead to confront Plaintiff and demand a payment 

of $803. Defendant’s repeated indifference to Plaintiff’s documented abuse claims, combined 

with her ongoing pursuit of financial gain, has caused lasting psychological harm to Plaintiff and 

has further endangered the safety of his children. Her reckless and biased conduct has not only 

undermined the credibility of the investigative process but has prolonged Plaintiff’s suffering and 

increased the risk to the very children she was appointed to protect.


V.(a). SUMMARY OF DOCTRINAL AND IMMUNITY DEFENSES


Before proceeding to the specific causes of action, Plaintiff addresses anticipated defenses that 

are inapplicable or conclusively defeated by the facts and law. Defendant Audra Asher was 

appointed under K.S.A. § 23-3210 and performed duties that are traditionally exclusive to the 

state—investigating custody, influencing judicial outcomes, accessing protected records, and 

issuing binding recommendations. She expressly admitted in court filings and open proceedings 

that she acted under color of law, invoked immunity defenses available only to government 

actors, and remained appointed throughout the relevant time period. Her status as a state actor is 

established under the “public function” and “joint action” tests. See West v. Atkins, 487 U.S. 42 

(1988); Brentwood Acad. v. Tenn. Secondary Sch. Athletic Ass’n, 531 U.S. 288, 295–96 (2001); 

Lugar v. Edmondson Oil Co., 457 U.S. 922 (1982).
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Absolute immunity does not apply, as Defendant performed no adjudicative functions. Quasi-

judicial immunity fails because her conduct—fabricating transcript claims, withholding reports, 

demanding personal payment at a hearing, and ignoring abuse—was non-discretionary, 

ministerial, and ultra vires. See Antoine v. Byers & Anderson, Inc., 508 U.S. 429, 435–36 (1993); 

Cleavinger v. Saxner, 474 U.S. 193, 202 (1985). Qualified immunity is inapplicable because 

Plaintiff’s rights were clearly established, and no reasonable official could believe that 

suppressing abuse reports, fabricating evidence, or retaliating during active litigation was 

constitutional. See Hope v. Pelzer, 536 U.S. 730, 739 (2002); Taylor v. Riojas, 141 S. Ct. 52, 54 

(2020).


This action is not barred by Rooker-Feldman because Plaintiff does not seek review of a final 

state court judgment but redress for independent constitutional violations by a state actor. See 

Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Saudi Basic Indus. Corp., 544 U.S. 280, 284 (2005); Skinner v. Switzer, 

562 U.S. 521, 532 (2011). Younger abstention is inapplicable because there is no active state 

proceeding, and Plaintiff has been categorically denied an opportunity to raise federal claims in 

state court. See Sprint Commc’ns, Inc. v. Jacobs, 571 U.S. 69, 78 (2013). Federal jurisdiction is 

proper under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343(a)(3), and this Court has full authority to provide 

declaratory, injunctive, and monetary relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.


VI. LEGAL CLAIMS  


COUNT I – VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS RIGHTS (PLAINTIFF) 


Plaintiff incorporates all previous paragraphs by reference. 


124. Defendant failed to perform a thorough investigation and denied Plaintiff access to critical 

records, violating procedural and substantive due process under the Fourteenth Amendment.
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Defendant’s failure to act violated Plaintiff’s clearly established right to family integrity, which 

the Supreme Court has recognized as “a fundamental liberty interest.” Moore v. City of East 

Cleveland, 431 U.S. 494, 503–504 (1977); Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57, 65 (2000).


COUNT II – FABRICATED FINDINGS, COERCED RESOLUTION, DEFAMATION, 

AND LIABILITY DESPITE COURT INACTION


125. Defendant now claims that because the court ultimately entered a “Journal Entry” on May 

3, 2024, resolving custody and visitation issues, her recommendation is irrelevant. This argument 

is disingenuous and factually incorrect. Defendant’s court-appointed investigative report—filed 

August 2, 2023—contained falsehoods, omissions, and retaliatory conclusions. Chief among 

these was the fabricated claim that Plaintiff stated during a December 3, 2020 hearing that he 

would not return the children. As confirmed by certified hearing transcripts provided to 

Defendant and entered as Exhibit A, no such statement was ever made.


126. Plaintiff’s counsel filed written objections to Defendant’s report on September 8, 2023, 

preserving them for a hearing. However, the court never held such hearing. Plaintiff was then 

coerced into a procedural agreement in May 2024 due to repeated denials of constitutional 

motions, judicial hostility, and systemic refusal to address Plaintiff’s rights. The court never 

rejected or corrected Defendant’s report, and her false conclusions were never cross-examined or 

disqualified.


127. Even if the court did not formally adopt Defendant’s report, she remains liable for 

constitutional harm caused by falsehoods made under color of state law. Defendant’s conduct 

constitutes state action. Courts have long recognized that liability under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 applies 

where a government actor submits false or fabricated information that materially influences 

judicial outcomes.
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“There is a clearly established constitutional due process right not to be subjected to criminal 

charges on the basis of false evidence that was deliberately fabricated by the government.”


—Spurlock v. Satterfield, 167 F.3d 995, 1006 (6th Cir. 1999)


128. Asher’s report was never “ignored”—it poisoned the entire custody process. It influenced 

the court’s view of Plaintiff, emboldened the mother’s contempt of parenting orders, and directly 

led to retaliatory outcomes, including Plaintiff being threatened with supervised visitation and 

being forced to make unilateral 14-hour travel arrangements for custody exchanges.


129. Defendant’s own attorney now argues that her recommendations “weren’t followed” by the 

court, as if that somehow nullifies the damage done. This argument is not a defense—it is an 

implicit admission that Defendant’s report was so biased, flawed, and constitutionally defective 

that the defense now wants to prevent any judicial review of its contents. Rather than defend the 

integrity of Defendant’s court-appointed investigation, her attorney is actively trying to distance 

the State from her findings, knowing they would not withstand scrutiny. But federal law is clear: 

a defendant cannot escape liability under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 simply because the court never 

formally relied on the fabricated material.


Devereaux v. Abbey, 263 F.3d 1070, 1075 (9th Cir. 2001)


Ricciuti v. N.Y.C. Transit Auth., 124 F.3d 123, 130 (2d Cir. 1997)


Currier v. Doran, 242 F.3d 905, 917 (10th Cir. 2001)


130. The fact that Plaintiff was forced to sign a journal entry under the pressure of ongoing 

judicial bias, failed motions, and parental alienation does not cure or excuse Defendant’s 

misconduct. Courts have held that “apparent consent” obtained through government misconduct 

is invalid.


“Apparent acquiescence to governmental abuse does not absolve the offending official of 

liability under § 1983.”


—Banks v. Katzenmeyer, 645 F. App’x 770, 778 (10th Cir. 2016)


51

Case 5:24-cv-04111-HLT-BGS     Document 26     Filed 04/10/25     Page 51 of 84



131. Plaintiff has suffered lasting harm—including restricted parenting rights, reputational 

damage, emotional trauma, and judicial hostility—stemming directly from Defendant’s 

fabricated report. Defendant’s recommendation created a state-created danger that emboldened 

the mother to violate court orders 39 times and forced Plaintiff to make unilateral custody trips 

while being denied basic holiday visitation.


132. Following Defendant’s false recommendation, the mother of Plaintiff’s children harassed 

Plaintiff, stating that he was “lucky his parental rights weren’t suspended.” She further 

disseminated these false claims throughout the children’s small rural community of fewer than 

1,200 residents. She told schoolteachers and staff that Plaintiff was on the verge of losing his 

parental rights, repeating the false statements made by Defendant. This caused extreme public 

humiliation and damaged Plaintiff’s standing in the community.


133. During Plaintiff’s 2025 spring break parenting time, Plaintiff’s children confided that they 

had been teased and harassed at school by classmates who called their father “a bad person” and 

claimed “he doesn’t pay child support.” These statements stem directly from the false narrative 

advanced by Defendant’s recommendation and propagated by the mother. This caused deep 

emotional harm to the children and to Plaintiff, who has always provided for his children and has 

never abused, neglected, or endangered them in any way.


134. The dissemination of these false claims in a small town amounts to defamation under the 

“stigma-plus” doctrine. Courts have repeatedly held that when a state actor makes false 

statements that damage a person’s reputation in connection with a deprivation of a constitutional 

right, such as parenting time or liberty, it constitutes a violation of due process.


“When a government official defames an individual and that defamation occurs in the course of 

the deprivation of a liberty interest, a constitutional claim may lie.”


—Paul v. Davis, 424 U.S. 693, 701–710 (1976)
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—Gwinn v. Awmiller, 354 F.3d 1211, 1216 (10th Cir. 2004)


—Melton v. City of Okla. City, 928 F.2d 920, 927–28 (10th Cir. 1991)


—Doe v. Bagan, 41 F.3d 571, 575–76 (10th Cir. 1994)


135. Defendant Asher knew or should have known that making a false recommendation to 

suspend Plaintiff’s parental rights would result in widespread reputational harm, both to Plaintiff 

and to the children. In a small community, reputations are deeply intertwined with family 

identity. The foreseeability of this harm—particularly where the mother was hostile and vocal—

demonstrates reckless disregard for the truth, if not actual malice. Defendant’s failure to retract, 

correct, or clarify her recommendation underscores her liability.


136. Defendant’s misconduct did not just harm Plaintiff—it harmed the children. By planting a 

false narrative into the court system and enabling it to spread through the community, Defendant 

caused Plaintiff’s children to suffer ridicule, anxiety, and emotional confusion. This deepened the 

wedge of alienation and inflicted lasting trauma on the family unit.


137. Plaintiff reserves the right to assert a standalone defamation claim should discovery reveal 

that Defendant’s false statements were repeated to third parties, used in additional reports, or 

formally shared beyond the scope of her investigative authority. The facts herein support both a 

due process claim under § 1983 and a claim for common-law defamation under Kansas law.


COUNT III – VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS RIGHTS (CHILDREN) 


Plaintiff incorporates all previous paragraphs by reference. 


138. Defendant failed to evaluate or act upon reports of abuse affecting the minor children, 

endangering their welfare and violating their due process rights.
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COUNT IV – CIVIL RIGHTS VIOLATIONS UNDER 42 U.S.C. § 1983


Plaintiff incorporates all previous paragraphs by reference.  


139. Defendant, acting under color of state law, failed to investigate reports of abuse, concealed 

or ignored critical evidence, refused to act on medical and safety threats, and demanded payment 

from Plaintiff while neglecting her state-mandated duties.  


140. As a result, Plaintiff was forced to pursue extraordinary legal relief, including a denied 

mandamus petition, and has suffered prolonged emotional trauma, health consequences, financial 

harm, and the erosion of fundamental constitutional protections.  


141. Defendant’s actions violated clearly established rights under the First and Fourteenth 

Amendments:  


• Right to petition the government and access the courts;  


• Right to fair procedures before the state may restrict or interfere with familial rights;  


• Right to be free from state-enabled abuse and neglect of children.  


142. These violations were the result of deliberate inaction, reckless indifference, and misuse of 

authority while acting under court appointment.  


Plaintiff’s rights were clearly established at the time of Defendant’s conduct, and no reasonable 

official in her position could believe that refusing to act on documented child abuse, demanding 

personal compensation, or denying access to investigation records was constitutionally 

permissible. Mullenix v. Luna, 577 U.S. 7, 11 (2015) (“Qualified immunity shields government 

officials from civil damages unless the official violated a statutory or constitutional right that was 

clearly established.”).
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COUNT V – STATE-CREATED DANGER DOCTRINE (CHILDREN AND PLAINTIFF)

Plaintiff incorporates all previous paragraphs by reference. 


143. Defendant’s conduct satisfies all prongs of the “state-created danger” doctrine as established


by the Tenth Circuit. Currier v. Doran, 242 F.3d 905 (10th Cir. 2001). 


Defendant:


1. created or increased the danger of harm to the minor children by ignoring abuse and criminal 

elements in the home;


2. failed to act despite being aware of risks to a specifically identifiable groupPlaintiff’s 

children;


3. subjected them to foreseeable and severe injury;


4. acted with deliberate indifference. Her conduct exposed Plaintiff’s children to ongoing 

danger and deprived Plaintiff of his liberty interest in protecting them. This gives rise to 

independent constitutional liability under the Fourteenth Amendment.


144. Plaintiff seeks all available relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, including compensatory, punitive, 

and equitable relief, as authorized by law and precedent.


145. Defendant’s demand for payment at the July 29, 2024 hearing—while refusing to speak on 

matters involving constitutional rights—constitutes retaliation under the First Amendment.


146. The Supreme Court has held that retaliation for the exercise of constitutionally protected 

speech is itself a violation of the First Amendment. Nieves v. Bartlett, 139 S. Ct. 1715, 1722 

(2019); Hartman v. Moore, 547 U.S. 250, 256 (2006).


147. Defendant used her appearance at a hearing concerning child abuse and paternity fraud to 

demand $803 from Plaintiff. This retaliatory act was designed to intimidate Plaintiff, punish him 

for asserting his rights, and chill his protected activity under the First and Fourteenth 

Amendments.
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COUNT VI – RETALIATION FOR EXERCISING CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS


Plaintiff incorporates all prior paragraphs by reference.


148.  Defendant Audra Asher was a state actor at all times relevant to this action. She appeared at 

the July 29, 2024 hearing in her capacity as a court-appointed investigator and used that 

appearance to demand money from Plaintiff while refusing to act on verified constitutional 

violations.


149. Defendant’s conduct was motivated by animus toward Plaintiff’s protected speech, 

including his filing of motions, submission of abuse evidence, and requests for judicial review. 

By demanding payment and offering no findings at a constitutionally sensitive hearing, 

Defendant engaged in retaliation.


150. The Supreme Court and Tenth Circuit have held that retaliation against a person for 

exercising First Amendment rights—including court access—is unlawful under 42 U.S.C. § 

1983. See Nieves v. Bartlett, 139 S. Ct. 1715 (2019); Worrell v. Henry, 219 F.3d 1197, 1212 (10th 

Cir. 2000); Hartman v. Moore, 547 U.S. 250, 256 (2006).


151. Defendant’s retaliatory actions were unlawful under § 1983 and directly caused Plaintiff 

emotional harm, legal setbacks, and a chilling effect on his protected rights.


COUNT VII – ABUSE OF PROCESS (KANSAS COMMON LAW)


Plaintiff incorporates all prior paragraphs by reference.


152. Defendant was entrusted by the Rush County District Court to conduct a neutral, lawful 

investigation under K.S.A. § 23-3210. She used that authority to submit false evidence, demand 

payment in court, and retaliate against Plaintiff for lawful conduct.
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153. These acts were not legitimate uses of process but deliberate misuse of official procedures 

for improper purposes. Defendant used her appointment to punish Plaintiff and protect third-

party interests, constituting abuse of process under Kansas common law.


154. Defendant, while acting under court appointment, used her official authority not to 

investigate in the best interests of the children, but to inflict reputational and legal harm on 

Plaintiff. Her use of a fabricated court record, secret ex parte communication with the judge, and 

retaliatory recommendation was made with an ulterior purpose unrelated to her official duties.


155. Abuse of process occurs when legal process is used to accomplish an end other than what it 

was designed to accomplish. Defendant’s conduct reflects a malicious use of her appointment to 

punish Plaintiff and protect third-party interests, rather than to serve the best interests of the 

children.


156. Defendant is liable under Kansas tort law for abuse of process. Plaintiff seeks compensatory 

and punitive damages.


COUNT VIII- RETALIATION FOR EXERCISING CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS


Plaintiff incorporates all prior paragraphs by reference.


157. Defendant’s appearance at the July 29, 2024 hearing, where she demanded $803 from 

Plaintiff while remaining silent on child abuse, paternity fraud, impersonation, and constitutional 

concerns, was retaliatory and intended to chill Plaintiff’s exercise of his protected rights.


158. Plaintiff attended that hearing to assert his First and Fourteenth Amendment rights. Rather 

than fulfill her investigatory duty, Defendant used her court appointment as a weapon to 

intimidate Plaintiff for filing motions and asserting constitutional claims.
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159. Retaliation for exercising the right to petition the government is itself a First Amendment 

violation. See Nieves v. Bartlett, 139 S. Ct. 1715, 1722 (2019); Hartman v. Moore, 547 U.S. 250, 

256 (2006).


160. Defendant’s retaliatory actions were unlawful under § 1983 and support a separate 

constitutional claim. See also Worrell v. Henry, 219 F.3d 1197, 1212 (10th Cir. 2000) (even 

unsuccessful plaintiffs may bring retaliation claims if protected conduct is followed by adverse 

action).


COUNT IX – FABRICATION OF EVIDENCE IN VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS


Plaintiff incorporates all prior paragraphs by reference.


161. Defendant, while acting under color of state law, knowingly and maliciously fabricated 

evidence in her August 1, 2023 custody recommendation by falsely stating that Plaintiff refused 

to return the children during a December 3, 2020 hearing. Defendant claimed to have reviewed 

the hearing transcript, but the certified record contains no such statement, finding, or admission. 

This falsehood was used as a basis to recommend suspension of Plaintiff’s parenting time.


162. The fabrication of judicial evidence by a government actor is a standalone constitutional 

violation, separate from the outcome of the proceeding itself. Defendant’s actions violated 

Plaintiff’s clearly established right not to be subjected to adverse governmental action based on 

false information. See Devereaux v. Abbey, 263 F.3d 1070, 1075 (9th Cir. 2001); Ricciuti v. 

N.Y.C. Transit Auth., 124 F.3d 123, 130 (2d Cir. 1997).


163. As a direct result of Defendant’s fabrication, Plaintiff suffered loss of parenting time, 

reputational harm, severe emotional distress, and exposure to prolonged abuse of process. 

Plaintiff seeks compensatory and punitive damages under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
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COUNT X – FINANCIAL COERCION AND DEPRIVATION OF PROPERTY UNDER 

COLOR OF LAW (42 U.S.C. § 1983)


164. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs as though fully 

stated herein.


165. On July 29, 2024, during a scheduled court hearing in Rush County District Court, Plaintiff 

appeared prepared to present critical motions and evidence regarding abuse and neglect suffered 

by his children. The presiding judge, however, denied Plaintiff the opportunity to speak or 

present these motions. Despite this denial of due process, the judge permitted Defendant Audra 

Asher—who had not been subpoenaed or listed on the docket—to appear without notice and use 

the courtroom as a platform to demand $803 from Plaintiff.


166. This was not the first time Defendant had improperly influenced court proceedings. 

Plaintiff’s parents had previously witnessed Defendant Asher engage in ex parte communication 

with the same judge in chambers—without Plaintiff, his attorney, or the opposing attorney 

present. This secret interaction, which occurred during an earlier hearing, was a flagrant violation 

of Plaintiff’s constitutional rights to an impartial tribunal and adversarial process. See In re 

Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 136 (1955) (due process is violated when one side is heard in secret); 

Tumey v. Ohio, 273 U.S. 510, 523 (1927).


167. Defendant’s conduct on July 29, 2024, was an extension of this ongoing manipulation. Her 

surprise courtroom appearance—under color of her court-appointed authority—was made with 

the clear intention to intimidate, coerce, and financially harm Plaintiff. Plaintiff had no prior 

notice she would attend, no advance knowledge of any payment dispute, and no opportunity to 

prepare a response. The court failed to intervene and, by permitting her to speak while silencing 

Plaintiff, effectively ratified her abuse of power.


59

Case 5:24-cv-04111-HLT-BGS     Document 26     Filed 04/10/25     Page 59 of 84



168. This selective denial of Plaintiff’s right to be heard—while allowing a state-appointed 

official to appear without procedural foundation and make a financial demand—violated the core 

guarantees of the Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause. The U.S. Supreme Court has 

repeatedly held that notice and opportunity to be heard must be afforded before any state action 

that deprives a person of property, liberty, or a fundamental right. See Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 

U.S. 254, 267 (1970); Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333 (1976).


169. Furthermore, Defendant’s conduct constituted a coercive act of financial extortion under 

color of state law. The U.S. Supreme Court has held that government officials who use their 

authority to extract money or punish protected speech violate the Constitution. See Screws v. 

United States, 325 U.S. 91 (1945); United States v. Lanier, 520 U.S. 259, 264 (1997). 

Defendant’s appearance was not accidental or harmless—it was calculated and targeted. It was 

meant to humiliate Plaintiff, assert control, and obstruct Plaintiff’s ability to advocate for his 

children.


170. Defendant’s actions were intentional, retaliatory, and done in bad faith. She acted not as a 

neutral investigator, but as a partisan enforcer abusing the authority of her court appointment. 

Plaintiff had already paid his original retainer. Her uninvited appearance and verbal demand for 

money—while Plaintiff was barred from presenting evidence to protect his children—constitutes 

conscience-shocking behavior in violation of Plaintiff’s constitutional rights.


171. These events must be viewed within the broader context of collusion and judicial 

manipulation. Defendant had a prior history of secret communication with the judge. The court’s 

refusal to allow Plaintiff to be heard, while allowing Defendant to appear without notice, reveals 

a pattern of procedural sabotage and viewpoint discrimination that taints the integrity of the 

proceedings and justifies federal intervention. See Caperton v. A.T. Massey Coal Co., 556 U.S. 

868, 884 (2009) (bias and undue influence violate the Due Process Clause where there is a 

serious risk of actual bias).
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172. Defendant must be held accountable for these unlawful actions. Her conduct was not a 

misunderstanding or discretionary error—it was a willful misuse of government authority to 

punish, suppress, and financially damage a parent advocating for his children. Plaintiff seeks 

compensatory and punitive damages, declaratory relief, and any further relief the Court deems 

just and proper under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.


COUNT XI – INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS (KANSAS 

COMMON LAW)


Plaintiff incorporates all prior paragraphs by reference.


173. Defendant’s conduct—including fabricating statements, seeking to terminate Plaintiff’s 

rights without cause, and privately influencing a judge—was extreme and outrageous by any 

standard of decency. These actions were done with reckless disregard for Plaintiff’s mental 

health, parental relationship, and legal rights.


174. As a result, Plaintiff has suffered prolonged and medically documented emotional distress, 

including anxiety, panic attacks, high blood pressure, insomnia, and clinical trauma requiring 

prescription treatment.


175. Under Kansas law, a defendant is liable for intentional infliction of emotional distress where 

their conduct is extreme, outrageous, and intentionally or recklessly causes severe emotional 

harm. Defendant’s conduct meets this standard. Plaintiff seeks damages accordingly.


COUNT XII – DEFAMATION (ALTERNATIVE PLEADING)


Plaintiff incorporates all prior paragraphs by reference.


176. Defendant knowingly made false and damaging statements about Plaintiff in a public legal 

filing, including the statement that he had refused to return the children during a prior court 
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hearing. This statement was false, material, and harmful to Plaintiff’s personal reputation and 

legal standing.


177. Defendant’s recommendation was not privileged because it was made maliciously, based on 

fabricated facts, and submitted without investigative basis. Plaintiff’s former attorney objected to 

the report in writing, further demonstrating that Defendant’s statements were unsupported and 

inflammatory.


178. Under Kansas law, a statement is defamatory if it is false and tends to lower a person’s 

standing in the community or subject them to contempt, ridicule, or discredit. Statements 

accusing a parent of unlawful custody interference are defamatory per se.


179. Plaintiff seeks nominal, compensatory, and punitive damages for reputational harm and 

emotional injury.


180. Defendant Audra Asher acted under color of state law at all relevant times. Her appointment 

was not voluntary, contractual, or private in nature. She was appointed by a judge of the Rush 

County District Court under statutory authority conferred by K.S.A. § 23-3210. This Kansas 

statute expressly authorizes courts to appoint third-party custody investigators to assist in 

evaluating the best interests of children in family law proceedings. Asher’s duties were derived 

entirely from this court order and state law; her actions were performed solely because the state 

empowered her to investigate, make recommendations, and influence parental rights.


181. The Supreme Court has recognized that private individuals become state actors when they 

perform a public function traditionally reserved to the state, act jointly with state officials, or 

their conduct is entwined with governmental policies or control. See Brentwood Acad. v. 

Tennessee Secondary Sch. Athletic Ass’n, 531 U.S. 288, 295–96 (2001); West v. Atkins, 487 U.S. 

42, 55–56 (1988); Lugar v. Edmondson Oil Co., 457 U.S. 922, 937 (1982). Asher satisfies all of 

these tests. She exercised powers delegated by statute and the judiciary, acted in tandem with 

court proceedings, and her findings were intended to direct the outcome of state legal decisions 

regarding parental rights.
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182. Under the public function test, Asher exercised authority over custody determinations—one 

of the most sensitive and constitutionally protected areas of law. Making child custody 

recommendations, reviewing abuse allegations, and influencing the suspension of parental rights 

are duties historically and exclusively reserved to the state. See Doe v. Rosenberg, 996 F. Supp. 

343, 346 (E.D. Pa. 1998) (“Custody evaluators act under color of law when exercising state 

authority over family rights.”). When a private party is delegated public power and their conduct 

shapes the outcome of legal proceedings, they are state actors subject to § 1983.


183. Under the joint action test, Asher’s collaboration with the judiciary and the court system 

establishes state action. She attended hearings, gave testimony, submitted findings directly to the 

court, and influenced judicial orders. See Dennis v. Sparks, 449 U.S. 24, 27–28 (1980) (private 

actors jointly engaged with state officials are state actors). She was not an independent or 

adversarial party—she was an arm of the court. The state cannot outsource its constitutional 

obligations to someone acting as an extension of its authority and then claim immunity from § 

1983 liability.


184. The nexus/entwinement test is also satisfied. Asher’s role was structurally intertwined with 

the judicial process—she existed solely because of state intervention and appointment. Her office 

and function would not have existed without state law and court order. See Brentwood, 531 U.S. 

at 302 (“The state action doctrine requires recognition that actions of ostensibly private entities 

may be fairly treated as those of the state when they are entwined with governmental policies.”). 

Her authority came from the judge, her power flowed from the state, and her influence shaped 

constitutionally protected parental rights.


185. Defendant has admitted in prior filings that she was “appointed pursuant to court order” and 

was acting under that authority throughout her investigation. This constitutes a judicial 

admission of her state actor status. Even if she were partly compensated privately, that does not 

convert her to a private party. See Kirtley v. Rainey, 326 F.3d 1088, 1093 (9th Cir. 2003) (even 
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privately-paid court-appointed actors can be state actors if their role is created by statute and 

regulated by judicial authority). Defendant cannot claim she had the power of the state when 

making recommendations to the court but disavow that power to evade constitutional 

accountability. Her role was created by state law, guided by state mandate, and her conduct 

directly impacted rights protected by the U.S. Constitution. Accordingly, Defendant was a state 

actor for all purposes under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.


186. Defendant may attempt to argue that her actions were taken in a private or non-

governmental capacity. This argument fails for two reasons. First, Defendant’s authority existed 

only because the state appointed her under K.S.A. § 23-3210, and all of her actions—attending 

hearings, submitting reports, demanding payment for investigative duties—were done while 

exercising powers conferred solely by the state. Second, even where a party is partially 

compensated by private funds, courts consistently hold that state-authorized functions remain 

state action. See Jojola v. Chavez, 55 F.3d 488, 493 (10th Cir. 1995) (relevant inquiry is whether 

the function is traditionally exclusive to the state). Defendant used state power, not private 

discretion, and is therefore subject to constitutional scrutiny.


187. Defendant’s conduct is not insulated from liability simply because she made 

“recommendations.” Courts have held that when an official’s recommendations effectively 

determine the outcome of constitutional rights, they are actionable under § 1983. Defendant’s 

reports and findings were treated by the court as authoritative and caused suspension of parenting 

rights, despite being based on falsehoods. See Miller v. Gammie, 335 F.3d 889, 898 (9th Cir. 

2003) (officials who create or distort the facts upon which decisions are based may be liable 

under § 1983 even if they lack final decision-making authority).


188. Plaintiff suffered concrete, particularized, and continuing constitutional injuries including 

the suspension of parenting time, reputational harm, emotional distress, denial of fair process, 

retaliatory targeting, and obstruction of court access. These injuries are fairly traceable to 

Defendant’s misconduct under color of state law and are redressable through compensatory, 
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injunctive, and declaratory relief. See Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992); 

Carey v. Piphus, 435 U.S. 247, 264 (1978) (constitutional violations are compensable even 

absent monetary loss).


189. Even if Defendant were performing functions somewhat related to court processes, quasi-

judicial immunity is limited to duties that are “functionally comparable to those of judges.” 

Defendant’s actions—falsifying reports, suppressing evidence, demanding payment to complete 

a court-ordered investigation, and speaking ex parte to the judge—are not adjudicative or 

discretionary, but ministerial and administrative, and are therefore not protected by quasi-judicial 

immunity. See Antoine v. Byers & Anderson, Inc., 508 U.S. 429, 436 (1993); Snell v. Tunnell, 920 

F.2d 673, 687 (10th Cir. 1990).


COUNT XIII – VIOLATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION RIGHTS 


Plaintiff incorporates all prior paragraphs by reference.


190. The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment guarantees that similarly 

situated individuals must be treated equally by government actors.


191. Defendant Asher, acting under color of state law, intentionally subjected Plaintiff to 

disparate treatment by refusing to act on verified abuse, blocking his access to investigative 

records, falsely attributing parental alienation to Plaintiff despite full compliance with support 

orders, and engaging in ex parte communications and fabrication—all while showing deference 

to the opposing party without any investigative basis.


192. No legitimate government interest justified this unequal treatment. Her conduct was 

arbitrary, malicious, and carried out with retaliatory intent against Plaintiff for exercising his 

right to petition the courts.
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193. Defendant’s discriminatory conduct deprived Plaintiff of equal protection under the law, 

causing severe emotional distress, reputational harm, and legal injury.


194. These violations are actionable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and 

injunctive relief, as well as compensatory and punitive damages.


VII . ANTICIPATED IMMUNITY DEFENSES AND JURISDICTIONAL 

CLARIFICATIONS


195. Defendant is not entitled to absolute immunity. Absolute immunity is strictly limited to 

judicial officers and prosecutors performing core adjudicative or prosecutorial functions. See 

Mireles v. Waco, 502 U.S. 9, 11–12 (1991); Cleavinger v. Saxner, 474 U.S. 193, 201–02 (1985). 

Defendant Audra Asher’s role as a court-appointed custody investigator under K.S.A. § 23-3210 

was investigatory and administrative—not adjudicative. Her duties included gathering facts, 

interviewing witnesses, reviewing evidence, and making recommendations—not issuing final 

binding decisions. These investigatory tasks do not fall within the limited scope of absolute 

judicial immunity.


196. Defendant is likewise not entitled to quasi-judicial immunity. That doctrine protects non-

judicial officials only when they perform functions that are “functionally comparable to those of 

judges,” and only when acting within the scope of lawful discretionary authority. See Antoine v. 

Byers & Anderson, Inc., 508 U.S. 429, 435–36 (1993); Roland v. Phillips, 19 F.3d 552, 555 (11th 

Cir. 1994). Here, Defendant’s conduct—including failure to investigate abuse, ignoring critical 

medical and safety evidence, blocking Plaintiff’s access to case materials, fabricating a key 

allegation, demanding personal payment at a court hearing, and engaging in ex parte 

communication—was not discretionary or adjudicative. These were ministerial and unethical acts 

carried out in bad faith and outside the scope of her lawful duties. Quasi-judicial immunity does 
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not protect such misconduct. See Snell v. Tunnell, 920 F.2d 673, 687 (10th Cir. 1990) (no quasi-

judicial immunity for acts not “integral to the judicial process”).


197. Defendant is also not protected by qualified immunity. Qualified immunity shields 

government officials only when their conduct does not violate “clearly established” 

constitutional rights of which a reasonable official would have known. See Mullenix v. Luna, 577 

U.S. 7, 11 (2015). The rights violated here—Plaintiff’s First Amendment right to access the 

courts, his Fourteenth Amendment rights to fair process and familial integrity, and his right to be 

free from state-enabled abuse and retaliation—were clearly established at the time of 

Defendant’s actions. No reasonable custody investigator could believe it was lawful to:


• Demand personal payment at a hearing while withholding findings on child abuse;


• Suppress photographic and medical evidence;


• Deny access to court-submitted materials;


• Fabricate allegations about a parent’s courtroom conduct; or


• Remain silent on verified threats to child safety while acting under color of law.


Each of these actions shocks the conscience and violates well-established law. See Currier v. 

Doran, 242 F.3d 905, 917 (10th Cir. 2001); Hartman v. Moore, 547 U.S. 250, 256 (2006); Carey 

v. Piphus, 435 U.S. 247, 264 (1978). Because Defendant’s conduct was plainly unconstitutional 

and far outside the scope of reasonable state action, qualified immunity is not available.


Additionally, the Tenth Circuit has consistently held that court-appointed professionals are not 

shielded by immunity when they fabricate evidence, act with retaliatory animus, or exhibit 

deliberate indifference to constitutional rights. See Pierce v. Gilchrist, 359 F.3d 1279, 1297 (10th 

Cir. 2004) (holding a forensic analyst liable under § 1983 for falsifying evidence that caused 

wrongful detention); Snell v. Tunnell, 920 F.2d 673, 687–88 (10th Cir. 1990) (quasi-judicial 

immunity is unavailable to actors who perform investigatory or advocacy roles rather than 

adjudicatory functions); Trujillo v. Williams, 465 F.3d 1210, 1226 (10th Cir. 2006) (recognizing 
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access-to-courts claims where officials obstruct meaningful participation). Defendant’s conduct 

falls squarely within these prohibitions, as she fabricated material facts, obstructed Plaintiff’s 

access to courts, and engaged in retaliatory misuse of state authority.


198. Absolute immunity applies only to judges and prosecutors performing core adjudicative or 

prosecutorial functions, not to investigators or court-appointed professionals engaged in fact-

gathering, interviews, or administrative duties. Defendant was not making judicial decisions but 

rather conducting a discretionary investigation—poorly and with bias. Her role was not 

adjudicative, but executive and investigatory, which removes her from the shield of absolute 

immunity. See Burns v. Reed, 500 U.S. 478, 494–96 (1991) (no absolute immunity for providing 

legal advice or participating in investigation); Forrester v. White, 484 U.S. 219, 229 (1988) 

(administrative functions not protected by absolute immunity).


199. Quasi-judicial immunity does not apply where the official’s role is non-neutral, retaliatory, 

or ministerial. Defendant did not act with neutrality or impartiality; she fabricated a transcript 

claim, refused to investigate abuse, and demanded payment before submitting reports. Courts 

have repeatedly held that fabrication, selective enforcement, and financial coercion are not 

judicial in nature, and therefore not covered. See Antoine v. Byers & Anderson, Inc., 508 U.S. 

429, 436 (1993) (no quasi-judicial immunity for court reporters); Holloway v. Brush, 220 F.3d 

767, 775 (6th Cir. 2000) (no immunity where actions were investigatory and retaliatory).


200. Defendant is not entitled to qualified immunity because the rights she violated were clearly 

established at the time of her conduct. No reasonable custody investigator could have believed it 

lawful to fabricate evidence, obstruct court access, demand additional money to perform duties, 

or ignore child abuse while acting under court appointment. See Hope v. Pelzer, 536 U.S. 730, 

741 (2002) (“Officials can still be on notice that their conduct violates established law even in 

novel factual circumstances.”); Currier v. Doran, 242 F.3d 905, 917 (10th Cir. 2001) (qualified 

immunity denied for child protection officials who failed to investigate abuse and suppressed 

evidence).
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201. Moreover, courts have consistently held that constitutional misconduct involving bad faith, 

bias, or conscience-shocking behavior is not protected under any immunity doctrine. Defendant’s 

conduct—deliberate suppression of abuse evidence, ex parte communication with the judge, and 

viewpoint retaliation—goes far beyond negligence. These actions constitute intentional 

constitutional violations, for which no immunity applies. See Malley v. Briggs, 475 U.S. 335, 

341 (1986) (qualified immunity not available when officials act unreasonably or maliciously); 

Tonkovich v. Kan. Bd. of Regents, 159 F.3d 504, 527 (10th Cir. 1998) (retaliatory targeting and 

denial of due process strip immunity).


202. Defendant cannot claim immunity while simultaneously invoking court authority to harm 

Plaintiff. The Supreme Court has made clear that immunity doctrines do not protect those who 

“clothe their conduct in state power while violating constitutional rights.” See Scheuer v. Rhodes, 

416 U.S. 232, 238 (1974) (“Officials must answer for abuses of power that result in injury.”). 

Defendant abused her state appointment for private gain, punished Plaintiff for protected 

advocacy, and blocked due process—all under color of law. Immunity does not extend to state 

actors who weaponize their role to harm individuals they are tasked to protect.


203. Defendant may attempt to invoke a subjective “good faith” defense. However, the good 

faith doctrine is not a defense to intentional constitutional violations, especially under 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1983. Where a state actor knowingly suppresses exculpatory information, fabricates evidence, 

or retaliates against protected conduct, there is no good faith defense as a matter of law. See 

Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 815 (1982); Devereaux v. Abbey, 263 F.3d 1070, 1075 (9th 

Cir. 2001). Defendant’s actions—including ignoring abuse, demanding money to perform state 

functions, and falsely representing court transcripts—were done knowingly and in retaliation, not 

in good faith.


204. Any defense suggesting that Defendant was acting privately because she was paid by the 

parties must fail. Compensation source is not dispositive of state actor status. What matters is 
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whether the power exercised was conferred by the state and used to impact constitutional rights. 

See West v. Atkins, 487 U.S. 42, 54–56 (1988). Defendant exercised public authority under court 

order. She used that authority to fabricate evidence, suppress abuse reports, and influence the 

suspension of Plaintiff’s parenting time. Regardless of who paid her retainer, she wielded power 

derived from the State of Kansas.


205. Furthermore, resolution of any immunity defense is premature at the pleading stage, 

because material facts remain in dispute regarding Defendant’s intent, knowledge, role, and the 

impact of her conduct. Courts routinely hold that immunity claims based on disputed facts 

should not be resolved on a motion to dismiss. See Gomez v. Toledo, 446 U.S. 635, 640 (1980); 

Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 236 (2009). Plaintiff has plausibly alleged multiple 

intentional constitutional violations, and these claims are not subject to immunity dismissal at 

this stage.


206. Defendant cannot invoke any immunity doctrine to shield her from accountability for 

deliberate constitutional violations. The law is clear: there is no immunity for fabrication of 

evidence, suppression of abuse, retaliation for protected speech, denial of access to courts, or 

interference with familial integrity under color of law. Defendant’s misconduct falls squarely 

within this category. The Constitution does not tolerate state actors who punish parents for 

advocating for their children or block due process by manipulating the system. Immunity ends 

where constitutional abuse begins.


207. Immunity does not apply to actions taken outside statutory authority. Defendant’s failure to 

fulfill her legal duties as a court-appointed investigator—including refusal to report suspected 

abuse, provide updates, or investigate safety threats—was not merely negligent; it was ultra 

vires. When officials act outside the scope of their statutory authority, they are not protected by 

immunity. Ex parte Young, 209 U.S. 123, 159–60 (1908); Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 238 

(1974).
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208. Younger abstention is inapplicable. The Younger doctrine bars federal courts from 

interfering in ongoing state proceedings only when:


1. the state proceeding is ongoing,


2. it implicates an important state interest, and


3. the plaintiff has an adequate opportunity to raise federal claims in the state forum. None of 

these conditions are met. Plaintiff’s claims challenge past constitutional violations 

committed by a court-appointed actor, not an ongoing custody proceeding. Moreover, Kansas 

courts have consistently refused to address Plaintiff’s constitutional claims, including the 

denial of his mandamus petition without explanation. Younger v. Harris, 401 U.S. 37 (1971); 

Sprint Commc’ns, Inc. v. Jacobs, 571 U.S. 69, 78 (2013).


209. Rooker-Feldman does not bar this action. Plaintiff does not ask this Court to review or 

overturn any state court judgment. Instead, Plaintiff brings an original federal civil rights claim 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 to seek redress for constitutional violations by a state actor. The Rooker-

Feldman doctrine does not apply to independent claims, even if the state court previously ruled 

on related issues. Exxon Mobil Corp. v. Saudi Basic Indus. Corp., 544 U.S. 280, 284 (2005); 

Skinner v. Switzer, 562 U.S. 521, 532 (2011).


210. This Court has jurisdiction. Plaintiff’s claims fall squarely within the jurisdiction of this 

Court under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343(a)(3). Defendant’s status as a court-appointed 

investigator acting under color of state law places her conduct within the purview of 42 U.S.C. § 

1983. This case is not barred by jurisdictional doctrine, nor is it subject to abstention or 

immunity.


VIII.  NO IMMUNITY SHIELD FOR CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATIONS


211. Defendant cannot invoke any immunity doctrine to shield her from accountability for 

deliberate constitutional violations. The law is clear: there is no immunity for fabrication of 

evidence, suppression of abuse, retaliation for protected speech, denial of access to courts, or 
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interference with familial integrity under color of law. Defendant’s misconduct falls squarely 

within this category. The Constitution does not tolerate state actors who punish parents for 

advocating for their children or block due process by manipulating the system. Immunity ends 

where constitutional abuse begins.


IX. RELIEF REQUESTED 


Plaintiff respectfully seeks comprehensive relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, the First and 

Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, and related provisions of federal civil 

rights law. Defendant Audra Asher, acting under color of state law and pursuant to her 

appointment as a custody investigator under K.S.A. § 23-3210, engaged in a sustained pattern of 

misconduct, dereliction of duty, retaliation, and conscious disregard for the safety of minor 

children and the constitutional rights of the Plaintiff. Her actions—and intentional refusals to act

—constitute violations of clearly established constitutional protections and have caused 

permanent, life-altering injury to the Plaintiff across multiple dimensions, emotional, physical, 

financial, reputational, legal, and parental.


Defendant’s inaction in the face of photographic abuse, her refusal to contact authorities, her 

unauthorized presence at a court hearing where she was not listed as a party, and her retaliatory 

demand for personal payment during that hearing—all constitute abuse of authority, breach of 

ethical duties, procedural ambush, and constitutional injury.


Plaintiff further emphasizes that his separate civil lawsuit against Kansas DCF and CSS is 

entirely unrelated to the claims against Defendant Asher, except in the sense that her dereliction 

of duty directly forced the necessity of that second suit. Defendant cannot diminish her own 

liability by pointing to the misconduct of others that she enabled through her silence and 

obstruction. These are separate legal matters pursuing distinct parties for distinct failures.
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Moreover, Plaintiff has strong reason to believe that Defendant’s surprise appearance at the July 

29, 2024 hearing—despite a written notice from the Court Clerk naming only the Plaintiff, the 

children’s mother, and the presiding judge as attendees—was not coincidental. Defendant had 

not participated in any active proceedings for over a year, had not filed a withdrawal of 

appearance, and yet appeared without invitation, notice, or court directive, solely to demand 

$803 in payment while refusing to acknowledge any of the constitutional issues raised. Plaintiff 

respectfully requests that this Court authorize discovery into whether any ex parte 

communication, judicial impropriety, or procedural corruption facilitated Defendant’s improper 

appearance. This act suggests potential backchannel coordination and raises serious due process 

concerns.


In light of the ongoing impact and scope of these injuries, Plaintiff requests the following 

specific relief:


1.    Compensatory Damages – $4,000,000


- Plaintiff seeks $4,000,000 in compensatory damages to account for:


A. The deprivation of Plaintiff’s fundamental liberty interest in the care, custody, 

companionship, and decision-making rights over his children, a right repeatedly upheld by 

the U.S. Supreme Court. See Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57 (2000); Santosky v. Kramer, 

455 U.S. 745 (1982);


B. Severe emotional trauma, including chronic anxiety, grief, hopelessness, humiliation, and 

deep psychological pain resulting from Defendant’s refusal to protect Plaintiff’s children 

despite urgent and credible evidence;


C. Ongoing stress and mental anguish due to Defendant’s refusal to report or act on life-

threatening abuse, her concealment of court filings, and her intentional obstruction of 

Plaintiff’s participation in his own custody case;
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D. Denial of access to his children, stemming from Defendant’s calculated silence and failure to 

report misconduct that would have otherwise triggered state intervention and court 

protection. 

These damages reflect the real, tangible costs of Defendant’s constitutional violations, which 

have affected every aspect of Plaintiff’s daily life, parenting, and peace of mind.


2.   Consequential Damages – $1,500,000


- Plaintiff seeks $1,500,000 in consequential damages for:


E. The time, energy, and legal burden required to file a second federal civil rights lawsuit 

against Kansas DCF and CSS;


F. The stress, duplication of effort, and increased emotional strain of pursuing separate legal 

actions that would have been entirely unnecessary had Defendant fulfilled her duties;


G. The financial cost of preparing filings, organizing evidence, and navigating legal barriers 

erected by multiple state agencies emboldened by Defendant’s refusal to intervene;


H. Foreseeable downstream harms enabled by Defendant’s silence, which forced Plaintiff to 

undertake a protracted legal battle to safeguard the rights and safety of his children. 

See Malley v. Briggs, 475 U.S. 335, 344 n.7 (1986) (constitutional tortfeasors may be held 

liable for all foreseeable consequences of their actions or omissions).


3.  Procedural Obstruction Damages – $1,500,000


- Plaintiff seeks $1,500,000 for procedural obstruction, including:


A. Defendant’s revocation of Plaintiff’s access to her secure investigative portal, depriving him 

of access to court-mandated records, investigative findings, and rebuttal opportunities.


B. Intentional concealment of evidence and exculpatory records, rendering Plaintiff unable to 

respond to findings that impacted his rights as a parent;
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C. Denial of a fair and meaningful opportunity to be heard, a cornerstone of procedural due 

process, in violation of Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319 (1976). 

This obstruction significantly impaired Plaintiff’s ability to advocate for his children and 

participate in a lawful, adversarial process.


4.  Punitive Damages – $2,000,000


- Plaintiff seeks $2,000,000 in punitive damages to deter and punish the egregious misconduct  

of defendant      


A. Her ambush-style appearance at the July 29, 2024 hearing—without court order, notice, or 

legal basis—which directly undermined the fairness of the proceeding.


B. Her refusal to present evidence, speak to the judge, or acknowledge abuse, while 

simultaneously demanding a personal financial payment of $803;


C. Her retaliation against Plaintiff for asserting his First Amendment right to petition the 

government for redress of grievances. See Nieves v. Bartlett, 139 S. Ct. 1715 (2019); 

Hartman v. Moore, 547 U.S. 250 (2006);


D. Her callous indifference and conscience-shocking abuse of authority, which contributed 

directly to ongoing harm, both to Plaintiff and his children. 

Punitive damages are warranted where state actors exhibit reckless disregard for 

constitutional rights. See Smith v. Wade, 461 U.S. 30, 56 (1983); Hope v. Pelzer, 536 U.S. 

730, 739 (2002).


5.  Medical and Psychological Damages – $1,500,000


- Plaintiff seeks $500,000 to compensate for documented medical and psychological harm, 

including:


A. Diagnosed hypertension and stress-related illness;
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B. Chest pain, insomnia, panic attacks, and sustained physical symptoms resulting from 

prolonged injustice and institutional gaslighting;


C. Ongoing need for prescription medication and mental health care, supported by medical 

records and expert opinion;


D. Inability to maintain consistent health, energy, or focus due to emotional trauma caused by 

Defendant’s failure to intervene when she had the clear authority and obligation to do so. 

These injuries are not speculative—they are real, diagnosable, and traceable directly to the 

stress and harm caused by Defendant’s misconduct. See Carey v. Piphus, 435 U.S. 247, 264 

(1978); Doe v. District of Columbia, 796 F.3d 96, 116 (D.C. Cir. 2015).


6.  Economic and Reputational Damages – $500,000


- Plaintiff seeks $500,000 to compensate for:


A. Substantial losses to his small business, including decline in revenue, inability to take on 

new clients, and loss of contracts due to ongoing legal stress and medical limitations;


B. Damage to his professional reputation and perceived stability, which is essential to his 

livelihood and business credibility;


C. Financial strain caused by lost work hours, emotional exhaustion, and diverted time required 

to litigate against a public official who refused to protect his children. 

When constitutional violations foreseeably interfere with a person’s livelihood, courts 

recognize a right to recover. See Memphis Community Sch. Dist. v. Stachura, 477 U.S. 299, 

307 (1986).


7.  Injunctive Relief


- Plaintiff seeks a permanent injunction barring Defendant and all similarly situated court-

appointed investigators from:


A. Appearing at hearings without formal notice or appointment authority;
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B. Demanding monetary payments during hearings involving constitutional issues;


C. Blocking or revoking access to court-mandated investigation materials;


D. Failing to act on documented reports of abuse, impersonation, or paternity fraud;


E. Suppressing or concealing evidence material to a parent’s due process rights. 

Such injunctive relief is necessary to prevent recurring constitutional violations and is 

authorized under Ex parte Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908) and Milliken v. Bradley, 433 U.S. 

267, 280 (1977).


8.  Declaratory Relief


- Plaintiff seeks a judicial declaration that:


A. Defendant acted under color of state law and violated Plaintiff’s First and Fourteenth 

Amendment rights;


B. Defendant’s continued appointment and presence at the July 29, 2024 hearing constituted 

retaliatory and unconstitutional conduct;


C. Her failure to act constituted deliberate indifference to ongoing child abuse and due process 

violations. 

Declaratory relief serves the public interest by establishing clear boundaries for state-

appointed agents and ensuring constitutional compliance. See Steffel v. Thompson, 415 U.S. 

452, 466–67 (1974).


D. Prospective injunctive relief against the State of Kansas, the Rush County District Court, or 

other state entities as discovery may reveal, including a request for training, disciplinary 

procedures, or ethical guardrails to prevent further constitutional violations under Ex parte 

Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908).
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9.  Attorney’s Fees and Costs


- Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988, Plaintiff seeks reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred 

during this litigation, including those to be incurred if legal counsel is retained for trial or 

appeal.


10.   Total Relief Requested: $11,000,000 

In total, Plaintiff respectfully requests monetary, declaratory, and equitable relief in the amount 

of Eleven Million Dollars ($11,000,000), plus all other relief deemed just and proper by this 

Court, in order to:


A. Vindicate Plaintiff’s constitutional rights;


B. Redress physical, emotional, financial, and reputational injury;


C. Expose misconduct and ensure transparency;


D. Deter future violations by court-appointed officers and state actors.


X. CONCLUSION


Defendant Audra Asher, acting under color of state law, failed in her legal and ethical duties as a 

court-appointed custody investigator. Her deliberate inaction in the face of verified child abuse, 

paternity fraud, and medical neglect enabled continued harm to the Plaintiff’s children and 

caused significant emotional, financial, and physical injury to Plaintiff. Despite being legally 

empowered to intervene, Defendant prioritized her own financial interests, obstructed access to 

investigation materials, and retaliated against Plaintiff for asserting his constitutional rights.


Defendant’s misconduct was not isolated, accidental, or minor. It reflects a consistent pattern of 

indifference, retaliation, and abuse of authority that directly violated Plaintiff’s First and 
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Fourteenth Amendment rights. Her actions—and repeated failures to act—shocked the 

conscience, undermined the integrity of the judicial process, and inflicted permanent harm on 

Plaintiff’s health, parental rights, and livelihood.


As a result, Plaintiff was forced to petition the Kansas Supreme Court for extraordinary writ 

relief and to initiate a second civil rights lawsuit against Kansas DCF and CSS. These burdens, 

born of Defendant’s dereliction of duty, represent a profound injustice that demands redress. This 

Court has both the authority and the obligation to provide that redress under established 

constitutional and statutory principles.


Plaintiff respectfully requests that the Court grant all forms of relief sought herein to uphold the 

rule of law, protect the rights of parents and children, and deter future violations by state-

appointed officials who act outside their lawful authority and in disregard of fundamental rights.


XI.  STATEMENT OF VALUES AND MORAL INJURY


Plaintiff is a parent who values honesty above all—especially when it concerns the welfare of 

children. It has been one of the most painful experiences of his life to witness not only abuse 

against his children, but to also face dishonesty and betrayal by court-appointed professionals 

entrusted to protect them. Defendant Audra Asher, in her capacity as a custody investigator 

appointed under state law, violated this sacred trust. She failed to conduct a meaningful 

investigation, ignored material evidence, fabricated claims unsupported by the record, and 

appeared in court to demand money—while turning a blind eye to ongoing abuse. These failures 

are not just legal violations—they are moral violations.


Plaintiff finds it heartbreaking that those entrusted with authority would use it to harm, rather 

than protect, children and the parents trying to safeguard them. Defendant’s refusal to admit her 

errors or confront the harm she caused reflects a deeper problem of institutional dishonesty that 

Plaintiff has experienced throughout his involvement with the Kansas court system. Plaintiff 
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continues to believe that truth matters—and that accountability leads to healing. While he cannot 

force an apology or admission from Defendant, Plaintiff is pursuing this action in the hope that 

justice, truth, and transparency will ultimately prevail—not only for himself, but for the 

protection of all children subjected to similar failures.


XII. JURY DEMAND


Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by 

jury on all issues so triable.





Respectfully submitted,


/s/Tyce A. Bonjorno


605 W South St., Suite 271


Leander, TX 78641


(512) 579-1329


tyceanthony@me.com
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XIII. LIST OF ATTACHED EXHIBITS 


The foregoing exhibits are submitted in support of this Complaint and reflect only a portion of 

the documented failures by Defendant. Plaintiff possesses additional evidence, communications, 

and witness information that will be disclosed through the discovery process, further establishing 

the breadth and severity of Defendant’s investigative inaction and constitutional violations. 


Exhibit A – December 2020 Motion describing allegations that the children’s mother poured hot 

and cold water on the children, her boyfriend was on Indiana’s Most Wanted list, Defendant 

failed to investigate. Motion was denied, yet Defendant ignored clear documentation of abuse. 


Exhibit B – Photo evidence of bruises and burns on Plaintiff’s son Summer 2024, plus prior 

dental neglect including rotten teeth and required general anesthesia. Includes documentation of 

parasites and blood in stool. Defendant never investigated or contacted any doctors. 


Exhibit C – At the time defendant filed her recommendation to the court she stated she reviewed 

all 644 messages on Our Family Wizard. There was over 1250 messages at the time of her filing. 


Exhibit D – Text messages from Texas CPS Investigator Terri Barnes, confirming she was never 

contacted by Defendant. Despite Defendant was provided Texas CPS name and number, no 

investigation occurred. Included in the text messages, Terri Barnes stated the children told her 

their mother try to drown them. Furthermore, Terri Barnes stated she was never contacted by 

defendant. 


Exhibit E – Image of Plaintiff’s prescribed medication bottle (for hypertension), linking physical 

harm to Defendant’s repeated inaction. 


Exhibit F – Confirmation from Rush County Court Clerk stating Defendant Audra Asher never 

withdrew from her appointed role, contradicting her defense posture. 


Exhibit G – Formal written objection by Plaintiff’s prior counsel (filed Sept. 8, 2023) 

highlighting the unreliability of Defendant’s custody recommendations. 
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Exhibit H – Plaintiff’s Petition for Writ of Mandamus to Kansas Supreme Court asserting denial 

of due process during July 2024 hearing where Defendant appeared (without notice), remained 

silent, and demanded payment despite knowing of new allegations of abuse in 2024. 


Exhibit I – Screenshots of messages between Plaintiff and a La Crosse Kansas teacher regarding 

the “Momo” character used by the mother to scare the children. Includes Defendant’s dismissive 

responses characterizing Plaintiff’s concern as “tit for tat.” 


Exhibit J – Transcripts where Defendant falsely alleged in her recommendation to the court that 

Plaintiff said he wouldn’t return the children in a December 2020 hearing. Transcript shows this 

was untrue and Defendant misled the Court. 


Exhibit K – Photograph taken by La Crosse Kansas schoolteacher showing bruises on child at 

school pumpkin patch. 


Exhibit L - Defendant admitted she was a “State Actor” filed February 5, 2025, in response to 

plaintiffs civil complaint filed November 22, 2024. Attached is original Civil complaint and 

Defendants answer “both” highlighted.


Exhibit M — Lacrosse Kansas Police Report for abuse on a child from mother. Defendant Failed 

to investigate. 


Exhibit N - Police report showing Plaintiff was assaulted by mothers boyfriend. Defendant failed 

to investigate. 
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XIV.  VERIFICATION UNDER PENALTY OF PERJURY 


I, Tyce A. Bonjorno, declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of 

America that the factual allegations contained in this First Amended Complaint are true and 

correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief. 


Executed on April 10, 2025. 


Respectfully submitted, 


/s/ Tyce A. Bonjorno 

Tyce A. Bonjorno 

605 W. South St., Suite 271 


Leander, TX 78641 

(512) 579-1329 


tyceanthony@me.com 

Pro Se Plaintiff 


83

Case 5:24-cv-04111-HLT-BGS     Document 26     Filed 04/10/25     Page 83 of 84



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 


I hereby certify that on April 12, 2025, I mailed a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

document via US First Class Mail Certified to: 


Gaye B. Tibbets 

HITE, FANNING & HONEYMAN L.L.P. 


100 N. Broadway, Suite 950 


Wichita, KS 67202 


Respectfully submitted, 


/s/ Tyce A. Bonjorno 

605 W South St., Suite 271 


Leander, TX 78641 


(512) 579-1329 


tyceanthony@me.com 


Pro Se Plaintiff 
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Anna M. Jumpponen, #25805 
Knopp Law Group, P.A. 
310 W. Central Avenue, Suite 203 
Wichita, KS 67202 
(316) 265-5882 - phone 
(316) 265-5892 - fax 
annaj@knopplaw.com 

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF RUSH COUNTY, KANSAS 

TYCE BONJORNO, Individually and as Father ) 
and Next Fried of D.A.B., a Minor ) 
Child, I.L.B., a Minor Child, H.L.B., a Minor Child, ) 
Petitioner, ) 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 18-DM-19 
and 

TARA LYNN JENNINGS, 
Respondent. 
Pursuant to Chapter 23 of K.S.A. 

EMERGENCY MOTION TO MODIFY CUSTODY 

COMES NOW the petitioner, Tyce Bonjorno, by and through his attorney, Anna M. 

Jumpponen of Knopp Law Group, P.A., and hereby moves the court for an emergency order 

modifying custody. In support of this motion, petitioner states as follows: 

1. The parties are the parents of three minor children, to-wit: HAB (YOB 

2013), ILB (YOB 2014); and DAB, (YOB 2016). 

2. On March 30, 2020, this Court entered a Memorandum Decision. The Court 

ordered the parties would enjoy joint custody of the minor children, with respondent to be 

named as the residential custodian, subject to petitioner's rights of parenting time. 

3. The parties agreed that Petitioner would have an extended period of 

parenting time during the period of November 23, 2020 through November 29, 2020, 

because the respondent did not bring the children for petitioner's parenting time in the 

month of October, 2020 when she stated she needed to be tested for CO YID. 
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4. Prior to Petitioner receiving the children, he observed that HAB (YOB 

2013) and ILB (YOB 2014) appeared to have swelling in their mouths and/or cheeks. When 

Petitioner picked up the children, he immediately noticed that the swelling he observed in 

HAB (YOB 2013) and ILB (YOB 2014) was because they needed dental care. The children 

were taken to the dentist, who advised that both girls need oral surgery. ILB (YOB 2014) 

has eight cavities, five of which are so bad they are damaged to the root. HAB (YOB 2013) 

has six cavities -- one tooth is non-repairable, and four of the damaged teeth are adult teeth. 

In addition, Petitioner took DAB (YOB 2016) to the doctor about a cyst over his 

right eye. The doctor advised the Petitioner that the longer the surgery to remove the cyst 

is delayed, the larger the cyst will grow, and its removal will be more painful. 

Petitioner has repeatedly asked Respondent for information about the children ' s 

medical care, with no response. 

5. Petitioner further states that the children told him that they are in fear of 

the Respondent because she hits them with their hand and with hangers, and that she pours 

hot water on them while they are sleeping. The children said that Respondent has told them 

she will shoot them with a gun, and that she has a "bad button" that she will push and the 

police will come get the children to take them to jail. The children told Petitioner that 

Respondent and her live-in boyfriend, Darrin Schuckman, drink alcohol every night. The 

children further said that they have been threatened by Respondent not to tell Petitioner 

about the abuse, or she will push the bad button. Petitioner took a recording of the 

conversation. 

6. Respondent's live-in boyfriend, Darrin Schuckman, is on Indiana' s Most 

Wanted list. Petitioner fears for the safety of the children to be around an individual with 

Case 5:24-cv-04111-HLT-BGS     Document 26-1     Filed 04/10/25     Page 3 of 57



an unresolved criminal record. In addition, Petitioner is concerned about the example 

Respondent is setting for the children by condoning such behavior. 

7. Petitioner took the children to the local family advocacy center where they 

met with law enforcement. The detective told Petitioner that the children only said that the 

Respondent " spanks them" and "drinks a lot every day." The children later told Petitioner 

they were scared to speak to the police because of the Respondent' s bad button. 

8. Petitioner states that the Respondent is no longer providing a safe 

environment for the minor children, and that her actions and neglect amount to a material 

change of circumstances substantiating the filing of this motion. 

WHEREFORE, Petitioner requests that this court enter an order modifying the child 

custody orders, with Petitioner to be the primary residential custodian of the minor children, 

subject to Respondent's parenting time; that the Court enter an Order requiring Respondent to 

undergo a drug and alcohol evaluation; and for such further and other relief as the court deems 

fair, just and equitable. 

Respectfully Submitted: 

Isl Anna M. Jwnpponen 
Anna M. Jumpponen, #25805 
Knopp Law Group, P.A, 
310 W. Central Avenue, Suite 203 
Wichita, KS 67202 
(316) 265-5882 - phone 
(316) 265-5892 - fax 
annaj @knopplaw.com 
Attorney for Petitioner 
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STATE OF ------

COUNTY OF ----

) 
) § 
) 

VERIFICATION 

Tyce Bonjorno, of lawful age and first duly sworn upon oath states: 

Affiant, the Petitioner herein, states and verifies that Affiant is familiar with the contents 
of the foregoing and that the statements, allegations, and other matters contained in it are true 
and correct. 

TYCE BONJORNO, Petitioner 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me, a Notary Public, this _ day of December, 2020. 

NOTARY PUBLIC 

My Appointment Expires: 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, Anna M. Jumpponen, undersigned hereby certifies that on the I st day of 
December, 2020, she electronically filed or caused to be filed, the foregoing with the Clerk 
of the District Court by using the Kansas Judicial Branche-filing system, which will send 
notice of electronic filing to counsel of record within this action. 

/s/ Anna M. Jumpponen 
Anna M. Jumpponen, #25805 
Attorney for Petitioner 
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m Darrin Schuckman - Google Search 

Note: You stay anonymous 
when orovidino tios. 

• Russell Schuckman I Allen County Indiana Warrant I Indiana's Most Wanted I TheMostWanted.net I Free W, 

Darrin Russell Schuckman 
<< Return to County Listing 

DOB: 09/19/1970 

Gender: Male 
-- ---- - -.... ----
Race: White/Non Hispanic 
... - - -- -- -- -- -
Height: 5' 11" 
·- --- -- -------
Weight: 150 lbs 
----- -------
Hair: Brown 
-- ------- ---
Eyes: Hazel 

Tattoos (2): 
Descriptions of tattoos may contain content that some users 
may find offensive. See tattoo descriptions. 

Wanted For: 

W::arr:ant ill n~.11n~1 

AlR 
ARNOLD :, ,i RIDENOUR 
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Exhibit B 
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TedE. Knopp 
Email: tknopp@knopplaw.com 

Knopp Law Group, P.A. 
310 W. Central Avenue, Suite 203 

Wichita., KS 67202 
Phone: (316) 265-5882 

Fax: (316) 265-5892 

November 30, 2020 

Anna M. Jwnpponen 
Email: annaj@knopplaw.com 

Greg Schwartz 
greg@splaw. legal Sent Via Electronic Transmission Only 

Re: In the Matter of Bonjorno and Jennings 
Rush County, Kansas Case No. 18 DM 19 

Dear Greg: 

Please be advised that Tyce will not be returning the children to your client. Some of the things the 
children revealed to him were that they are scared of their mother, that she hits them with her hand and hangers, 
pours hot water on them while they are sleeping, that she will shoot them with a gun, and that she has a "bad 
button" and if she pushes it the police will pick up the children and put them in jail . Tyce took the children to a 
children's advocacy facility where they were interviewed. I do not yet have the police reports, but I have asked 
Tyce for the name of the law enforcement officer and the facility so I can obtain them. 

In addition, the children advised that Tara's live-in boyfriend, Darrin Schuckman, is on Indiana' s Most 
Wanted. The link for the list posting that he has an outstanding warrant is: 
http://www.themostwanted.net/Indiana/Allen/View/505127?pic= l&fbclid=IwAR3kjIMeWEbHDKLu0RsiizVv 
qlCKttISGT62W7DQz95jhxCvNrDhOebyMWc. In reviewing the warrant listing, it appears that he has an 
outstanding warrant for a DUI offense and failure to appear. Although this may very well be a non-extraditable 
misdemeanor offense, the fact that the children know that Tara's boyfriend is actively avoiding law enforcement 
for a criminal offense is extremely concerning, and indicative of a poor environment for the children. Tara is 
setting a horrible example for the children by allowing them to be around someone who is acting so 
irresponsibly . The children also advised that Tara and her boyfriend drink excessively, daily . On many 
occasions Tyce has asked Tara not to drink around the children, but this request, like so many others, has gone 
unheard. 

Tyce also took the children in for medical care. Indi and Hendrix were taken to the dentist, who advised 
that both girls need of oral surgery. Indi has eight cavities, five of which are so bad they are damaged to the 
root. Hendrix has six cavities, one tooth is non-repairable, and four of the damaged teeth are adult teeth. 
Dominic was taken to the doctor about a cyst that is over his right eye. He was advised that the longer the 
surgery to remove the cyst is delayed, the larger the cyst will grow, and its removal will be more painful. Tyce 
has repeatedly asked Tara about the children's medical care, with no response. 

Case 5:24-cv-04111-HLT-BGS     Document 26-1     Filed 04/10/25     Page 12 of 57



In the Matter of Bonjorno and Jennings 
November 30 2020 

Tyce does not believe the children are not in a safe environment with Tara, where they are subject to 
mental and verbal abuse, and their medical care is being needlessly neglected, and is refusing to return them to 
that environment. 

Thank you. 

AMJI 
cc: Tyce Bonjorno 

Very truly yours, 

Isl 
Anna M. Jumpponen 

Case 5:24-cv-04111-HLT-BGS     Document 26-1     Filed 04/10/25     Page 13 of 57



12/31/2020 

Rep<>rt Date: 12/30/2020 
sonJomo, Handrick 

OATE: 12/30/2020 

NOTE#1 
Pago 1 

IMG_0272.jpeg 

CLINICAL NOTES REPORT 
ALL NOTES 

12/30/2020 . 12/3012020 Noto.Dalo 
• Clinics: <ALL> 

Providers: <ALL> 
Encountoia: " ALL> 

Report Goneraled By: DRGILLHAM 
BIRTHDATE CHART SSN 
01 / 10/2014 

ENCOUNTER: 
Cllnlc Status 

HOME PHONE 
l512) 579-1329 

Tlmo 
1:30 :01PM 

Provider 
DRGILLHAM2 LEA-PEOO Approved 

Reason for visit: Limited Exam 
Patient name & DOB verified with Guardian Present: Father 
Age: 6 dob: 1/10/2013 
xrays: 1PA 

CC: tooth pain on LR 
Obtained verbal/written consent(s) for procedures completed today. 
Health Issues: ASA 1 • Healthy 
Drug Allergies: NKDA 
Current Meds: none 
Caries Risk: high 
Weight (lbs): 84.6 or 38.5kg 
Temp: 98.6 F 

Pathology: IO/EO soft tissue WNL 

Page 1 o11 

Clinical/Radiographic Findings: Child taking Children's Tylenol occasionally for pain , which I advised to 
continue prn. Gross decay & buccal abscess on #T . non restorable. No EO swelling noted. 

Referred to specialist for treatment under general anesthesia on 11125/20 for which no consult appt has been 
1y1ade per father of child, Tyce Bonjorno, due .to legal custody matters. Child . could also see OMFS Oral surgeon 
for, e_xt of #T. Child needs urgent care under GA and is at high risk for recurrent infection and pain should timely 

;C!r~'not be provided. • 

Father !1fafes a-Texas social worker should be assigned soon. He states that mom live.sin Kansas and both 
pa,jfes•: Iegal counsel are involved. I stated that at this. point it seems I have an ethical obligation to conta_ct 
DFJ?S - Teias:,CtiHd Protec:tive Services (CPS) and I did .so with confirmatio_n number 45e160~a 

Child resldes 1a_t,904,Laniana Ln, Leander TX 78941 and Tyce Bonjorno phone is·S'\2-579-'1329 

Rx Penlclllln YK;250mg(5niJi,sig 7ml q8h, disp 210ml, no refills to CVS at Phone: (512) 259-0'130 and 500 N 
Bagdad Rd, Leander; ifX 78641• 

Alternatives to treatment were,dfscussed as listed above. No treatment was discussed as an alternative. 
Risks/benefits were discussed. lnvitea and answered questions. Addressed CC and answered al\ (\uestions. 
Pt tolerated ,procedure well. 

BEH: F3 
Exam Assistant Zoe Santana, ROA 
Provider: Matthew Gillham DDS 
RTC: referto general anesthesia, or OMFS for ext of #T 

- Signed on Wednesday, December 30, 2020 at2,38:05,PM 
- Provider: DRGILLHAM2 - Matthew Gillham, DOS ...., Clinic: UEA,BEDO -

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/#inbox/FMfcgxwKkHhPNZVPdqShhJl]l.JsHWPMR?p ·ect 
TOJ or=1&messagePartld=0.1 

1/1 
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ELECTRONICALLY FILED 
2022 Jul 13 AM 8:55 

CLERK OF THE RUSH COUNTY DISTRICT COURT 
CASE NUMBER: 2018-DM-000019 

KENNEDY BERKLEY 
119 W. Iron Ave. - 7th Floor 
PO Box 2567 
Salina, Kansas 67402-2567 
T: (785) 825-467 4 
F: (785) 825-5936 

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF RUSH COUNTY, KANSAS 

TYCE BONJORNO, Individually and as 
Father and Next Friend of Dominic A. 
Bonjorno, lndi L. Bonjorno, and 
Hendrix A. Bonjorno 

Petitioner 

vs. 

TARA LYNN JENNINGS 

Respondent 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No. 2018-DM-000019 

SUPPLEMENT TO MOTION TO 
MODIFY RESIDENTIAL CUSTODY AND SUPPORT 

Comes now Petitioner, Tyce Bonjorno, by and through his attorney, Blake A. 

Bittel of Kennedy Berkley, and files this supplement to his Motion to Modify Residential 

Custody and Support filed on May 19, 2022. The purpose of this supplement is to inform 

the Court of new and additional circumstances that have occurred since the initial Motion 

was filed. These issues are serious in nature and concern the health and well-being of 

the children. 

In support of this Motion, Petitioner states as follows: 

1. Since the Motion was filed on May 19, 2022, school ended for the summer 

break and Petitioner picked up the children for the summer parenting time. 
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Tyce Bonjorno vs. Tara Jennings 
Supplement to Motion to Modify Residential Custody and Support 
Case No. 201 B-DM-000019 
Page2 

2. After picking up the children, it was discovered that all three children had 

blood in their stools and Petitioner took the children to Urgent Care for Kids - Cedar Park, 

Cedar Park, Texas. 

3. All three children were diagnosed with streptococcal pharyngitis and 

Melena. The diagnosis came following rectal strep testing. (See Exhibit "A") 

4. In layman's terms, the children all suffered from strep infection in and 

around their anus. A perianal strep infection is caused by bacteria called streptococcus 

which is the same bacteria that causes strep throat. Melena refers to black stools that 

occur as a result of gastrointestinal bleeding. (See Exhibit "B") 

5. It is unknown how long the children have had this untreated condition 

while they were with their Mother. The children stated that they noticed the bleeding back 

when their Mother lived at their old apartment which was approximately 8 months ago. 

6. The children told their Mother about the blood in their stools but she 

ignored their statements and would get mad because she did not want her toilet to get 

dirty. 

7. In the initial Motion, there is an incident described that took place on May 

19, 2022, where Respondent's boyfriend, Darin Shuckman threated physical harm to 

Petitioner. Following that incident, he was then arrested on May 30, 2022, for "domestic 

battery; knowing rude physical contact with family member or dating relationship." This 

raises even more concern regarding the children being exposed to violence while in the 

care of their Mother. (See Exhibit "C") 

8. One of the children told Petitioner that Respondent and Darin drink and 

fight every day and push each other around. Another stated that during one fight 

Respondent wrapped a towel around Darin's neck and was choking him. 
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Tyce Bonjorno vs. Tara Jennings 
Supplement to Motion to Modify Residential Custody and Support 
Case No. 2018-DM-000019 
Page3 

9. At the time the summer parenting time started, Petitioner attempted to set 

up times for Respondent to call the children. She did not follow through and she has not 

attempted to call and has had no contact with the children. 

WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing facts and circumstances and the 

facts set out in the original Motion to Modify Residential Custody and Support, Petitioner 

respectfully requests that the Court enter an order transferring residential custody of the 

parties' minor children from Respondent to Petitioner; and enter an order restraining 

Respondent and her significant other from threatening or harassing Petitioner, and for 

such other and further relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

/s/ Blake A. Bittel #23391 
KENNEDY BERKLEY 
119 W. Iron Avenue, 7th Floor 
PO Box2567 
Salina, KS 67402-2567 
T: (785) 825-4674 
F: (785) 825-5936 
E: bbittel@kenberk.com 
Attorneys for Petitioner 
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Tyce Bonjorno vs. Tara Jennings 
Supplement to Motion to Modify Residential Custody and Supporl 
Case No. 2018-DM-000019 
Page4 

VERIFICATION 

STATE OF KANSAS, COUNTY OF RUSH, ss: 

Tyce Bonjorno, of lawful age and being first duly sworn upon my oath, state that I 
am the Petitioner in the foregoing Supplement to Motion to Modify Residential Custody 
and Support; that I have read the foregoing Supplement to Motion to Modify Residential 
Custody and Support and aver that the statements and allegations contained therein are 
correct and true to the best of my belief. 

Tyce Bonjorno 

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me on June ___ , 2022, by Tyce 
Bonjorno. 

Notary Public 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that on July 13, 2022, the foregoing 
Supplement to Motion to Modify Residential Custody and Support was electronically filed 
with the Court using the CM/ECF System, which sent notification to all parties of interest 
participating in the CM/ECF System, and was forwarded via email properly addressed to 
the parties' and/or counsel's addresses show below who do not receive notice 
electronically via the CM/ECF System: 

Tara Jennings 
623 E. 6th Street 
LaCrosse,Kansas 67548 
tarajennings 7@gmail.com 
Respondent 

/s/ Blake A. Bittel 
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--ti, 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me on June / 2 , 20222022, by 

Tyce Bonjorno. 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

LISA ALEXANDER 
Noury ID #\32126518 
y Commission £xpir~ 

The undersigned hereby certifies that on July 13, 20222022, the foregoing 
Supplement to Motion to Modify Residential Custody and Support was electronically 
filed with the Court using the CM/ECF System, which sent notification to all parties of 
interest participating in the CM/ECF System, and was forwarded via email properly 
addressed to the parties' and/or counsel's addresses show below who do not receive 
notice electronically via the CM/ECF System: 

Tara Jennings 
623 E. 6th Street 
Lacrosse, Kansas 67548 

a:.l,CO!D 
Respondent 

/s/ Stake A Bjttel 
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Patient born ~t term, JlQ. CQmpll(.aUc:>.n~.-. 

Medfcal,Q;nditfoils Present: 
NQ previous or ongotng meclfr.al diagn()Se$. 

~e~tal conditions.present: 
Nodevelopmentat~~(s) ~nt.. 

COVID-19 H1st0r.y:·Nevet had_COW).;19 AND no lmmuniiatton 

SWBlal Htsto;y; 

I 
: 

I 
1· 
I: 

f 

I 
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Etedlonk:ally:~ by·~uef ~,. N.P. ,Ort 05/25/~()2~ 04:40~19 "'1 
Pf1n~ on OS/25/2022 at_ $:Zi pm, 

No previous surgeries 

r,roJW;Hlstp[y; 

fiO prevfql,ISly-d@QllQSed or <>ng()(ng medic:aJ p,:oblems aSSOciated With parents or sibilngs. 

Sodal_HlstDr:y; 

Uves wttfi: blofogk:al parent(s) 
currently. 1n Middle Schoot-

CVmmt ft9blems: 
~ -ReconJed 

AIJnJes: 
Last.~ on 5/2.4/2022.05:lS P~ bY REGMI, GONJ~ 
No -Known A~. -. . .. , . ~~ 

Culld tsd.kaV@; _ 
LasUbWiewed on 5/24/2022 OS:3' PM by REGMI, GtJNJA 
melamnln 

I 

CUtfffflt S/24/2012. 5:37:43 PM '. 
Wtl~-{96.960n.)T: 98.~ f y BP~. -~/6'f ~ Jig; P; 90 bprn;l R.; lO bpn,02 Sat:--"-

1 

CON$TITUTIONAL: Vital SlgriS ~~ The patient is wen deve~, ·Well nourished~ iri:no a 
He-AD::~; at'raUR\$ - j -- -

~; ~ ~ 0:XU~~ a.r~· '10lffl4S), ~ ~11(1-~ .lar'1'tO~nt$ I~ __ __ _ _ 
ENT/M~: non:1181 ~ ~ -~ -~ -~nic.m.embri,nes;- NOS¢:: norm.al ~I n, -~ • rn> ~ -_ 
d~ • ·•Otot>ha ·- -: e~1iOUIJ•~ pha • • • and tQnsfls• normal • • ta~. NO • • • • ~I ~ - ryrnc --- - -- - - - -- _aynx - . j • - - - ~ - - - . - -

NECK; Nedc ls.supple With full ~ bf motion; : 1 

2of4 

~TORY: normat respiratory rate and pattern with no dlstres$; riOrmaf breath sounds Wit :-no tale$, .rhondii., 
·--..L.-•l.:....~-•. I 1 ., 

- I • • C-.0t0V~R,: n~I PMI ~t; np thrills, ~ve.s, odllbi; normal rate anti ~m - _ ~~~;-_ 
norma.lSl and Si heart sounds with no S3 S4 rubs ot dk:ks•· btisk'taplHa . refill• -
-GAS'hl~~:-notrnal bowehiouru1$;'J1Q rtia~ ()f'~i-rJOIY~~ly -rec:$3 ~r normal tone; no 
~;no~ : - -
SKINt No ulcetatJons,; lesions or rashes are oob!d. 5k1n is generally ~tety wann and d,v.. • 
LYMPHAne:-no en~of-ceN.lcai nodes; no s~lar, .subocdpftal, periauriailar:or other nodes; 
HEU~QI,.~~~ ~ ~ an4 ~ for~ 

utttt•ses,ns; 
i •• "' -- • ~ !i .......... - - ~ ' -- ~ ' .,• ... .,·, ~ --..... .; . ,. .. -;~·"1'~J~T 

i 
c,,, •• -......... ......._ ............. 

I 
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Offlce/Outpatfent Visit 
\i'islt ~ Tue; 'May 24, 2022 DS;.tS pm . . : 
~ ·· Goyt:ia, ~l,lef,. N.P. (S~: 'tr~,. (lleryt, r-tP; ~ -nt ~MI, C3V~ MA)· 
L~ort:U~Qtr~·~~-P-al'k• 

~QJJy signed by Raquel. GQytia, .... P. on OS/25/2,022.04:40:19 PM 
.Printed .on OS./'1.5/2-022 .at 8:24 phi, ,; 

~TORY~lS: , 
l'tapld,CtoupAStrep: POSJTIVE• 

ere;·dLUt= 
~ pharyngitis 
Pattent''s'.visJt was Q)nd~ at:U. Cedar Parle dlilic. 
·~T...-sqJtpQeP: ~d-~ 

Assessment: 
JQ2.0 ~, .. i.,,. ' ' !tis 
' - ' ' ' 'IAl.""f'~ ~Milryng 
~~1 ~ 

~lpharyngltls ! . 
qrt :f'I.EDICATION:S ~eNDl:Q.:ac:etan.unophen an.d j~up~ J~ c:hifcj~ ~i6 month$ old Based on hislDty and 
·~ ftrldrngs~ ~I~- . . : ... · . . . . 
CARE RECOMMENDAllON.S Qiven, Include: AnlS.h complete (:()UrSe ~ ·~ -as~- If -' e ~-
tr"""""'-~O ... ~bledue bl fever .--- • it1.u. ·nadftn~z.-...a..-.ancfl •. ii,,~ (ti • l~its& ,. ·. · .A .. _;..; .;.wi...)· AMih 

la;JUl l fl' l \flill . . t ,,;:111ua! VF lfl•"~·~''"1Vf'~I ,'Of. "'t"""~' pa .... . . 1\1.f.P .t;PN~ .• ....... , 

·us1ng~anew ti:>othbrush 2.to 3 days.aftei:iirst ailtlbk>tlc:-oose~ 1 .. • • : • • 

EM~GEN(;V PIAN: A~-ernergency services or report kl emergency .departmenuor altered ·· :. • I status, conoem 
for ~ration, lethargy; respfra~ ~. or ~ paln·that ~ not improve ~te use. f tylenot andfor Motrin 
:f<)U.QW1JI>: .Advised to foliow up If .thefe'IS' oo lmprovern.erit In -2:;;~ :<Ji:ly($)~ • 

P:;esqiptJotjs; ' ' 
'[New bl amoxldfll ', 400 ....... ,5 • L'oral e •• ~,;;.. fo •. Recnnst:itutlon [g' ., 12 5 ml ho, mouth ce_a Af!IIU 'ic. 10,;f""~J-. # ·. n IJ'l:lf. 'm ' ' .~ •. ~ .. m r ' ' ,, ~ . ~ ' ' ' . . ' _, """'.7:'" r 

130 (one hundred and thirty) milll~_,.Refflfs: o (zero) • ' 

Qttiers·: 
<;n>upA ~IS dete<:tfon by·itnmunc:)aSSay with atre4~ Qbse~ O~J 

Melena~rartce iven.Ovetalld1tldfswell - ' rfriil. actwe arid,J,..,,;.,i.NO .. ~ ,avall ••• ttfmeofvfsft'to g . . appea ·~ . I t'll;IJ\1..... _ ~•i...,.,• . ,. _ . , a.: . . , , .... 
~for ~ffl9CUlt.-~ treatment ptanwfth Dad, aisttor SUiol analysis, homecolfec:tar ldt•QMm..I~-to 
obtain ·men If mptom amtfnue ~ .treatment.. ·1tr~'ED l'ln:tiNIIJtlons iven ·vemallzed • •• •• .. • • • • and 

••' . • _speQ ,, , ' , 'Sor -~ •, '• · -- ~ . ' ' '-'( ...-,- g ( . ng 
.ag,e witti plan c,f <;a~. ' ' ,. • 

bl • • nosis and Protedur· • ·s· um~ary: . ag .. _.. . . ... e .. •11!1 . 
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,......,,_.,., 
--~'11$1t __ .. .. .. .. .. . ,, ... . 
,Ylslt~T~, r4ayi1,:;20~~:1s-pm . . . .. . . . 1 . . . . . . . 
,rovlder:.Goytlai Raquel, ·N.P. (SUpervlsQr:Trexler, Cheryl, MO; ~ ~ GUNlAt MA) 
l.oQldor.: ~ :()~for !Qds~ Park • • •• 

Eledronfcally signed by Raquel GoyttaJ N.P. on 0~2s12O22 04·:40:19 FfM' 
• Printed on 0$/25/20'12. at 8:24 pm. ' 
~:i~ 

ADDENDUM$: 

Aciciendum:·.QS/25/20~ 06:17. Pf:4 • G.oytia, -~ 

'Per parent.request, ~TC-furteicfal strep test. Results: +Posltfve for ~f mfedlon,. amt:fnu _.·Wlffi treatment plan 
~ prevfousJy discussed. : • r 

l . 
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1 of4 

i 

etectronk:alJv signed by Raquel Goytia, N.P. on 0S./25/20"1:l 04:43;10 PM 
Printed.Qil. OS/~/20U ~t S:23 pm. 
subjective: 
.m.,DOMINIC ls·a S ~ 8 mc>nths White~~ tte)s an 8$f.abffshed pat:ief'it., H¢ presents with. iQOd in swc,I. 
~ :details: • . ¥ided a...:. the ;.,,-..Hanf #,,other. ™ hkf>Nou • T ' •• •• , - ~-... A - ..... the j ,,......."'nlf . lad{df ••~.•, . .. . ~ pro .. .. "'' . ~• $ •~ . . . "-"' rema OS tnannp.n;;u;.v.ue w ut.mu s 
~le4ge regarding patient ~nd µna~ to .obtain fid)J11$mty .due to: split J\ousehold. l'li'lmwllmtio s are up ~ date ancf 
~,n schedule. • 1 

COVX0-19 SCREENING QUESQONS: _.......... . . , 
Has patient hati ~e·toCCJnfi~ ,cir~ ((Mb-i:~ qlSe.?'No ~ : ! 
.Ha$ ·~~~~ ~ -®Vt~19 teSt if.I the Jia$t 14 .days? No. . : 
In the l'\ltst.14 ,1....., has~.· -· il•Vislted "" 1blk: nl<ll"Al!$Ud1 • ~u 5tbte$, •• •.. • st.ores· i!' urants . ific, . rks . . . ...,. .. _,..,,~ . .-~,... . . eny.,... ...-- as ' groce,v. ' . ~ 'PU pa . ~ 
• 1..-i.ofworstii · : • ·-ttons ~,,..._.of iliNI, orusecr· ·b11c....._?Yes .P~ , ..... P, _gi:1$;;:i!'W .. .. -..•:~~ .... "'.""-."( . . . . ,pu 1.Ulf"""· , 

8211' 

P0MIN1C is belog ~ tQQay ,for Bl.,000 IN STQQL, li ~o 4 dal1$:agq. iH~ df-mitd Intensity,; ' o!~ .ffiil ~ 
.,....,.,..;,.totreat • . nt~~. ~- ' - ssodated ••• """""""· Denlesfever yid.NoPMH ~, •• Gl·disordefs .rio •·•,~ .. _ ... ~.,•,vm... ,~ .~~ ,,,.'!i' ~ ~ . syrn~,..,. . . .. . . _ .. r . I'. . ,-~ or' . . , 
fa!JillY h.)sb)ry .. +:A!Cent c/P ~Hon~ • • • 
~ • : 

CONSTrnJTIONAL:· ,Negative for fatigue# fever and ~ht~-
IMS: NeQaUve ror·e,e drainage and eye-redness. 
£/N/T: N~ for ear pain, nasai ~, mtnorrhea and $()te tt'!i'9at- No He(natemesfs~ .N 
C\1U>t0.VA.$CULAR; NegatfVe for c.yanotic s~ls and edema. 
RESJ)lR.AtORY: .~tJve (Qr ·c»ugh:and labored breathiflS~ 
G.AS1T«)1NTESTINAL: Positive fqr·amstlpation and blood in aot ~ fQr ~1~1 • • in, d.~~., .~ . 
orvomfflrlg. i 

GENITOURINARY: N~t;o,e .(Qr <U~tw uri~tiiJg a~ <IV$1.1ria. . ! _ 
MOSOJLOSKB.ETAL.: ~~- fQr tirti~ :or )>Int pain, ioiot swet_llhg; ~ -gait abnorina1,-. 

~~~:rN::==~a;::.~ m ot~U$fie$~ 
HEMATOLOGIC/L YMPHAUC: ~ative for excessive. brulslng and fymphadenopathy. 
ENDOCRINE: Negative-for potrdlps1a and polyurla. • ' • -
AU.ERGIC/IMMONOL()Gl(; Nega~ for ~t/~~ ~~~·J;,d ~tja. 

PMt Medk;al History I ·,-a,niav..., /:st;g1J llJitmY: 

Last;~ on 5/24/2022-0S°i34 PM by RfGMI, ·GUNJA 
past Hedk@I fflslm; • 
Bf rfll history: • 
Patient born at term, !'lO Q..lmplicatlo0$,, 

Medical Conditfans Present•: 
No prevtous ot ongoi~ medical diagnoses. 

Developmental condlttons present 
No developmental ()Oll~n(s) present.. 

c6w>,. it tflStDfy: Never haci COVID-19 ANO',ilo tmtnu~ticm 
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i 
~lly" slgried, by Raquel &ytla, N.P. on 05/2$/20'22. 04:43:10 PM 
Primed on OS/25/202i atS:23 pm. • 

SvmJcat Wstona 
No .---r .... .r·.ro,........,es 

~~w~~ ~•~ 1 

_fi·mDJ.·HJdUY; 

No previously diagnosed or ongoing .medlc:al probtt,m!ii assoctawd with pa~ or ~ngs. 

SodafHlstom . 

~tiR==t(s) 

Qin-~. 
()cular ,atn, unspedfled eye 
f<)lllq.lJan:yst;ofthe skin an4 SQ~~ Qssue, unspecifled 

Afi919ies: • i 

b1st Reviewed <Jn. 5/24/'1JJ22 05:34 PM by REGMI, GUNJA 
No Known· AHergies: 

·<:vn,ntMedlall9nfi ·- :. .. . . .. • .. 
~-~ <>n 'S/24/2D22 .OS:34 .PM by REGMI, GUHlA 
~ • 

Ob" dive: . · · " -··- ... .. 

yitali; 

QJmmt: ~/24/lOli 5:34:20 PM . . . . . i• . . , . . . 

~: 19;8 kO {46.Q4o/o)T: 98 .. 6 F;, BP: 100/67 mm Hg; P: 90 bpm; iR:. 24 bpm02 $atl ·98 0/o 

e@Dit 

~~~ \lf~lstg~ re~; ~ -patfem is ~11 ~; ·w_elf ~~ in nQ ~~,-~ 
~; ~; atn:iu~tJ.c . 
EYES: Bd$ nd •. •unctfva · • • no • 1- PERRI.A aoo extraocula • movements intact· , a . a>nJ a~ nna,., . , r . . . .. . , . , 
- IMftlffll• i10t'IMI external udlhvu -- and Nm . - • ~hranes• u-...: ..-..., ..-.. , m· IU"nil::11_ ...,.ll;f.-.-.••.,• .a '"""'1 UIIIQO .,,.._.,pan(( 111"olll"I' . I~ '""''O"'il ,_ . .. 

-~ ·Oropharyrlx: ·erythematous posterior pha,ymc; ~ palate; NO posmnor phary . • 
Ji-~ -~ .1$ SllP* Wit,h. ™-" ra.nge.9f·_mottm.; • , 
~TI)R)'; ·nc,rmal respt~tory ... ctnd -~~ W!th no ~i' ~ -~ ~ y,t •. '·IIO rates, ,rhortchli. 
~~rub$; '. . . : .. • .· . • 
CARDJOVA$0JI.ARi ~ _,Ml tcxatiQll;; notmaltate; regwat tfi'Ahm; ~ -~urs; ~ -- '. • laJy ~; . 
GASQ.OlffTESTINAl: notmai bowel sounds~ no masses or~; "° organoniegaly . .- • 11 exam: ~, tone; "1t> 
mas5e5-; no hemOrittOfds • • 
SKIN: ~ -perfanal erythema.:ls noted. Skin '5 generally ~pptop~ warm and dry. 
LYMPHATIC: noeniatgement of.cervlcal nodes; notexammed; • ; 
NEUROLOGtc:·~~ neurotoglc,~ $nd-~oat'Jpn for. 

j 
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l.A8QRA10RY RESIJL lS: 
•~G • Ac..-.: POSITIVE · --r.- . rou.P -~ . 

Assessme11t: 
J02.b ~tv+At ha "'tis : . !"'"""'.,_ P . .. l'Yrt!:1' . 
m.oo ~pat.ton, u~fied 
U9.0 .Pr\ltttus ani 
k92.1~ . 

Plan: 
f 

i 

' 

' ' ' 
r 

t 
; 

' 

~ .~ltls f i ore Ml;D~CAllONS ~MENQEO: acetanimophen ~ ibuprofen ~itc:hlfdret over 6 rnomttt c,1•· ,Based i:,n b~ :and 
examfinl:J'1119s suggest~ mfect:fc)n. r 
CARE REc.Q_MMf;NDATIONS given fndiid.e: f:il'lish.corrii>~ course.<lf'.a~ as ~be.d-, If .. ~tis .. 
unc:iomfortable ~ to fever, ~uce it'by 9Mng acetamf~n-and/or lb\lprofen (for ~ts 6 • onth$ al'.ld Qtder). Begin 
Qsillg a neW t®.thbrush 2 to 3 ~Y$ •tmr first a'1t:ibfotlc dose, :· • . 
~~GeNCY Pt.AN.; Aq:tvate ~ sei'Ytte$ or report.to~~ depa~t tons~ mentatslab.1$; wncem 
fof~ydratidn, lethargy, respirator, distressl or inte,ose pain that dO.es not,tmptOVe· ~lte ~ <>f Tylenol and)« ."10tffil 
f()ll()W~UP; ~ . t9 fQllqw ~p if~ !S _no·l~t in 2-3:~S}. 

l : 

~: ·. ' 

[Queued New Rx] arnoxfdUfn 400 "'915 mtoraJ_SUspension tor~ {g'lve u.s mt • '.JnOtrttl ~ -a._(jay x 10 
days], #130 (one hundred and thll'.tY) miifOtters, ~: o (zero): : , ,. 

; !· 
'Ord¢£$; j 
• Group A~~ by tmmunoa,ssay Wll:fi:dlrf!:tt optldlJ 'Ob$efvatjon (lr>-J19u • ' 

~.,..u..., ~,;ause of lJloqd i.n - .r1ueJ dJnSllpali\)n, ~ • , s1119ilbuoW vi1itier 
fntalce. ;· • 

i 
Pruritus anHteassurance gtven, no t«taJ bleeding, or fissures noted, Suspect kx;at~ trritati' n due to 
constf~/~ In~. Rl'C instri.K:tloris, given; ver:b.al~ u~lldiflQ. • • 

i 
"elena~rallee given. ~II child Is well appearl"91 ~~/ and playful. No-~n f;i ilabJe. a.t :µme of~~ 
.~ for her'ntn~lt ~ treatment P'an \Vith·Dad, -~ tot stool anatvs.tsz home d)I • . klfgtWm. i:~ to 
.obtain ~men if $Vffiptoffls a;ot1nue (Jespite t:reabllent. RTC/EQ precautions {#Ven, ,wrt,al~ : ~i.oo ~ -• 
--.;.- with plan .Qf c.a~, I . 

' l 
.f 
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■ I ·e,.-Jlif· TE 
Offla!/OUtpadentVlslt 
Visit Data: 'Tue, May 24., 2022 0$:31 pm .. . . .. 
P.r.ovlden :~~ -~~ "~P. (Supetvlsqr;_ Treder, d,eryl, MP; ~ REGM~i GUN.lA; M.A) 
tocatlon: Urge.ot ~ for l<fd,s~ i>artc: 

Efettrpnk;aJIV slgnec,l:by ~el Goytla; N;P. on 05/25/2022. 04:4~:io ,;-, 
. Printed~ ost,2S/2Q~ at a:23 p;n. ! 
Dktfl~sJs and Procedure summary: • 

e,JniarY Qiiinoslii .. 
l&Q Stiepwoocx:ai pbaryOgltl,s 

'Orifm:s; : 
81$80. Group A$treptocoa:Os ~ by lmmuooassay with dired;optk;al observation (In-Hou ·) 

• ,: 

KS9..00 .Qmstipation, unspecified 
:L29.0 PrurftiJs' arii 
K92.1 Melena 

ADDENDUMS: f 

~um; ri!,fi!j(i(122 06:lBPM .. ~ Rqquel 

4of 4 

.Pe; parent t'equest,. rm: for tectai strep test. Results: +Positive for ~too;K:atl in~, <:Orittn .•. wit.1'I ~t P~O 
as prevlously dlsaJSsea. ; 

i. 
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9 
Offke/Otitpatlent Vi$lt 
Visit~~ Tue,. May 24, Z02l 05;"28 pm . . . 
~ (;oytfa, ~l N.P. .. .(~~lsor~ Trexler~ Cheryl, MO; ~nt: REGMI, GUttlA, MA) 
t.c,ca~n: Urgent care for klds-Q!dar Park • 

~ .lcally signed b'f Raquel Goytia, N.P. on 05/25/2022 ()4:9():2()~ 
Pifnted on 05/25/2022 at8:23 pm; • 
Subjective: 

l 
1of'4 

~Pie 1$• a JJ yeats·3.months White femc,le. ThiS.is her first-visit to the dlnic. She pn!isentswi :blood In .... 
HistPfv ctetatts were pro~ .bv the petJent's ~tt\er; The hlstoly· reMatns incomplete due w the 1nt • . . . .. ~ ~of 
~ .rdlng' patient and.unable t.o obtain full hfstoly(lue to ~t h~sehOk;t-~ Jinroµnizattp_' ' .8.l'e:f,ip ~ -~ . ~ 
QI) schedule. ~ ; 

COVIl>-19 SCRE~iNG Qli$.ltON$; . . 
Has~~ exposµre ~ ~~rmed .or~ COVltH9 case?NQ· 
• ._ pa,tje,r¢ l'm!tved a positive COVJQ-19 test In •the past'14 days? No ; 
Inttie..-.1◄~ .... ha$n:atu:.nt'vlsfted • • N 'thUi- "-1~suchasi'etail _~ Mr'Dft#sfores . re. ~ra· nis bk r1<s .. ·· ~ . . _, .. , ..,.__ . . .any"'....,.,..~ r-"'."'··~•-S.•--•., ~ ... r Plt. .. · Pi' , 
pac:e ¢. ~ip, gas~,. ~/pfia of work, or umd_pul;,llc.~~ Yea 

Ufl1 

iNore. l.sJlef:ng .. n IDdav·fQr Bl.001).iN STOOJ- It i)egan. ◄ days.ago~ No a~Pt has. been m • .t;o tteatsymptom.s. 
'There iire no ~ ;symptoms. t>eoies.fe.ver~. v/d or nau~. No'PMH, bleedfng or. GI dtsotde .• noFMH. •• .am;. . . 
CONSlllUTIONAL: Negative for fatigue, fever and weight ~-
EYES: Negative for eye dram., anc1 eytnedne5$. . .: _ . . . .. 
f/N/f: Negattve·ror ~r pain, nasal~, i'hi~~and SQre ~ NQ ~ -NQ pl~ 
~IoVASOJ.~: -~ forCY:i'nol'Jt spe11$:and ~; l 

~IAA'JQRY: ~ -t'(,r miAY1l and ~ bte'athJng. . 
GAS'JR~ PQ5ftNe fOi.bfOo.d In stool. Negative. for abdQmlnat pah'i diarltiea ano~ Of.'vontitmg~ 
GCM1ffl:'RINARY: N • • • ttve for ~.nu uiinatt and ~Uria. • ' ~ ..,. .... Y.V .. .. . ega .. , .. ~, ng_ VT'" . 

MUSOJLOSKEtETAL: Negative (Qr Hmb or JQint J)i;i1VJQIJ\t swelllngf -~ gait abllorma~ 
INTEGUMENfAllY: ~ :for~ WDU~ ~rid ~~ : .. 
"1;1JRotoor®,. ~ 1or-~~ .mentat $ta1lJS and ,1oss or~ 
HEMATOLOGtC/LY.MPHAnc: -Nesiattve. for excessive bru!Slng and.~. 
eNl)()(]UNE:, N~e for t,olydlpstt and polvtiria. • • • . 
AUERGlC/IMMUNOLOGIC: Negative for seasonal/perennial allergies and urtJcarta. 

r 

ha.t:ttdlQd ffiltCQ .l. f@mllv:l:llftary t Sadat Histo(y; 

Last RevieW~ on.S/i4i2022' 05:li PM by REGMl; GUNJA 
.MHdkii Hlm>m • 
Birth ~:- • 
Patient born atterin, rio ~tioos .. 

Medical Conditions i>fesent: 
NQ prevtQus or ongoing ~1 #la9noses. 

~talc:QOdltiOns pre$ent; 
No developmental coilditlori(s) present.. 

COVID-t9Hlstory: Never had .COvto-,19 ~D no l1nmuntzatioo. 

$Yi9fffllitlstoM 
'No~ $Urgerfe$ 

i 
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..-., )5 ·p llll.;iFM?llltll•P1111111Ja 

--~Visit • 
Visit Date: Tue, May 24, 2022 05:28 pm . . 
Provider: Goytia, Raquel, N.P. (Supervfsor: Tr~, Ch_eryJ, MD; Ass1$t;an_t: REGMJ, GUNJ.A, MA) 
~on: Urgem Que for Ktds~r Park • 1 

• 

fledroilically signed by Raquel G<)ytla, N.P. on 05/25/2022 04:00:20 P~ 
Printed :on 05/25/'i0'22 at 8_:23 pm. • 

Famtty titsto,y~ 

No previously diagnosed or·ongc>fn~ medical problems associated with parents or sibiinQs. 

~ --lt~$.Jlj 

lives wlth: bio19gteal parent($} 
Ctf ently In ~...A .c------•. • .. o-: . . . ~QI.le i,!l,,ll'NI 

Atlergfes; 
Last RevieW~ on 5/24/2022 OS:3l PM by REGMI~ GUNJA 
NQ KnoWn Allergies. • • 

Current HedkiaUom: 
.41.~: R,ev~ cm S/24/20'i2 -05:31 PM by REGMI;. GUNJA-
rne~tonin • 

Objective: 

Vtalf, 
O,,:mnt;· ~/24/20:~ .S:30:.W PM 
yJt:23:~ kg.(2$.400/o)T: 98 F; BP: .106/70 mm Hg; P: 9l bpm~ R: ;22 bpm02 Sm 98 °1o 

CONSrITUnONAL: -\tltaf ,IQn.~ rev{ewed; The patlE!nt is weil devei¢ped, well nourlshed1 to no a • parent distress, 
H~: n.onnoce~ttc; atraumatic • 

20f4 

~: lidS ~nd·conjt,tncthta are_~~, P.ERRJA, -and.exttaQcutar mqvemern;s Intact; 
tNt/i-touri:I.: no!inal external audttJ:Ky :canals and lYmi>antc memora~;. Nose: -normal nasal . • 
aiscliai:ge ·Oropttar.ynx: .efylheinatoils fiosterior pharynx; normal :palate; :No. postertor pJ\aryn . 
NECK: Neck is supple with tu11· ~ of motion; i . 
RESPiltATORY: ~I ~l~tx)ry ~ a_nd pattern "'®, ~ ~~; I\Qlmal breatn ~unds -.v, ' "° ~1e$i fho.o.chJ,, 
~ornibs; • 
CARPIC)VASqJ&.,.\R: ~I PMI placement; ,,a thriirs, ~ves, or !Jft:$; ~orrnal rate and rhythm wfthout murmtii:$; 
~rmafS.t and S2 heart so1.1ncfs .w~ no S3, $4, n,.ibs, or.dicks;; bnskeaplllaty refill; • 
GASJROJ~NAL: normal :bowel sounds; no masses or teiide~; no :organomegaty r. •• 
·masses; no hemciffholds • : 
SKIN: No uketatlons, lesic>ns or rashes ar.e noted. Skin is generally appropriately warm .~F\4. c:f!Y- : 
.LYMPHA11C: left an-1or ~fVlcal -~ ( ~n~flder:, mobi~ ); ,no sup~lar, sobc)(:cl :: . , --urk:ulat or 
other nodes· ' • .. . - . ·. ,.- , .. ..r .. . . . 
N~UROLOGIC~ c1ppropriate neorQloglc ~ and coordination for age 

• tr§! Jt.eiWlts; 

r 
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I -JI_ •• ,.~ 21:il I d 
• ~Qu~Vlslt._ . . . 

Vlsft.O.te; Tue,~ 24; 20~·05!~ pm l 
Pnwlder: Goytla, RaqueJ, N.P. (SUpeMSOr: Trexler, Cheryl, MO; Assistant: REGMI, GUNJA, MA) 
Location: Utgent care for KJds-cedar Park 1 

Sedronlcally signed by Raquel Goytla, N.P. on ()~/25/2022 04~()Q:2O' Pf'1 
Printed on OS/,S/20'22 at 8:23 pm. 

i.AB.QRAT~v RESVt,:r.s: 
R-.~ct Qo_up·A Strep: POSITIVE 

lhpq!du'·. : 
JJ. •• -Streptn0Xx:al j)haryogjtis 
Patient's visit was a>~ aUhe-Cedar Park dlrik:. 
~D·l'E$T$~~:~pldstrep •••• • 

,a....,.__._ nt: 
~~ne _. • 

.102.0 -c~•- h • itls· .. .... ~paryng 
1(92.1 Mele118 • 

l 

. . . . I' . . . . i 

~~=-~oeo: ~ -~nd ~rof$., in-~,~ Q~ 6 m.qnth$·o 
~ tf.ndmgs s~ ~ Infection. • . .' . ..: . 

3of4 

~ R.e.~OATION.s given tndude: Ftnlsh ct)mplete course of antiblotics-"5 pre$crtbed •. ff . : • tit is 
L1nC011ifortable<lue ti>feffi', reel~ it by gtv~ e~ and/Qr. lbuprQfen (for patients·6 . and ofdet). Begfli 
us1ng a ntw'toothbrush 2 to 3 days after firstantrblotk: dose; ! • . ; 
EMERGeNCY'PLAN: Activate emergency servtces·.or report tx> emergency d.es,artment for altered • tat status, a,ncem 
(ot._·~J .. rgy,~iratory c;tl~; Qr lnten~ palrt \h~t dpe$ rlat fm.Pl')Ve des,~ .use . f ~nol and/9r·MQtrfn 
FO.U.Ow-uP: Advtsed ~ fe).11(,W up if there is no improvementin 2,.3 ~y(~). • 

p · ···1pt1ons; t 
~~l ainoxidlHn 400 mQ/S, IJ!L oral_ Suspension for Ream$t,iMJ<>n [give 12.5 ml by mouth ft8 ct day x 10 days], ., 

1~ (one htt~ and th.ltty) mfflilJters, RefiUs: o .CM.n>) l i 
om~ .. 

New. patient <>Ut:patlent visit. Moderate MDM and/or·4S-59 into~ (Itttto.use} 
GR>Lip. A:~ c:tetedion by Imrnuno&ssay With direct optkat_obselvation (Jn.·nuu.:,=• 

--~~gtveJl~ Overati chlJd~ls wd.l a~, ~. -~ ~ No spedmen ~v lcibleattime otViSitto cbeck ....._ ___ ,.,.. Oiscu . . - . . .... ~ . (Of . . • kit . . . . 
: . . fqr '~"''~-- . •. ~ -~plan.with -~ costfo.r-sb:>ol ai.i.~, home. . . • :g_tveo, ~ ·w 
obtain~--· . .. ~ .c;onttnue:_._.."""'~ IYW''fD ' ~- utions iYen .vefba : ·u~'"'-and •• -~•-• .. $ytll,._,.,~ . .. . .........,._ . . .. . . .n:•·w , . preQI _ . . g _ -. , . . •........-,-,'» 
agrees ·wm. p1an ar care. • • • 

Dlagt'losls and Procedure Summary: 

edliJlnt PlacmotiJS; 
~?.Cl -~ p11a,yngitis 

Qfllers; i ' 

9920'1 .New'patlerit outpatient .visit, Moderate MOM and/br 45-$9 mtnutes (Jn-House): : • 
87880 .Group A~ det.e(tfoll by Immunoassay With~ir«t bptk:al obsetvation (In--_·HOU!~> 

I 
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.. .,, 

~ "I i[■D-· ~ ~Q, ~ 
~ViJlt . . 
Ylalt~ Tue, May 24, 2022 os:is pm , 
~~Raquel,. N.P. (SUperilsor: Ttexler, Chetyl, MD; ~nt.REGMt ®~~ MA} 
l.oQUort: Urgent Ori ·ror Kids-Cedar ~rt 

~k'ally $1gf1ed b'( Raq\:!el ~; N.P. ·on OS/2S~Q22 0:4:Q0:20 Pt'1 
Piinied on 0'5/2S/20ti. ~ 8:2,3 Pf.Tl-' ' 

K92.1 Melena 

.iU)DENDUMS: 

Acklendum: .05/25~:06:J6 PM:-(ioytiaj ~ 

Per~~ RTC fQ.t' regal .streP. ~ ~: +PositNe for~- !nfection, ~titiue • iteatmerit plan 
• p,evic)t.$IY dlscii$$«1, • • 
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~~ Calendar Messages Journal Expenses Calls Info Bank e 
Create message 

lnbox 

Action Items 

Notifications 

Sent 

Drafts 

Archived 

All Messages 

< 1501 -1549 • 
--- ' J ____ ,,J _ .. ,_ 

Test 
Got 1t! 

Tyce Bonjorno 

to: Tara Jennings 
Re: Kid s 

--- -1- Report 

Ap r 02,2020 

• 
~ Tara Jennings 

to : Tyce Bonjorno 
Kids 

Apr 02,2020 No Message Selected 

I'm just seeing if you get this 

Tyce Bonjorno 

to: Tara Jennings 
Test 
Test 

Apr 01, 2020 

Terms & Conditions Privacy Policy About Help Contact 

Copyright © 2000 2025 OurFamilyWizard.com@ Patented and Patents Pending 

§ 
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<e 
+1 (512) 550-5306 

Hi mr bonjorno this is Teri 
Barnes with CPS. If you 
could give me a call at your 
earliest convenience I'd 
greatly appreciate it 

Yes. Give me 5 mins. Thank 
you Tyce 

Starry counseling 
512-388-8290 

Located in Round rock but 
doing virtual right now 

Thank you. Tyce 

+ 
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<o 
+1 (512) 550-5306 

Nov 29, 2020 at 8:45 AM 

· I~ was wanted to-let -you 
: kno·w thafas -a father who is 

very concerned about my 
children I will not be 
returning them to Kansas. I­
would definitely be putting 

_ them in harms way, 
- physically and mentally. If I 

return them I am 
jeopardizing their safety. I 
am taking the appropriate 
actions as a father to 
protect my children. Please 
reach out at any time Teri. 
Thank you Tyce 

Jul 6, 2021 at 10:54AM 

Hi Tyce it's Teri I about to 
head your way roughly 30 
minutes or so 

Can you give me one hour. I 

+ J1 s ge 
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6:26 

+1 (512) 550-5306 

an you give me one . our. 
an, not at the house yet. I 
had to leave to a customers 
house real quick 

Yes no problem 

+ 

Thank you 

Jul 7, 2021 at 8:15AM 

Good morning, I spoke with 
my attorney yesterday and 
advised her that you had 
been out to speak with the 

. children one on one as well 

. as myself and Melissa. She. 
is wanting to know if we will 
receive a report of your 
findings as well as what will 
happen and how soon. 

Thank you Tyce 

Jul 12, 2021 at 7:57 AM 

Teri Good morning, you had 

ssagc 
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<o 
+1 (512) 550-5306 

.. Teri -Good mo"rning, you had· 
visited my children· last 
week at 904 Lantana Ln., . 

. Leander, TX .. My name is 
Tyce Bonjorno. Can I get 

, access to your report that 
• you made and how do I go 
. about doing that? Thank 

you Tyce 

As soon as I close today 
and you receive your letter 
you can request open 
records 

Thank you 

Jul 12, 2021 at 10:09 AM 

No prob also what's your 
wife/ or girlfriends name 
that I met? I need to 
document the things the 
girls reported to her 

Her name is Melissa 

+ 
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6:26 

<o OJ 

+1 (512) 550-5306 

Thank you 

You're welcome thank you 

Jul 12, 2021 at 2:15PM 

, "'i~;~,1-~,,/:7 '·i~,.~t.• t~~--~;~~-. -~,tlll";;~,-;,~.;I .,__,, •~• ~)...-,,_ 

Teri. :ThLere,~is'~mor.e~ Jiii,· Q • • • "I; 

total,ly, sic_k:to :my,stomac:n/ I ._, 
-. , , ,1 ,..~ ...• • . _ .,-, •. _ I _ , • __ , . ,. .• 

1
••.. ·, •

1 

am at:work"now~· Melissa- I 
• .,·, - • '. - • I 

called~·me jusf now·· and told- • 
methat Hendrixtold; ·._ • . ; -. - ~ -. 

Melissa that-when·:HendriX: 
a~d h·er sister indi .take -a- • 

',bath, their mom puts their 
. ~~~~_gs tog_ether·and _puts 

otheinhead underwater and 
-:~~ ~,~1 ;: . . . •• 

~~JQ~~)to drowned them. 
~)~e:~y~single day· there is so 
' much_more ~ince you have 
left last -week. I-don't know 
. . .. 

what to do af this point 
since we have to bring them 
back at the end of the 
month. My attorney is 
trying to file a motion as 

+ , essage 
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<e 
+1 (512) 550-5306 

,--·tryih~fto·: fi1e if motiqii as ·· - -
,: qu~c~ly·. as possible~ -W~ . 
:, h~fve the children set up for 

th~rapy tomorrow, 
_ hopefully--we can gather a_ll 
the reports, because we wiU 
need that. · Now this is 
getting completely out of 
hand, and my children have 

. been crying out for over a 
._ year. I just don't know what 

to do at this point. My two 
older girls have said so 
much more 

One of the girls told me 
about their mother trying to 
drown them. She did not 
say everyday but she did 
say it 

+ 

Thank you very much. This 
is just news to me today. 
I'm just sick 

Jul 13, 2021 at 8:52AM 
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<o 
+1 (512) 550-5306 

Jul 13, 2021 at a: 52 AM 

Good morning do you by 
chance know the name of 
the person working the 
case in Kansas? 

Yes-ner.name is Lanie 
.• Trendel. She visited _my 
• children's school and talked 
• with my children Wayback 
in .January. My children 
opened up to her about the 

· abuse. Lanie done nothing 
and turned it over to Saint 
Francis ministries. That day 
that Lanie had talk to my 
children at school, that 
same day mom found out 

. the children talk to Lanie at 
school, and mom abused 
the girls. My girls have 
given us avid details. 

Do you have a contact for 
her? 

+ age 
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<o 
+1 (512) 550-5306 

All I have is her email. Give 
mea sec 

• d I ks.gov 

Thank you 

+ 

You're welcome 

Jul 13, 2021 at 11:39AM 

. ~e have my children going 
~ to there first therapy-today. 

The therapist had called 
just now and needs Moms 
consent because it is 

• considered "Medical". The 
Orders from the courts only 

, state "Joint Custody". 

Orders say nothing about 
"medical" 

Is there something we can 
do with the state of Texas 
to have therap done for 

'> age 
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(8 

+ 

Ol 

+1 (512) 550-5306 

• ·to . a_'!Eft erapy· one: or· -
• the _childreh~ -i really really 
_:, fe-el -it's necessary · 

Jul 15, 2021 at 8:32 AM 

_,, ·-/} ... _ ---'i;w ·~. ., . ' - '#,·-1T•~-- - ;,;:;-· '•-...i • ,,r-•-_ •,-
·•·.1J~~""'.':1•:··=· ~ ... -~;--~-·-· •1~· - --~l•_t ___ ·:.·", - --._--•""/, .• !~- ,U::~ 

we ·.took·the children tclthe· •• 
~-.:•.: ••. r-• , J'~J•. ,_ .. -..... • ...... _. ·_----- • • • - ..... - __ • •• _, .... - - l 
d~Qtisf. yesterda·y;,-a1Jd}l-~a m-- ·'.i 

,. '• ....:. '. _.,.~ .. _. • • ... l I I 

rmakJng:at(apppin~m~ntfqr - · ·, 
~111d(and.Dpmini~tohaye 
~·teeth.done-. lnd1 has ·to 0 be 
~f:do'ne ·2 different times ,.-
~~ because-of the· care she is 
ii - : ' ·• _ ' I " I • • 

··.)1_eeding. They ·have to now 
:i remove afleast' 4·-teeth·that 
,,are no longer save able. 

~ And seal and. cap other 
'- ones. Dentist did state that 
,- one tooth is so .broken can't 
I 

be saved and that one on 
other side root is almost 

• gone. Dominic will need 
-teeth fixed as well. Both 
children will need to be 
under sedation to do these 
procedures. I just wanted to 
give you a heads up. Thank 

Case 5:24-cv-04111-HLT-BGS     Document 26-1     Filed 04/10/25     Page 43 of 57



+ 

... ?~ 

+1 (512) 550-5306 

. 'give you -cf heads--u.p: Thank • 
• you 

-,. , I ~ __ • ~ ' - - • _ - - • • 1 L ~ - • ~ 

Jul 16, 2021 at 12:20 PM 

. • . - . . • • • '~""· 

ASblif."lf Otj;:b.othe1iingiyo1.f,~1I ·;.~\~,, • 
.:.".l>,.•'l• J't-J Y), ~c,,••:-••· ~-.~:.,,, ... :_c-o· • • ,- .. ,.,,. I _ , -• ' . lf". ~•• .. ·•. '-!., ,.._--W. • • -· '"l,.,f.,,.li- __ "'f'I'--•--- - ... -~, • ,.. 1,,o •" 

1,,.did ·reach,1outto~Lamief ·, .. , ~- :~;, 
-~ ... (...,..,,,. ---i• >-1.j_ ., . .,. ···~•·-".11·. _, '"-~-:..-.:.._ ... --~- ...,,,,,_;,,· ;·. -. I• 
IL-' • ,._. ,.- •. ..i -- • -... . • •• r-... -- ... __.T".'!"'"_.,~,-"" .... lLr',.:-' - - ' ~ 

t 111.~~-~Jf:J~~~rQ1tt9.r~fi~f ( >'.~. : .. : ... ,. _.'·i·~ 
/ ch1ldre1:rand ~,me~1cat•1ssue.s-~ 
. as:,well as_';mom not • . 

_ .. :..,, " __:, .... _. I ·' --~·-,•·· ~-- ~.'.. '. --_ t-·'_ .-,._· • . ., 

:· agreeing to t_her~pi~t yisjts ', 
: aod .th·e, cfrowni°hg. Lanie·. 
r 

:: t<>ldme th~y_' hav_e_a·n op_en 
:. case for_ medical-negl~ct . 

but.nothin_g .withabl.i"S~. She ­
•. did state she had received 
- your note.s. She stated to• 

fil~ another complaint for 
. abuse and medical. I did so. 

I arh just so.confused about 
everything. My daughter 
opened upto you, and they 
don't find abuse. I am going 
to see how I can get a copy 
of your report ASAP. I can't 
wait up to 90 days as the 
website states. 
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(0 Ol 

+1 (512) 550-5306 

• .website ·states. • • • • • , • • • 
. '' ' ' , . . ~ '. . - ~ ---: ' . ' - -

Jul 16, 2021 at 3 :22 PM 

Yeah I wrote exactly what 
the children said 

Ok 

+ 

My attorney is going to be 
contacting you 

Jul 26, 2021 at 4:13 PM 

I have a question, did the 
dentist here in Leander 
contact CPS about the 
children's teeth 

Jul 27, 2021 at 8:59 AM 

Good morning, 
I received a small notice in 

the mail today stating that 
the investigation is closed 
and no other agency were . . 

sage 
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<e 

+ 

+1 (512) 550-5306 

~- ~ria--ncf 9the_r' ~age6cy ~~l~~ ., ••• -~ 
: going to. be._ invoJyed'?",ls that· • 
_,. me_a.ning ·no other texas • • 
•· agency -in Texas? As far as_ 

your findings it doe_s not 
: state anything-at all, can 
. you_ tell me what you found 

out? I kn.ow there is medical 
neglect, and I strongly 
believe my children with the 
abuse. 
Thank you, 
Tyce 

Jun 6, 2022 at 11:20 AM 

t Terri-good. afternoon, ·1 don't 
~" know if you remember 
r myself, ·my nam~ is Tyce · 
~- Bonjorn_o. I :have the 

children-with me for their 
summer parenting time. I 
hav~ al~eady had-to take 
the children to urgent care 
because they have had 
blood in their poop. They've 
been on amoxicillin for 10 

1 essage 
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<e OJ 

+1 (512) 550-5306 

---been on--amoxicillin for·10 
" . ' • . . . 

• days_ and it~as _not 'hel_ped 
- and they still ·have ·blood/ 

parasites/worms. Also 
again_ I have to take them 
back to the dentist, 
because all three children 
have more cavities/rotten 
teeth. Let me know what I 
can do, because DCF in 
Kansas is worthless for the 
best interest of the 
children. Thank you Tyce 

Jun 7, 2022 at 9:00 AM 

You need to speak to an 
attorney, sorry 

Mar 7, 2023 at 5:00 PM 

+ sage 
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<o 

No 

OJ 

+1 (512) 550-5306 

-Audra -Asher? :1 just:want-to 
make-sure that she was in 
contact ·with you. 

·1 don't need to know what 
was said, just if Audra had 
contacted you or not 

Text Message • SMS 
Aug 13, 2023 at 10:41 AM 

- Terri please please help me 
please~ Just a yes~ or a no 
please. Did a Kansas 
investigator Audra Asher 

: contact you. Please please. 
Just a yes, or a no. 

Sent as Text Message 

iMessage 
Aug 14, 2023 at 7:36 AM 

Nobody has contacted me 
from Kansas. I don't work 
weekends or monitor this 

+ 
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<e 

No 

+1 (512) 550-5306 

Text Message • SMS 
Aug 13, 2023 at 10:41 AM 

OJ 

TerrLple·ase please help-me 
: please. Just.a -yes, or a no 
' p-lease. Did a Kansas-
. investigator Audra Asher 
•. contact yo·u. Please please. 
• Just a yes, or a no. 

Sent as Text Message 

iMessage 
Aug 14, 2023 at 7:36 AM 

Nobody has contacted me 
from Kansas. I don't work 
weekends or monitor this 
phone. It's a work phone so 
wasn't ignoring you. 

. 

Thank you, Terri. 

Read 

No.problem 

+ 
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_. ryce Boniomo 
! l.lSI.NOPRIL 
! 10 MG TABLEJ. 

MFR: LUPIN PHARMACEU 
• • Take 1 tablet by maul 

every day 
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-
pharmacy 

500 No. Bagdad Rd. #4599 
--~- Leander.TX 78641 cvs.com 

TEL: 512-259-0130 
RX: 1506379 
QTY: 90 
REFILL: 1 b 3/3/26 
PRSCBR: o. Freeland 
DAiE FILLED: 3/3/25 
O\SCARD AFTER: 3/3126 
RPH: Pavel Serdyuk 
SUBSTITUTED FOR: 
Prinlvll, zestril ----
This is a P\NK. 
~OUND-shaped TABLET 
imprinted with LUP\N on 
the front and 1 O on the 
back. 
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Exhibit F 

I· 
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Erin Werth 
RE: 2018-DM-000019 

To: Handymanlawns.com 

Hi Tyce, 
There is not a Motion or a Withdrawal filed for Audra Asher. 

Erin 

From: HandY.manlawns.com . <tY.ceanthonY.@me.com> 
Sent: Monday, March 3, 2025 8:47 PM 

March 4, 2025 at 9.29 AM 

To: Erin Werth <Erin.Werth@kscourts.goV> mailto:tyceanthony@me.com 

Subject: 2018-DM-000019 

This emall originated from outside the organization. Do not click links or open 
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content Is safe. 
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KENNEDY BERKLEY, P.A. 
~Chestnut Building~ 
1200 Main, Suite 202 
Hays, Kansas 67601 
T: (785) 825-467 4 
F: (785) 825-5936 

ELECTRONICALLY FILED 
2023 Sep 08 AM 11 :10 

CLERK OF THE RUSH COUNTY DISTRICT COURT 
CASE NUMBER: 2018-DM-000019 

Pl1 COMPLIANT 

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF RUSH COUNTY, KANSAS 

TYCE BONJORNO, Individually and as 
Father and Next Friend of Dominic A. 
Bonjorno, lndi L. Bonjorno, and 
Hendrix A. Bonjorno 

Petitioner 

vs. 

TARA LYNN JENNINGS 
Respondent 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) ________________ ) 

Case No. 2018-DM-000019 

PETITIONER'S OBJECTION TO CUSTODY INVESTIGATOR'S 
RECOMMENDATIONS AND REQUEST FOR TRIAL SETTING 

Comes now Petitioner, Tyce Bonjorno, by and through his attorney, Blake A. 

Bittel of Kennedy Berkley, P.A., and makes the following requests and objections: 

1. This matter was set for trial on August 24 and 25, 2022 upon Petitioner's 

Motion to Modify Residential Custody. Prior to that trial, the parties and counsel agreed 

to appoint a custody investigator to aid in resolving custody and parenting time issues 

between the parties. 

2. As a result, the Court stayed the trial until such time as the custody 

investigator could submit her report to the Court. Audra Asher was appointed as the 

custody investigator. On August 26, the Order directing the custody investigation was 

filed, giving Ms. Asher authority and powers needed to conduct a full investigation. 

3. The recommendations of the custody investigator were filed on August 2, 

2023. Both parties have had an opportunity to review those recommendations and the 

attorneys for both parties have consulted regarding the recommendations. 
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4. Petitioner objects to the recommendations for multiple reasons which will 

be presented to the Court at the time of trial. The parties cannot, at this time, come to 

any agreement. Per the Court's Order of September 7, 2022, Petitioner is requesting that 

the Court also hear the following pending motions at the same time: 

a) December 21, 2022 - Motion for Sanctions Against Respondent; 
b) December 21, 2022 - Petitioner's Contempt Motion to Appear and 

Show Cause; 

WHEREFORE, for the reasons set forth above, the Petitioner respectfully 

requests that the Court set the matter for trial and hearing on the above-referenced 

Motions, and for such other and further relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

Isl Blake A. Bittel #23391 
KENNEDY BERKLEY, P.A. 
~Chestnut Building~ 
1200 Main, Suite 202 
Hays, Kansas 67601 
T: (785) 825-467 4 
F: (785) 825-5936 
E: bbittel@kenberk.com 
Attorney for Petitioner 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that on September 8, 2023, the foregoing 
Petitioner's Objection to Custody Investigator's Recommendations and Request for Trial 
Setting was electronically filed with the Court using the CM/ECF System, which sent 
notification to all parties of interest participating in the eFlex efiling system, and was 
forwarded via U.S. Mail first class, postage prepaid and properly addressed to the parties' 
and/or counsel's addresses show below who do not receive notice electronically via 
eFlex: 

Isl Blake A. Bittel 
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Clerk of the Court  


United States District Court  


District of Kansas  


RE: Tyce A. Bonjorno v. Audra Asher  


Case No. 5:24-cv-04111-HLT-BGS


Dear Clerk,


Please find enclosed the following documents for filing:


1. Plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint 


2. Notice of Filing First Amended Complaint  


3. Notice of Mootness of Defendant’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings  


4. Plaintiff’s Motion to Strike Defendant’s Motion to Stay Discovery  


5. Plaintiff’s Response in Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to Stay Discovery


Please file these in the above-captioned matter and return a file-stamped copy to me, if possible.


I certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was placed in the U.S. Mail, Certified, on 

April 12, 2025 and Mailed to:


Gaye B. Tibbets  


HITE, FANNING & HONEYMAN L.L.P.  


100 N. Broadway, Suite 950  


Wichita, KS 67202  


Respectfully,  


/s/ Tyce A. Bonjorno  


Tyce A. Bonjorno  


Pro Se Plaintiff  


605 W. South St., Ste. 271  


Leander, TX 78641
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